
 

 

1701 East Front Street 

Traverse City, MI    49686 

(231) 995-1010  

trustees@nmc.edu 

 

 

 

 

 

 Board of Trustees 
www.nmc.edu/trustees 

 

 

 
 

Meeting Agenda 
Monday, October 25, 2021 

at Hagerty Center, Room C, 715 East Front St 

 

5:30 p.m.  Regular Meeting  

 

I. GENERAL BUSINESS 

A. Call to Order 

B. Roll Call 

C. Pledge of Allegiance 

D. Review of Agenda and Approval of Additions, Deletions, or Rearrangements 

 

II. SPECIAL REPORTS AND PRESENTATIONS  

E. Audit Presentation—Katie Thornton and Jeff Pohler, Plante & Moran, PLLC 

F. Program Focus—Commitment Scholars—Kevin D’Alessandro, Enrollment Services 

G. Faculty Report—Experiential Learning Institute—Brandon Everest, Social Sciences 

Instructor, and Kristy McDonald, Business Instructor  

H. Enrollment Report—Todd Neibauer, Vice President for Student Services and 

Technologies 

I. Scholarship and Financial Aid Report—Linda Berlin, Director of Financial Aid 

J. Financial Report—Troy Kierczynski, Vice President of Finance and Administration 

K. PRMC Report—Diana Fairbanks, Associate Vice President of Public Relations, 

Marketing, and Communications 

L. Audit Committee Report—Kennard Weaver, Committee Chair 

M. Building and Site Committee Report—Rachel Johnson, Committee Chair 

N. ACCT Leadership Congress—Attending Trustees  

O. Strategic Planning Report—Vicki Cook, Special Assistant to the President, and Stephen 

Siciliano, Vice President for Educational Services  

 

III. EXECUTIVE REPORTS (Provided to the Board in their materials packet, which can be 

accessed on the nmc.edu Board of Trustees website.) 

P. Foundation Report—Rebecca Teahen, Associate Vice President for Resource 

Development and Executive Director of Foundation 

 

IV. PUBLIC INPUT 

  

Northwestern Michigan College provides lifelong learning 

opportunities to our communities. 

1



1701 East Front Street 

Traverse City, MI    49686 

(231) 995-1010  
trustees@nmc.edu 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Board of Trustees  
http://www.nmc.edu/trustees/ 

 October 25, 2021 Meeting Agenda 

 Page 2 

 

 

 

Posted Friday, October 22, 2021, 12:00 p.m. 

V. UPDATES 

Q. President’s Update—President Nick Nissley 

R. Board Chair Update—Chris Bott, Chair 

 

VI. DISCUSSION ITEMS 

S. January 2022 Board Retreat 

 

VII. CONSENT ITEMS (Pursuant to Policy A-105.00 Consent Agenda Items) 

These items will be adopted as a group without specific discussion.  When approving the 

meeting agenda, any Board member may request that a consent agenda item be moved to the 

regular agenda for discussion or questions. 

Recommend that the following items be approved: 

T. Minutes of the September 27, 2021 regular meeting 

 

VIII. ACTION ITEMS 

U. Acceptance of NMC Audit (Pursuant to Policy A-106.00 Finance) 

Recommend acceptance of the financial audit of Northwestern Michigan College for the 

fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, as presented. 

V. FY23 Five Year Capital Outlay Plan (Pursuant to Policy A-106.00 Finance) 

Recommend approval of the FY 2023 Five-Year Capital Outlay Plan for submission to 

the Michigan Office of the State Budget as presented. 

W. Copier/Printer Replacement (Pursuant to Policy A-106.00 Finance) 

Recommend authorization for administration to enter into a contract with Applied 

Imaging for the replacement of 11 copier/printer systems at a cost of $73,543. 

X. Closed Session (Pursuant to B-102.00 Monitoring Presidential Performance)  

Recommend that the Board adjourn the open session and consider in closed session 

(pursuant to Subsection 8(a) of the Open Meetings Act, MCL 15.268) the annual 

performance evaluation of the president, per his requests for a closed session. (Roll Call 

Vote)  

Y. Reconvene Regular Session (Pursuant to A-106.00 Other) 

Recommend the closed session adjourn and the open session of the regular meeting be 

reconvened. (Roll Call Vote) 

Z. Presidential Performance Evaluation (Pursuant to Policy A-106.00 Human Resources) 

Recommend the acceptance of the October 2021 Presidential Performance Evaluation. 

 

IX. REVIEW OF FOLLOW-UP REQUESTS 

Confirm requests made by the Board that require administrative follow-up for information to be 

provided to the Board at a later date. 

2



1701 East Front Street 

Traverse City, MI    49686 

(231) 995-1010  
trustees@nmc.edu 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Board of Trustees  
http://www.nmc.edu/trustees/ 

 October 25, 2021 Meeting Agenda 

 Page 3 

 

 

 

Posted Friday, October 22, 2021, 12:00 p.m. 

 

X. ADJOURNMENT 

 
Upcoming Board Meeting Dates:  
All board meetings are open to the public. 

November 22, 2021 

December 20, 2021 

January 24, 2022 

February 28, 2022 

March 21, 2022 

April 25, 2022 

May 23, 2022 

June 27, 2022 

August 23, 2021 

September 27, 2021 

October 25, 2021 

November 22, 2021 

December 20, 2021 

January 24, 2022 

February 28, 2022 

3



4



5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



{Northwestern Michigan College}
Board of Trustees
End of Audit Presentation

October 25, 2021

70



Northwestern Michigan College
Presentation to Board of Trustees

• Summary of Presentation to Board of Trustees:
 Audited Financial Statements and Schedule of Expenditures of Federal 

Awards
 Audits required for accreditation by the Higher Learning Commission 

and to receive federal grants and aid for students
 Clean, unmodified opinion – highest level of assurance 
 No significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in internal controls 

were identified in the financial statement audit
 Federal awards tested this year – Coronavirus Relief Fund (CRF) and 

Higher Education Emergency Relief Fund (HEERF) funding
 Testing is substantially completed
 Issuance of single audit report to follow reviews

2

71



Northwestern Michigan College
Presentation to Board of Trustees

• Other Required Communications
 Our Responsibility Under Generally Accepted Auditing Standards
 Qualitative Aspects of Accounting

 Significant Estimates
 Allowance for uncollectible accounts
 Proportionate share of the Michigan Public School 

Employees Retirement System (MPSERS) net pension 
and net OPEB liabilities

 No material adjustments required
 Implemented Government Auditing Standards Board – GASB 

Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities – minimal impact
 Upcoming Accounting Standard – GASB Statement No. 87, Leases

3

72



4

Revenues were $64.6, $69.8, and $59.4 million for 2019, 2020, and 2021, respectively.

Northwestern Michigan College
Revenues (all funds)

20.7

18.3 17.5

12.1 11.4
12.4

13.6 14.1

11.6

6.9
8.2

11.4

4.5 3.9
2.9

1.1 0.6 -0.3

3.6
4.6 4.3

2.1 1.5
0.50

7.2

-0.9

-5

0

5

10

15

20

25

2019 2020 2021

M
ill

io
ns

Year

Tuition and Fees State Appropriations Property Taxes

Grants Auxiliary Investment Income

Support from Foundation All Other Capital Appropriations

73



Northwestern Michigan College
Expenditures (all funds)

5

Expenditures were $62.3, $61.6, and $58.4 million for 2019, 2020, and 2021, respectively.

18.5 17.8 17.5

3 2.5
1.5

7.8 7.7 7.2

11.1
12.4 11.8

7.5 6.9 6.3
5.4 5.2 4.94.6 4.4 4.7

3.5 3.8 3.7

0.9 0.9 0.8

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

2019 2020 2021

M
ill

io
ns

Year

Instruction Public Services Instructional Support

Student Services Institutional Administration Plant Operations

Depreciation Information technology Interest expense

74



Northwestern Michigan College
Assets (All Funds)

6

2021

Assets = $124,191,615
Deferred Outflow of Resources = $15,381,909

Cash and cash 
equivalents

10%

Investments
13%

Receivables
7%

Other Assets
1%

Property and 
equipment

58%

Deferred Outflow
11%

75



Northwestern Michigan College
Liabilities and Net Position (All Funds)

7

2021

Liabilities = $104,244,611
Deferred Inflows of Resources = $13,685,818

Net Position = $21,643,095

Current liabilities
9%

Long term debt 
obligations

19%

Net pension 
liability
41%

Net OPEB liability
6%

Deferred inflows
10%

Net position
15%

76



{Thank you}

We appreciate the opportunity to 
serve Northwestern Michigan 
College.

Katie Thornton, Partner

Jeff Pohler, Manager

77



Commitment Scholarship 
Program

Northwestern Michigan College

The Commitment Scholarship Program
● What is it?

○ Tuition & Fees
■ The Commitment Scholarship covers the costs associated with tuition and fees at NMC.

○ 60 credit hours / 3 years
■ With Commitment, students have 60 credit hours and/or 3 years with which to use the 

Scholarship.

● Who’s eligible?
○ Academic promise and potential

■ High School students who have demonstrated academic promise and potential, and 
have been recommended by their guidance counselor.

○ Financial Need
■ Students who have a demonstrated financial need or hardship that might otherwise 

preclude them from attending college.
○ First-generation student

■ Students who are first in their family to attend and complete college.

78



The Commitment Scholarship Program
● Requirements - High School

○ Graduate high school with at least a 2.50 GPA.
○ Participate in Commitment Program events and activities.
○ Attended a participating high school for all four years.
○ Meet high school attendance guidelines.
○ Model good citizenship and not use alcohol and/or drugs, etc.

● Requirements - NMC
○ Maintain at least a 2.00 GPA.
○ Attend Program meetings held by Coordinator.
○ Participate in Program related events, on- and off-campus.
○ Meet NMC’s Satisfactory Academic Progress.

The Commitment Scholarship Program
● Program Events, i.e.:

○ “Ready or Not?!” series -- Preparing students, and parents/guardians, for the transition from 
high school to college.

■ Your First Steps to NMC! -- Planning for Fall 2022
■ Financial Literacy & the Costs of College
■ I’m First! -- Navigating College
■ A Parent’s 101 Guide -- After High School

○ “Fall Kickoff event” -- Complete your senior-year checklist by reviewing financial aid, 
scholarships, textbook info., how to read your class schedule, walking tour of campus, etc.

79



Program Events

By the Numbers:
● 1993

○ Since 1993, the Commitment Scholarship has given high school students access to 
post-secondary education at NMC.

● 1,500+
○ For nearly 30-years, the Commitment Scholarship has served more than 1,500 students 

throughout northwest Michigan.  

● 18
○ 18 high schools -- from Frankfort to Alba, and from Northport to Manton -- participate in the 

Commitment Scholarship Program.  

80



By the Numbers:
● 250+

○ Currently, there are more than 250 students in the Commitment Program -- which includes 
students in high school and NMC.

● $6,420.00
○ The potential value of the Commitment Scholarship for an in-district student who completes 60 

credit hours and/or two years of coursework at NMC.

● $13,620.00 
○ The potential value of the Commitment Scholarship for an out-of-district student who 

completes 60 credit hours and/or two years of coursework at NMC.

Poignant Reminders:
Dear Kevin,

Thank you so much for everything you do at NMC and for the Program.  The 
Commitment Program has honestly changed my life in such a positive way.  
Without this Scholarship, I don’t think I would’ve been able to attend college.  
Thank you so much for everything you do to make the Program work.  I’m so 
excited to attend NMC next year!

Sincerely,

(Leland HS, 2017)

81



Poignant Reminders:
To Whom This May Concern,

Thank you so much for the Scholarship given to me from NMC.  It makes a huge 
impact in my college life and enables me to be successful and fulfill dreams that in 
the past seemed bleak.  Thank you again and God bless you and your kind heart.

Sincerely,

(Kingsley HS, 2017)

Poignant Reminders:
Dear Kevin,

Thank you for all that you have done for me through high school.  The 
Commitment Scholarship has been a wonderful opportunity for me.  I am so glad 
that you have been helping us all (Commitment Scholars) get to know each other 
and preparing us for what is to come at NMC and the world ahead.  I look forward 
to my time and experiences at NMC.  This opportunity helps me fulfill or at least 
work towards my goal of graduating college/university with minimal or no debt.  
Thank you.

(Leland HS, 2020)

82



Other Success Stories:
● Students who personify the “academic promise and potential” motto:

○ One salutatorian -- Northport HS
○ Two valedictorians -- Alba HS

83



Commitment Scholarship Program

● Commitment Cohort 2021 -- (42):
○ Total number of inductees admitted to NMC: 42
○ Total number of inductees enrolled at NMC: 28

■ 67% of admitted students
■ 5 attending another institution

● 79% of original cohort went on to post-secondary education
■ 2 joined the armed forces
■ 2 moved out-of-state
■ 5 ineligible, no contact, “gap” year, etc.

○ Average contact hours of those enrolled: 11.96
○ Average high school GPA of those enrolled: 3.45

● Commitment Cohort 2020 -- (100):
○ Total number of inductees admitted to NMC: 78
○ Total number of inductees enrolled at NMC

■ Fall 2020: 50
● 64% of admitted students

■ Spring 2021: 38
● 76% retention from fall

■ Summer 2021: 9
● 24% took at least one summer course

■ Fall 2021: 37
● 97% retention from spring semester

○ Average contact hours of those enrolled: 11.68
○ Average GPA of those enrolled: 2.82

● Commitment Cohort 2019 -- (100):
○ Total number of inductees admitted to NMC: 70
○ Total number of inductees enrolled at NMC

■ Fall 2019: 58
● 83% of admitted students

■ Spring 2020: 46
● 79% retention from fall

■ Summer 2020: 14
● 30% took at least one summer course

84



■ Fall 2020: 35
● 76% retention from spring

■ Spring 2021: 23
● 66% retention from fall

■ Summer 2021 11
● 48% took at least one summer course

■ Fall 2021 28
● 120% retention/increase from spring semester

○ Average contact hours of those enrolled: 10.39
○ Average GPA of those enrolled: 2.73

Graduation Info.:

➢ Commitment 2017 cohort:
○ 26 graduates

➢ Commitment 2018 cohort:
○ 19 graduates
○ 4 pending in 2022

➢ Commitment 2019 cohort:
○ 3 graduated
○ 11 pending in 2021/2022

➢ Commitment 2020 cohort:
○ 11 pending graduates in 2022

■ 74 ‘graduates’ / ‘pending graduates’ over the past four-years.
■ In the previous 2-years (2015-2016), only 9 graduates.

85



NMC BOT Faculty Presentation Form

https://docs.google.com/forms/d/1QyoymEZUInTeCMOPAoK0YJNJYb_17y_jIn6_ZNJjbzM/edit#response=ACYDBNjm_dVi-ZHXJCCd4VlWTUAvcwfA… 1/2

Brandon Everest / Kristy McDonald

Social Science Faculty / Business Faculty

NMC ELI: Supporting Experiential Education through COVID and Beyond

Our presentation will provide a *faculty focus* in what the ELI has done to support teachers in planning, 
implementing and expanding experiential learning opportunities (ELOs) in the last 16 months.  The 
presentation will also focus on what is planned for this academic year.

NMC BOT Faculty Presentation Form
This form will be shared with the BOT before the meeting so they know what you will be presenting and a 
little bit about you. Thank you for sharing your time and expertise with the BOT so they continue to be 
informed about the high quality educators and programs we have here at NMC. 

Name *

Your Title *

Presentation Title *

Please provide a description of what you will be presenting to the BOT. *

86



NMC BOT Faculty Presentation Form

https://docs.google.com/forms/d/1QyoymEZUInTeCMOPAoK0YJNJYb_17y_jIn6_ZNJjbzM/edit#response=ACYDBNjm_dVi-ZHXJCCd4VlWTUAvcwfA… 2/2

Brandon Everest has been a NMC social science professor for over 20 years. He has used experiential 
learning techniques in classrooms and professional environments during that time. He is dedicated to 
'whole person education' that seeks deep connections between people and what they are learning in order 
to increase effectiveness and make for lasting impact. Brandon came to teaching after a career in social 
work. He specializes in poverty, social mobility and inequality in his field, and has a background in research 
and community service.  As a teacher, he promotes civic and democratic education, connecting learners to 
their communities and promoting personal and professional development and lifelong learning. 

Kristy McDonald is a business professor at Northwestern Michigan College whose passion is helping 
people discover their full potential for innovation, communication and happiness. She joined the college in 
2006 after teaching at Eastern Michigan University in the communications department for five years. Kristy 
started her career at NMC as a career counselor, and moved to faculty in 2011. Her areas of expertise are: 
interpersonal and professional communication, marketing, conscious communication, positive psychology, 
customer service and mindfulness. In 2012 she received NMC’s Imogene Wise Faculty Excellence Award. 

This form was created inside of Northwestern Michigan College.

Who are you? Please upload or type a bio here. If you do not have one, just tell The BOT a bit
about yourself. This info will be given to them before the meeting. *

Forms

87

https://www.google.com/forms/about/?utm_source=product&utm_medium=forms_logo&utm_campaign=forms


 

ELI Is the Future of What Is Possible at NMC

The future of education needs to: 

1. Promote engagement and impact

2. Enhance humanity 

3. Prepare for an interconnected world 

4. Help learners to be life and work ready 

5. Include reflective practice to promote critical thinking

88



ELI Is the Future of What Is Possible at NMC

● For these reasons and others related to COVID, ELI has focused on teacher 

development in the last 18 months. 

● This is a report of examples of faculty work during this period, which were 

supported by ELI.

ELI vs. COVID

● COVID has presented opportunities and challenges for the institute.

○ (+) Supporting online and livestream formats and development

○ (+) Incorporation of reflecting as a primary tool of critical thinking

○ (+) Reinforcing the importance of feedback for better connections in 

this environment

89



ELI vs. COVID

● COVID has presented opportunities and challenges for the institute.

○ (-) Few people are on campus for richer experiences

○ (-) Creative community partnerships have not been safe and have been 

harder to find and create (until recently)

○ (-) Teachers and staff are still ‘pivoting’ with fewer staff across the 

college to support the work

Professional Development

● Workshops (on various topics including reflection, feedback, planning, 

development)

● EL101 (online and livestream)

○ Comprehensive boot camp training for beginners and advanced faculty.

● EL Learning Community

○ Upon completion of EL101, take next steps and share with a committed 

community of practice.

● ELI Fellowship

○ Intensive 5-week course with graduate level training

○ 10 Fellows graduated with roughly 30 course sections attached.

90



2020 ELI Fellows

John Velis
CIT

Tammy Coleman
Science

Sarah Montgomery-Richards 
Humanities/Communications

Lisa Blackford
Social Science

Brian Sweeney 
Technical

Caroline Schaefer-Hills 
Visual Communications

2021 ELI Fellows 

Becca Richardson 
Mathematics

Constanza Hazelwood 
Water Studies

Betsy Boris, Nursing

Cathy Warner 
Communications

Cheryl Bloomquist
Early Childhood 

Education

91



 

Enrollment Services 
 
 

To: Dr. Nick Nissley, President 
From: Todd Neibauer, VP for Student Services & Technologies 
Date: October 19, 2021 
Subject: Enrollment Report – October 2021 

 
 

Spring 2022 
 

Though the Spring enrollment cycle is the shortest, it is still early in that cycle and registration 
does not open until October 20, 2021. Below is the year over year comparison for applications 
and admits. The difference last year in the overall trend reflects the beginning of Future for 
Frontliners. While there are large differences in the percentages from last year, it is important to 
note that that these differences were not reflected in the final numbers. While we had more 
applications and admits last year than the previous year, we ended up with fewer admits 
registered than the previous year.  

 
Current Statistics 
(Source: October 13, 2021 -Digital Dashboard – Same Date Comparison, SP2019-2022) 

 

 2019 2020 2021      2022 
Applications  531   503   756   515  

Admits 268  309   512  276  
 

 
The final numbers from last year are included below to illustrate how the cycle matured through 
January 2021. The differences that were evident in October did not change much in actual 
numbers. While Frontliners can no longer enroll under that program, we have maintained contact 
with students and those eligible for Reconnect to assist them should they decide to attend. 

 

Last Year Final Statistics 
(Source: Digital Dashboard – Same Date Comparison, January SP2019-2021) 

 

 2019 2020 2021  
Applications 1,794  1,636   1,853   

Admits 1,213  1,283   1,362   
Admits Registered 794 836 824  

 

92



 
 

                                                      MEMO 
            Enrollment Services 

 
TO:  Nick Nissley, President 

Todd Neibauer, Vice President for Student Services & Technologies 
FROM:  Linda Berlin, Director of Financial Aid 
DATE:  October 15, 2021 
SUBJECT:  NMC Scholarship and Financial Aid Report for Aid Year 2020-2021 

 
 
Northwestern Michigan College (NMC) Enrollment Services provides students and families with a variety of 
opportunities to learn about the availabilty of federal, state, and institutional financial aid. From financial aid, 
scholarship and FAFSA (Free Application for Federal Student Aid) workshops, to individualized assistance, we 
strive to promote college affordability and payment options to students. We encourage students and families to 
actively engage in their financial aid process and to take advantage of our services, from before they make a 
college decision to long after they graduate from NMC.  
 
During the 2020-2021 aid year, the Financial Aid Office partnered with Student Success to implement targeted 
coaching to students who had appealed and were placed on an academic plan for financial aid.  Success coaches 
made sure they understood the terms of their plan and that they were accessing all available supports. 
 
In addition to our usual sources of financial aid, during the 2020-2021 aid year, some additional forms of 
assistance were available to students:   

• NMC disbursed $1.7 million in Higher Education Emergency Relief Funds to our students. 
• The federal government provided relief through existing financial aid programs. 

o Return of aid was waived for students who withdrew due to COVID-19 related issues. They were 
not required to repay loans for the semester, and the Pell Grant usage did not count toward their 
lifetime limit. 

o More flexibility was allowed in deciding appeals for students who failed to meet federal 
Satisfactory Academic Progress and lost aid.  

• The State of Michigan implemented the Futures for Frontliners and Michigan Reconnect aid programs. 
Nearly 300 NMC students recieived funds from these programs.  

 
Cost of Attendance and Student Need 
Financial need is the difference between cost of attendance and expected family contribution. Fifty-five percent 
of NMC students completed a FAFSA this year. Fifty percent received aid (difference is ineligible students).  
 
Cost of attendance (COA) refers to the total amount of education expense: tuition, fees, books and supplies, 
housing and dining, personal expenses, and transportation expenses. NMC’s annual full time cost of attendance 
ranged from $15,400 for an in-district student in a general program living with family to $51,300 for an out-of-
state Aviation student living off campus. The average COA was $15,700. 
 
Expected Family Contribution (EFC) is the result of the FAFSA calculation, which determines the amount the 
student/family could contribute toward the COA. The average EFC was $4,400. 
 

93



ELI Fellowship Focus

Some highlights of recent graduates:

● Becca Richardson 

○ Revamp of MTH231 Calculus 

○ Developmental MTH amp with Brie Mills (ELI101 grad)

● Cheryl Bloomquist 

○ ECE developments with Discovery Center

○ Oleson Center ideas brewing

● Betsy Boris 

○ NUR supporting program intake and honors program

○ Starting a ‘Belonging’ learning community

Directors as Teachers

● BUS231

○ Food for Thought Thanks-for-Giving 

○ Project management and event planning

○ Communications is key

● SOC101 (and SWK170, ENG111)   

○ Poverty focus

○ Walk for Health and Housing 

○ Place-based research

94



EL at NMC 

NMC Experiential Learning Video 

95

https://youtu.be/P3STAYp1dAU
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=P3STAYp1dAU


The average gross need for NMC students this year was $11,300.   
 

Gross Need $11,300 – Average Aid* $5,800 = Average Unmet Need $5,500 
 

*Aid is defined here as federal, state, and institutional scholarships, grants, loans, and work-study. 
 
 
Paying for College 
While NMC students and their families pay the biggest share of their college expenses, financial aid is critical to 
covering the cost of attendance.   
 

 
* Does not reflect amounts students paid for costs not billed by NMC (off campus housing, transportation, etc), while grants loans, and scholarship 
amounts may include funds refunded to students for these costs. 
 
Financial Aid Sources 
NMC’s financial aid includes funding from federal, state, institutional and other outside resources. Of the $14 
million in financial aid disbursed to students in 2020-2021: 

• $9.7 million or 70% from Title IV Federal Student Aid programs: Pell Grant, Supplemental Educational 
Opportunity Grant, Direct Student and Parent Loans, Work-Study funds, and Futures for Frontliners. 

• $1.5 million or 11% from the State of Michigan: Tuition Incentive Program, Michigan Competitive 
Scholarships, Fostering Futures Scholarship, and Michigan Reconnect. 

• $1.5 million or 11% from external sources: scholarships and private loans (most commonly used by 
Aviation students to cover flight fees). 

• A record $1.2 million or 8% from NMC scholarships. 
 

Thanks to increases in State and Federal Grants, in combination with reduced borrowing, for the first time in 
recent history, grants and scholarships made up a higher percentage of total aid than loans.     
 

 

32%

28%

24%

6% 4%

4%

1%

1%

Paying for College at NMC

Student paid (incl. college savings accts.)*

Loans

Grants

Scholarships

School/State for Dual Enrolled/Early College

Veteran benefits

Waivers

Other third parties

96



NMC Foundation Scholarships 
Thirty percent of NMC students received scholarships, up again from 25% in 2019-2020. The most recent National 
Postsecondary Student Aid Study (NCES NPSAS:16) states that only 6% of public 2-year college students receive 
institutional aid. Several factors make it possible for NMC to continue increasing the number of students 
receiving scholarships: 

• Efforts by staff and faculty to encourage application. Forty-one percent of enrolled students (1,711) 
completed the scholarship application 

• Public Relations and NMC Foundation provide personal stories to help students understand that every 
student has the potential to receive a scholarship 

• Continued donor support  
 

 
Unduplicated Headcount for the year is the actual number of individual students enrolled for the year.  
Students may be enrolled in one or more classes, but they are counted only once. *Percentages are based  
on the total number of unduplicated students for the year. 

2019-2020                 2020-2021 
                      4,546                           4,152 

 
While NMC has awarding control over donor/institutional scholarships, not all funds can be awarded and 
disbursed in an award year. The majority of scholarships are awarded for the entire year with the award being 
split 50% to fall and 50% to spring. Funds are also saved to assist with student needs for the summer semester.  
In 2020-2021, 82% of available funds were disbursed. 

 
Student Loan Debt 
The Financial Aid Office provides loan counseling and monitors student debt and default rates: 

• 31% of NMC’s full-time, first-time undergraduate students borrowed federal loans 
• $9,574-$23,853 is the median total debt after graduation (dependent on field of study)  
• $91-$228/mo. is the typical monthly loan payment 

 
                 (Source:  U.S. Dept. of Education College Scorecard) 

97



NMC’s 2018 Cohort Default Rate (CDR) of 10.2% compares favorably to other similar colleges. The 2018 
CDR measures the percentage of borrowers who entered repayment between Oct. 1, 2017 and Sept. 30, 
2018 and subsequently defaulted prior to Sept. 30, 2020. 

 

 

 

98



 

 

  
______________________________________________________________________________ 

      

To:  Dr. Nick Nissley, President 

 

From:  Troy Kierczynski, Vice President of Finance and Administration 

 

Date:  October 18, 2021 

 

Subject: Summary Report for the General Fund as of September 30, 2021 

 

The attached reports summarize the financial results for the General Fund as of September 30, 2021.  

The third month represents 25% of the year. 

 

Month End Results 

The month end reports are interim and not a reflection of actual year-end results.   

The timing of revenue and expenses fluctuates throughout the year and will affect year end results.   

 

The general fund ended the month with revenue over expenses of $1,288,324.  Revenue increased by 

1% when comparing September 2021 to September 2020.  The increase is primarily due to timing of 

property tax receipts. Operating expenses through September 2021 were comparable to the same 

period last year. 

 

Revenue (letters refer to the attached General Fund summary)   

A. Tuition and fees decreased $202,000 (-4%) compared to September 2020 largely due to the College 

eliminating its flexible learning online course fee. For Fall 2021, the budget was set at 33,823 for a 

total budgeted revenue of $6,523,277. Actual fall billing hours are 34,805 with actual fall revenue 

of $6,729,814. Fall revenue is over budget by $206,537.  

B. Property Taxes: Tax revenue is recorded as payments are received. The overall increase for the 

fiscal year is expected to be 3% over the previous fiscal year.  

C. State Sources include budget appropriations, personal property tax payments and MPSERS 

retirement offset payments.  State appropriations payments will begin in October. 

D. Federal Sources consist primarily of direct payments from MARAD restricted for academy 

operations and fuel. 

E. Actual year-to-date investment income recorded for fiscal year 2021 reflects interest income only. 

Interest income is comparable to prior year due to a lingering low interest rate environment.   

F. Both Private Sources and Other Sources are timing and event dependent.   

 

Expenses 

G. Salaries and benefits are under budget due to open unfilled positions. 

H. Overall expenses are under budget at this time.  

I.    Capital Outlay reflects expenditures budgeted through the allocation of COAT dollars. 

MEMO 
Administrative Services 
 

99



Unaudited

2021-2022 YTD % of

Funds Accounts Adjusted Budget Activity Annual Budget

TOTAL GENERAL FUND

50 Revenues

    Tuition and Fees 19,916,110 5,515,881 27.70% A

    Property Taxes 12,030,623 3,982,361 33.10% B

    Other Local 0 0 *

Local Sources 31,946,733 9,498,242 29.73%

State Sources 10,730,000 1,376 0.01% C

Federal Sources 1,075,000 0 0.00% D

Private Sources 868,897 110,185 12.68% F

Investment Income 172,000 40,877 23.77% E

Other Sources 392,600 92,557 23.58% F

Total Revenues   45,185,230 9,743,237 21.56%

60 Labor

Salaries & Wages 22,282,506 4,423,221 19.85% g

Benefits 9,332,244 1,945,734 20.85% g

Total Labor   31,614,750 6,368,955 20.15%

70 Expenses

Purchased Services 2,311,193 519,479 22.48% H

Supplies & Materials 3,318,742 443,129 13.35% H

Internal Services 99,220 -11,709 -11.80% H

Other Expenses 1,670,689 281,761 16.86% H

Institutional Expenses 1,737,924 247,486 14.24% H

Maintenance & Renovation 1,828,864 369,196 20.19% H

Prof Develop, Travel & Events 362,070 65,163 18.00% H

Capital Outlay 177,852 6,760 3.80% I

Total Expenses   11,506,554 1,921,266 16.70%

Total Expenditures   43,121,304 8,290,220 19.23%

80 Transfers

Transfers 2,063,926 164,693 7.98%

Total Transfers   2,063,926 164,693 7.98%

Total Expenditures and Transfers   45,185,230 8,454,913 18.71%

Net Revenues over (under) Expenditures   0 1,288,324

Northwestern Michigan College

Summary Report for General Fund Accounts

Fiscal Year 2022, Period 03

Month end reports are interim and not a reflection of year end results.

03_Summ Gen Fund_Sep_2021.xls

for internal use only 10/14/2021 11:28 AM Page 1 of 1

100



YTD YTD
9/30/2021 9/30/2020 $ Diff % Diff Comments

Revenue
Local Sources:

Tuition & Fees 5,515,881$      5,717,951$      (202,070)$     -4% Primarily due to lower academic course fees in FY22 and timing of fall tuition allocations; partially offset 
by higher summer tuition in FY22

Property Taxes 3,982,361        3,667,421        314,940        9% Timing of property tax payments received from townships and overall increases in taxable values
Total Local Sources 9,498,242        9,385,372        112,870        1%
State Sources 1,376               1,882               (506)              -27% Changes in values for Ren Zone payment
State PPT Reimbursement -                       -                       -                    0% Consistent with prior year
Federal Sources -                       9,677               (9,677)           -100% Timing of MARAD payments

Private Sources 110,185           122,014           (11,829)         -10% Timing of Foundation gifts

Investment Income 40,877             41,794             (917)              -2% Consistent with prior year
Other Sources 92,557             66,998             25,559          38% Primarily due to higher write off reversals for students in FY22

Total Revenue 9,743,237        9,627,737        115,500        1%

Expenses
Salaries and Wages 4,423,221        4,656,779        (233,558)       -5% Due to open, unfilled positions
Benefits 1,945,734        1,949,404        (3,670)           0% Consistent with prior year

Purchased Services 519,479           371,748           147,731        40% Primarily due to food services for GLMA cruises (higher cruise activity in summer 2021 than summer 
2020) and timing of Sodexo invoices

Supplies & Materials 443,129           464,056           (20,927)         -5% Primarily driven by lower general supplies and printing expenses; partially offset by timing of software 
license purchases

Internal Services (11,709)            (4,657)              (7,052)           151% Timing of internal events/charges including fall fitness fee transfers and internal bookstore charges in 
FY22

Other Expenses 281,761           298,572           (16,811)         -6% Primarily related to higher recruiting/promotional expenses and non-professional development travel 
expenses in FY22; partially offset by timing of equipment rental expenses from the GLMA tugboat lease

Institutional Expenses 247,486           222,314           25,172          11% Primarily due to the timing of invoices/payments and slight increases in insurance expenses
Maintenance & Renovation 369,196           341,246           27,950          8% Primarily due to higher facility maintenance expenses in FY22

Professional Development 65,163             52,106             13,057          25% Increase in professional development expenses as professional development has been added back into 
the budget in FY22

Capital Outlay 6,760               5,816               944               16% Timing of COAT purchases
Total Expenses 8,290,220        8,357,384        (67,164)         -1%

Transfers 164,693           115,190           49,503          43% Aviation flight hours transfer

Total Expenses & Transfers 8,454,913        8,472,574        (17,661)         0%

Net Revenue Over (Under) Expenses 1,288,324$      1,155,163$      133,161$      12%

Northwestern Michigan College
Comparison - Fiscal Year to Date

General Fund
Sep 2021 vs. Sep 2020

INTERIM
This statement does not 
reflect year-end results.

101



YTD YTD Sep 21 Aug 21
9/30/2021 8/31/2021 Activity Activity Comments

Revenue
Local Sources:

Tuition & Fees 5,515,881$      3,207,711$      2,308,170$     926,539$        September had 4.5 weeks of fall tuition allocated; August had 1 week of summer & 0.5 weeks of fall 
tuition

Property Taxes 3,982,361        1,325,995        2,656,366       1,067,806       Timing of tax collections received
Total Local Sources 9,498,242        4,533,706        4,964,536       1,994,345       

State Sources 1,376               -                       1,376              -                      Annual Ren Zone payment received in September
State PPT Reimbursement -                       -                       -                      -                      Consistent with prior month
Federal Sources -                       -                       -                      -                      Consistent with prior month
Private Sources 110,185           -                       110,185          -                      Quarterly Foundation invoicing recognized in September
Investment Income 40,877             42,521             (1,644)             28,560            Primarily due to corrections made to accrued interest recognition made in September
Other Sources 92,557             58,037             34,520            33,334            Consistent with prior month

Total Revenue 9,743,237        4,634,264        5,108,973       2,056,239       

Expenses
Salaries and Wages 4,423,221        2,653,880        1,769,341       1,650,105       Increased hours for adjuncts, supplementals, and students in Sept as Fall semester commenced
Benefits 1,945,734        1,189,782        755,952          644,258          Increased hours for adjuncts, supplementals, and students in Sept as Fall semester commenced
Purchased Services 519,479           359,292           160,187          261,258          Primarily due to timing of food services for the GLMA cruises
Supplies & Materials 443,129           277,181           165,948          167,401          Consistent with prior month

Internal Services (11,709)            219                  (11,928)           659                 Primarily due to internal transfer occurring in September to general fund from halls auxiliary fund for 
fitness fee revenue

Other Expenses 281,761           165,274           116,487          107,197          Consistent with prior month
Institutional Expenses 247,486           132,750           114,736          106,736          Consistent with prior month
Maintenance & Renovation 369,196           205,476           163,720          142,582          Primarily due to timing of software and equipment maintenance expenses in September
Professional Development 65,163             40,984             24,179            31,193            Primarily driven by timing of professional development expenses
Capital Outlay 6,760               -                       6,760              -                      $6,760 Fireboy Suppression System for GLMA

Total Expenses 8,290,220        5,024,838        3,265,382       3,111,389       

Transfers 164,693           -                       164,693          -                      Aviation flight hours transfer

Total Expenses & Transfers 8,454,913        5,024,838        3,430,075       3,111,389       

Net Revenue Over (Under) Expenses 1,288,324$      (390,574)$        1,678,898$     (1,055,150)$    

Northwestern Michigan College
Comparison - Month Over Month

General Fund
Sep 2021 vs. Aug 2021

INTERIM
This statement does not 
reflect year-end results.

102



Assets 2022 2021
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 3,839,462$        5,404,576$        A

Accounts receivable, net 5,895,731          5,902,715          
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,026,587          520,607             B

Total current assets 10,761,780        11,827,898        

Noncurrent assets
Long-term investments 22,985,122        21,040,873        A

Due to other funds (14,274,010)       (15,325,945)       
Total noncurrent assets 8,711,112          5,714,928          

Total assets 19,472,892$      17,542,826$      

Liabilities
Current liabilities

Accounts payable 90,761$             257,173$           
Accrued payroll 2,024,123          1,828,322          
Unearned revenue 4,977,903          4,569,978          

Total current liabilities 7,092,787          6,655,473          

Noncurrent liabilities
Voluntary separation plan 114,400$           197,748$           

Total noncurrent liabilities 114,400             197,748             

Total liabilities 7,207,187$        6,853,221$        

Net position
Net position, beginning of year 10,978,421$      9,534,442$        
Change in net position 1,287,284          1,155,163          

Total net position 12,265,705        10,689,605        

Total liabilities and net position 19,472,892$      17,542,826$      

Notes:

Larger balance in long-term investments offsets the lower balance in cash and cash equivalents.

A - Cash and investments balances fluctuate due to timing of investment purchases, sales, and payroll.

B - Timing of prepaid expenses

As of September 30,

Northwestern Michigan College
Statement of Net Postion

General Fund
September 30, 2021

103



To: Nick Nissley, President

From: Diana Fairbanks, Associate Vice President of PR, Marketing and Communications

Date: 10-18-21

Subject: September 2021 Monthly Report

September is a busy month for PRMC as the new academic year is in full swing. This also leads
to an increase across all media categories. Highlights include strong earned and owned media
with many positive news stories including distribution of COVID relief to students, alumni in the
news, and efforts to help our veterans. PRMC has also been working with Human Resources on
the new positions in the re-imagined PRMC effort supported by the Board earlier this year. The
job openings were posted with applications accepted until mid-October followed by material
review and interviews. The following is an overview of the work of PRMC for September 2021.

Paid Media
● Google search, display, remarketing
● Paid Facebook
● Paid Instagram
● Spotify
● Programmatic digital
● Ticker
● TCBN
● Northern Express

September highlights for our digital marketing efforts include campaigns for gaming audiences
and adult learners. Conversions to the “apply” page were also up. September was a more
competitive month so cost per click was higher and we saw a dip in performance in some areas.
We continue to refine our digital campaigns to better respond to the algorithms and increases
conversions. Our identified conversion goals include visiting the Ellucian page to apply or log-in,
the admissions page and mail/telephone link.

Outcomes:
● Conversions

Campaigns September
‘21

MOM

NMC General- 183
+72

104



remarketing (adult
learner MI)

NMC General
(traditional learners
MI)

141.4 +141

NMC General-
display (adult
learners MI)

97.1
+97

NMC General-
display (traditional
learners local)

145.23 -85⬇

NMC General display
(adult learners local)

136.17 -45 ⬇

● Paid social
○ One FB/IG campaign (8/1-8/31)

■ 423 clicks to landing page
● Ticker

○ 5 headliner ads
■ clicks to landing page

● Programmatic
○ Gamer campaign

■ clicks to landing page
● Web traffic (8/1-8/31)

○ Affordable degrees landing page for paid campaigns
■ 11,010 visits/pageviews
■ 4% of all site traffic
■ It's driven:

● 334 visits to apply page
● 239 NMC homepage

○ Adult learners landing page
■ 9,602 visits/pageviews
■ 3% of all site traffic
■ It’s driven:

● 412 visits to the apply page
● 63 NMC homepage
● 53 visits to the admissions page

105

https://www.nmc.edu/landing/affordable-degrees.html
https://www.nmc.edu/landing/adult-students.html


Earned Media
Monthly recap of media coverage and sentiment

NMC was featured in 79 media mentions with an estimated publicity value of $60,500 based on
the Cision media monitoring system. Media stories that had high attention include:

● Indigenous boarding school experience, art showcased at Dennos Museum Center
Record-Eagle, September 10 (picked up by U.S. News and World Report)

● 23 of the Best Winter Getaways to Start Planning Now Oprah Daily, September 17
● NMC students to receive fourth round of federal COVID funds TV 9 & 10 News,

September 15
● Great Lakes Maritime Academy To Accept Military Service For Credits The Ticker,

September 29

Media sentiment ranking for September (based on a Cision algorithm that ranks pre-assigned
tone of keywords) shows 97.5% positive or neutral coverage. This is basically flat MOM (August,
97.9%) and YOY (2020, 97.4%).

Owned Media
Monthly published owned media

PRMC published three NMC Now e-newsletters to 866 supporters and community members.
The average open rate was 46.2%. The feature article highlighting NMC alum Edris Fana and
his family in Afghanistan was the most read story. Other popular links include:

● NMC distributes $5.2 million to students over 18 months 9-29-21
● NMC set to kick off first esports season TV 9&10, Sept. 20
● Free College? Read Between The Lines Northern Express, Sep 4, 2021
● 2021-2022 State Budget Helps People Get Higher Education or Skills Training 9&10

News, September 29

Work continues strategic planning communications and COVID-19 communications. Planning is
underway for the January Nexus magazine which will highlight the college’s strategic planning
and DEI efforts.

Shared Media
Monthly progress report on NMC’s Main social media channels

September is traditionally a strong month for shared media performance as activity picks up on
campus early in the fall semester. We saw a lot of organic growth that was further boosted by an
increase in paid content. Highest performing organic posts this month include the first class of
learners 70 years ago, Lobdell’s opening, GLMA alumni and nursing students.

Platform Followers Impressions Engagement Gender Age Region

Facebook 11,881
Up 1%

YOY

160% Up*

YOY

62% Up

YOY

Fans
68% F
31% M

#1 25-34
(26.8%)

#2 35-44

GT Region
& Grand
Rapids

106

https://www.record-eagle.com/news/indigenous-boarding-school-experience-art-showcased-at-dennos-museum-center/article_397574f8-0fd2-11ec-a77a-7fed57bbe195.html
https://www.oprahdaily.com/life/g25713584/best-winter-getaways/?slide=19
https://www.9and10news.com/2021/09/15/northwestern-michigan-college-students-to-receive-fourth-round-of-federal-covid-funds/
https://www.traverseticker.com/news/great-lakes-maritime-academy-to-accept-military-service-for-credits/
https://mailchi.mp/nmc/nmc-now-afghan-alumnus-reflects-on-current-events
https://mailchi.mp/nmc/nmc-now-stewarding-covid-relief-funds
https://www.9and10news.com/2021/09/20/northwestern-michigan-college-set-to-kick-off-first-esports-season/
https://www.northernexpress.com/news/feature/free-college-read-between-the-lines/
https://www.9and10news.com/2021/09/29/2021-2022-state-budget-helps-people-get-higher-education-or-skills-training/


Up 0.1%

MOM

118% Up*

MOM

25% Down
MOM⬇

Reach
49%F
50%M

(20%)

#3 45-54
(19.9%)

Instagram 2,746
up 10%

YOY)

1.7% Up

MOM

50% Up

YOY

25% Up

MOM

35% Down
YOY⬇

34% Up
MOM

58% F
36% M
6% NB

#1 18-24
(28.6%)

#2 25-34
(29.7%)

#3 35-44
(18.2%)

GT Region
& Grand
Rapids

* This was boosted by an increase in paid social media content.

107



Northwestern Michigan College 
Board of Trustees 

Audit Committee Minutes 
October 4, 2021 

Osterlin Building 203 
1701 E. Front Street, Traverse City, MI 49686 

 
 
Committee Chair Kennard Weaver called the meeting to order at 10:01 a.m. 
 
Members Present: Kennard Weaver, Ken Warner, Laura Oblinger 
Others Present:  Nick Nissley, Troy Kierczynski, Lindsey Lipke, Lynne Moritz, Jeff Pohler 

Katie Thornton  
 
Review and Draft Audited Financial Statements  
 
Katie Thornton and Jeff Pohler of Plante & Moran, PLLC, presented an overview of the draft 
required communications and financial report for the year ended June 30, 2021, to the group.  
 
Thornton noted overall a great audit was conducted through a hybrid of in-person and virtual 
communication and stated no deficiencies need to be reported.  The impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic on the operations of the college is included again for this year as a sensitive disclosure 
affecting the financial statements. Thornton also thanked Troy Kierczynski, Lindsey Lipke, and 
college staff for their cooperation and courtesy. Jeff Pohler then reviewed the fincancial report, 
stating a clean unmodified opinion was received.  
 
The committee recommended bringing the audit to the full Board for review and auditors shared 
they will present the audited financial statements to the full Board at their meeting on October 
25, 2021. 
 
Public Comment—There was no public comment offered. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 10:58 a.m.  
 
Recorded by Lynne Moritz, Executive Director of the President’s Office and Board Operations 
 

108



Northwestern Michigan College
Board of Trustees

Building and Site Committee Minutes
October 18, 2021

Gray Conference Room 202
University Center

2200 Dendrinos, Traverse City, MI 49686

Committee Chair Rachel Johnson called the meeting to order at 3:35 p.m.

Members Present: Rachel Johnson, Doug Bishop

Members Absent: Laura Oblinger

Others Present: Nick Nissley, Vicki Cook, Troy Kierczynski, Lynne Moritz

Signage for the Timothy J. Nelson Innovation Center
The committee reviewed options for placement of signage for the renaming of the previously 
referred to West Hall Innovation Center. At the regular Board of Trustees meeting on July 26, 
2021, the Board approved renaming the building the Timothy J. Nelson Innovation Center, in 
honor of the former president of NMC who was instrumental in obtaining state funding for the 
project. The committee unanimously agreed on placing the building name on the southwestern 
facade, as seen in attached rendering. 

There was discussion regarding lighting for the signage, to which the committee expressed desire 
for the lighting to be placed not on the building, but either backlighting the lettering or 
originating from the ground. The plaque inside the building will also be updated.

The next step for the project is to move forward to the bidding process.

There was also discussion to refer to the new, full name of the building in documents such as 
meeting appointments, minutes, and agendas, although the complete update of campus 
wayfinding signs is still in progress.

Public Comment—There was no public comment offered.

The meeting was adjourned at 3:45 p.m.

Recorded by Lynne Moritz, Executive Director of the President’s Office and Board Operations

109



110



 

 

  
______________________________________________________________________________ 
      
To:  Dr. Nick Nissley, President 
 
From:  Stephen Siciliano, Vice President for Educational Services 

Vicki Cook, Special Assistant to the President 
   
Date:  October 14, 2021 
 
Subject: Monthly Strategic Planning Update 
 Attachments:  Timeline, Process Map 
 
The Strategic Planning process is progressing as agreed upon by the Board of Trustees and the 
Strategic Planning Steering Committee (SPSC).  CampusWorks was able to facilitate meetings 
with the SPSC to finalize the draft Mission, Vision, Values and Strategic Directions.   Once 
reviewed by the Board of Trustees, a survey to all constituent groups that participated in the 
SWOT analysis and previous focus groups will be conducted.  
 
The SPSC reviewed the feedback from the September Board of Trustees meeting.  They have 
revised both the Mission and Vision statements based on that feedback.  The revised statements 
are on page 2 of this memo.  The Committee also completed the values statements. 
 
The Strategic Directions and the descriptions were completed by the SPSC at the October 8, 
2021 meeting. These Strategic Directions establish the ends for the college and thus will require 
Board approval as all ends policies do.  Objectives set the course, or means, to reach the 
established directions.  The SPSC and Work Team will write three to five objectives for each of 
the Strategic Direction statements. These are what will differentiate us from our peers.  
Objectives are a means to the end statements, or strategies, and will be the responsibility of the 
administration to lead and implement with our faculty and staff.   

 
Public Relations continues to provide monthly updates to employees and students.   Community 
members and NMC stakeholders can access the Strategic Planning website to stay informed.  
The website is nmc.edu/strategic-planning 
 
Upcoming October and November activities include: 

● October 22        Objective workshop #1 
● October 25        BOT to review draft strategy statements to be included in survey 
● October 26-31   Survey and Focus groups 
● November 5    Objective workshop #2 
● November 8   BOT policy committee to review Mission, Vision and Values 
● November 9   Implementation workshop 
● November 11    SPSC to approve objectives 
● November 19    Action planning meeting 

MEMO 
Administrative 
Services 
 

111

https://www.nmc.edu/strategic-planning/index.html
https://www.nmc.edu/strategic-planning/index.html


 

 

Mission: We deliver lifelong learning opportunities to transform lives and enrich our 
communities.   
 
Vision:  We aspire to be a global community where all learners unlock their full potential.  
 
Values: 
 

– Integrity:  We act with the highest degree of ethics, personal responsibility, fairness, and 
openness ensuring that we match our actions with our words.   

 
– Collaboration:  We co-create solutions and celebrate the joy of working together, 

empowering each other and nurturing community partnerships for the benefit of our 
learners.   

 
– Respect:  We demonstrate mutual regard and appreciation for one another to assure a 

culture of trust. 
 

– Inclusion:  We foster belonging and build organizational capacity that celebrates 
diversity and promotes equity. 

 
– Innovation:  We are agile, imaginative, and forward-thinking, taking risks to meet future 

needs of the college and our communities.  
 

– Learning:  We are life-long learners; learning is foundational to a thriving community 
and is at the center of all we do.  

 
– Stewardship:  We practice stewardship by investing responsibly in the human, physical, 

financial, and environmental resources entrusted to our care. 
 

– Excellence:  We commit to the highest standards of quality and service, and to exceeding 
the expectations of our learners and communities through continuous improvement. 

 
Strategic Directions and Strategy Statements: (The destination or ends for the institution) 
 

– Future-Focused Education:  Enhance offerings through flexible academic pathways, 
innovative instructional delivery models, and relevant, hands-on educational experiences 
to empower global learners for the future.   

 
– Student Engagement and Success:  Develop and deliver comprehensive support 

services, robust engagement opportunities, and a vibrant collegiate experience to foster 
learner success, goal completion, and employability.   

 
– Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion:  Cultivate an inclusive environment that fosters a 

sense of belonging and delivers equitable opportunities so all are able to thrive and 
succeed. 

 
– Community Partnerships and Engagement:  Expand collaborations that advance 

community engagement, economic and workforce development, and innovative 
opportunities for lifelong learning. 

 

112



 

 

– Institutional Distinction and Sustainability:  Leverage distinctive programs that 
strengthen institutional sustainability and expand global connections for our learners and 
communities. 

 
 

113



Northwestern Michigan College  
Strategic Planning Process 

 
 
 

Month Activity Purpose Participants 
April Trend in Higher Education workshop Inform campus 

community 
BOT; Work team; 
Strategic Planning committee 
(SPSC);employees 

 Student Experience workshop Guiding principles when 
drafting implementation 
plans 

Students; employees; SPSC and 
Work Team 

 SWOT survey Inform planning process BOT; SPSC, Work team; 
employees 

 Internal focus groups Inform plan Specific groups 
    
May External Focus groups Inform plan Specific groups 
 SWOT analysis Inform plan SPSC/Work team 
 Data review workshop (internal data) Inform plan SPSC/Work team 
 Future summit topics Inform plan SPSC/Work team 
 Mission workshop Input into statement BOT 
    
June Mission/Vision/Values Inform  SPC BOT 
 Future Summit;  Inform plan themes for 

objectives 
BOT;SPSC;employees;Work 
team 

    
July 7 
3:00-4:00 

Meet to review timeline and roles and 
responsibilities 

Update on process and 
future meetings 

SCPSC  

July 14 
2:00-4:00 

Future Summit impact statements and 
scan team assignments 

Inform plan and scenario 
building 

SPSC, work team 

 Scan team research Inform objectives  SPSC, work team, other experts 
    
August 10 
2:00-5:00 

Mission/Vision Workshop Recommend Mission 
statements to BOT 

SPSC committee 

August 17 
3:00-5:00 

Scan teams to present findings Inform plan SPSC/Work Team 

August 23 Opening Conference values workshop Input into values 
statements 

All Employees 

August 24 
9:00-12:00 

Scan to plan workshop #1 Strategy 
workshop 

Start to draft Strategies 
for plan 

SPSC/Work team 

August 30 Value survey Inform SPSC on value 
statements 

All employees 

    
Sept. 8 
2:00-5:00 

Vision & Values workshop Finalize Vision & values 
statement to send to BOT 
for employee survey 

SPSC 

Sept. 15 
2:00-5:00 

Advancing strategies workshop #2 Finalize strategies SPSC and work team 

Sept 17 Values workshop Statements to define 
values 

SPSC 

Sept 22 
9:00-11:00 

Approve statement to be sent to BOT 
for  inclusion in  survey to constituents 

Mission, vision, values to 
finalize 

SPSC 

Sept 27 BOT presentation: 
Mission/Vision/Values statement survey 

Provide input on 
statements 

BOT 

114



Northwestern Michigan College  
Strategic Planning Process 

 
 
 

    
Month Activity Purpose Participants 
October 8 
1:00-3:00 

Finalize Excellence value statement 
Revise Mission & Vision statement 
Finalize Strategic Directions statements 

Finalize for survey  SPSC 

October 22 
11:00-2:00 

Objective workshop #1 Draft objectives for each 
of the strategies 

SPSC, work team, other college 
management  

October 27 
9:30-11:30 

Implementation workshop Design implementation 
process 

SPSC 

October 25 BOT  Mission/Vision/Values & Strategy 
statements 

Input before survey & 
focus groups 

BOT 

Week of 
Oct 25 

Survey and focus groups Feedback on mission, 
vision, values and 
strategies 

BOT, Employees, Students & 
Community 

    
Nov 2 or 4 
TBD 

Finalize Mission, Vision, Values and 
strategies  

Finalize based on 
feedback of survey & 
focus groups 

SPSC 

Nov. 5 
11:00-2:00 

Objective workshop #2 Draft objectives for each 
of the strategies 

SPSC, work team, other college 
management  

Nov. 8 
11:00 

Submit to BOT policy council finalized 
statements – to submit for first reading 

Review for BOT first 
reading 

BOT Policy committee 

Nov 9 
3-5 

Implementation workshop Draft implementation of 
strategic plan 

SPSC  

Nov 11 
10-12:00 

Approve objectives Approve objectives and 
assign leads 

SPSC 

Nov 19 
12:00-3:00 

Action Planning workshop #1 Draft implementation 
plan and assign leads 

Strategy Owners; 
leads; management team 

Nov 22 Submit objectives to BOT  Inform BOT BOT 
    
Dec 3 
12:00-3:00 

Action planning workshop #2 Draft implementation 
plan and assign leads 

Strategy Owners; 
leads; management team 

Dec 8 
1:00-4:00 

Finalize strategic plan Recommend final plan for 
BOT approval 

SPSC 

Dec 20 Strategic Plan submitted to BOT BOT to set time for 
approval after review 

BOT 

 

Note:  The timeline is not inclusive of all activities but is intended to provide major milestones in the process. 

115



1THIS INFORMATION MAY BE PROPRIETARY OR CONFIDENTIAL WORK. IT IS NOT INTENDED FOR DISTRIBUTION WITHOUT PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT.

Trends 
Presentation 
& Student 
Experience 
Workshop

Mission 
Development 

Workshop

Vision 
Development 

Workshop

SWOT Survey 
& Focus 
Groups

Values 
Workshop & 

Survey

Values 
Development 

Workshop

Employee Feedback Survey

Learner 
Experience 
Statement

Mission Vision Values
Strategies & 
Objectives 

NMC’s Strategic Plan 2022-2025

Faculty, Staff, Students – April 2021
Approved by SPSC - May 2021

Submitted by SPSC for BOT Approval - Dec 2021

SPSC - July/Aug 
2021

Employees – Sept 2021

Employees – Aug 2021

Campus & 
Community 
Constituents 

April – May 2021

Campus & 
Community 
Constituents 
June 2021

Future 
Summit

SPSC & Work 
Team – July/Aug 

2021

Scan Teams 
& Scan to 

Plan

SPSC & Work Team –
Sept/Nov 2021

Approved by SPSC
Reviewed by BOT 

Oct/Nov 2021

SPSC Approved & BOT Approved – Oct 2021

SPSC - Sept 2021

116



MEMO: Resource Development

To: The Board of Trustees
President Nick Nissley, Ed.D.

From: Rebecca Teahen, CFRE
Assoc. Vice President, Resource Development
Executive Director, NMC Foundation

Date: October 18, 2021

Subj: Foundation Update

Fund Raising – a “check” on FY22 goals
● The foundation continues its active fundraising efforts to support NMC students, programs, and

the Fund for NMC. We continue to ask you and our community to make gifts of all sizes to
help students because every gift makes a difference for a student in need and to
advance critical NMC programs.

● To date, donors have given:
$513,315 Total received (including Annual Fund, pledges, and documented

planned gift intentions) raised toward goal

+   $71,792 Gross event revenue

$585,107 Total of gifts + events (Goal: $3,550,000)

Note: We have also received $400,000 from a previously
documented planned gift.

Foundation Initiatives

● Fall direct mail and email campaigns are underway.

● Staff are hosting donors and potential donors for regular lunches at Lobdell’s - A Teaching
Restaurant. This is a great way to connect donors directly with students and the impacts of
philanthropy at NMC.

● Giving Tuesday is Tuesday . The Foundation will have an active communicationsNov 30, 2021
and fundraising campaign around this date.

● The Foundation is eager to learn more about the NMC strategic plan, and begin a
complementary strategic planning process to determine how to best support the college and our
students in the future.

1701 East Front Street, Traverse City, MI  49686 231-995-1021

117



       Northern Strategies 360 
                         Comprehensive Government Affairs Solutions  
 
 
148 E. Front Street, Suite 203               Phone:   (517) 449-6453 
Traverse City, MI 49685                           www.northernstrategies360.com             
 

MEMO 
 
To:    Northwestern Michigan College Board of Trustees  
Cc:  Dr. Nick Nissley, Ed.D. 
From:  Gabe Schneider, Founder/Principal, Northern Strategies 360 
Date:  Monday, October 18, 2021 
Re:  State/Federal Legislative Update 
 
 
State 
Supplemental Funding Requests 
As you may know, the state has on hand approximately $10 billion in a combination of additional general funds 
and one time federal COVID funding.  As a result, the Legislature will be considering supplemental 
appropriations bills that would allocate some or all of this funding.  We understand that the legislature is in the 
process of compiling information about potential projects/proposal to be considered for funding.  However, we 
also understand that the legislature may be waiting until Congress decides on the future of federal infrastructure 
bill, which might determine what projects the state decides to fund vs. those funded in an infrastructure bill. 
 
Ask 
We ask that as the Legislature looks to allocate additional supplemental funding, they consider three 
transformational projects on our campuses that, if funded, would create lasting impacts on our learners and our 
community. 

• Integrated Student Services Hub ($2.8 million requested)  
• Central Campus Geothermal Project ($12 million requested)  
• Aviation Program Hanger Improvements ($1.5 million requested)  

 
We are also supporting the Michigan Community College Association’s request for $250 million to establish 
the one-time Community College Equipment Fund.  The fund would provide funding or community colleges to 
aquire the latest technology or equipment needed for workforce training and development  
 
Actions 

• In early October, Gabe met with legislators in Lansing to press the importance of these projects 
• Also in early October, we sent a letter to Rep. Roth and Sen. Schmidt outlining these project requests 

 
Capital Outlay 
In addition to the request to fund our capital outlay request via one-time supplemental funds, we are also 
encouraging the legislature to fund all community college capital outlay projects as a way to invest state funds 
in community college infrastructure.  We are also in the process of preparing our FY23 Capital Outlay request 
for funding for the Integrated Student Services Hub. 
 
Ask 

• Support funding all community college capital outlay projects this year 
 
Actions 

• Gabe has communicated the need to support funding for capital outlay projects to Joint Capital Outlay 
Committee Chairs Sen. Horn and Rep. Maddock 

118



 2 

Community College BSN Legislation 
Rep. Roth and Rep. Damoose (Emmet County) are gathering co-sponsors for legislation that they are 
sponsoring that would allow community colleges to confer Bachelor of Science in nursing degrees.  We 
understand that the goal is to gather 60 co-sponsors before introducing the bill.  We also understand that the 
goal is to introduce the bill before the next recess period in mid-November.  Both offices are working closely 
with the MCCA and Michigan Legislative Consultants on this strategy. 
 
Even though “poison pill” legislation (HB 5362) has once again been introduced (by Rep. VanSingel and Rep. 
Steckloff) we believe that the community college BSN legislation has some traction.  This includes support 
from the Senate Majority Leader and Speaker of the House.  We also understand that the Michigan Hospital 
Association has made this legislation a priority knowing that it would help to address the critical staffing issues 
facing hospitals around the state. 
 
Actions 

• We will be working closely with Rep. Roth and Rep. Damoose on a strategy to support this legislation 
including offering to provide testimony in support of the bill once it is introduced and assigned to 
committee. 

 
Federal 
 
USDA Rural Development 
Longtime regional manager for U.S. Senator Debbie Stabenow, Brandon Fewins, was recently appointed by 
President Biden to serve as the State Director for USDA Rural Development.  Replacing Brandon in Senator 
Stabenow’s Traverse City Office is Melissa Fruge, who had served alongside Brandon for the last few years. 
 
From the USDA Press Release: 
Brandon Fewins has served as Northern Michigan Regional Manager for U.S. Senator Debbie Stabenow for 
over 20 years. He has extensive experience working with elected officials, community leaders, USDA and 
agencies at all levels of government on local economic development and rural development initiatives. He has 
been an advisor to the Senator and staff of the U.S Senate Committee on Agriculture, Nutrition and Forestry on 
issues related to Michigan agriculture, forestry, rural development, the Great Lakes, and conservation. Brandon 
is a lifelong resident of the Grand Traverse region, grew up on a centennial farm and owns a small business. 
 
 

119

https://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(fxufrfjnfhtla51ngwqxn11i))/mileg.aspx?page=getobject&objectname=2021-HB-5362&query=on


To: Chris Bott, Chair, Board of Trustees
Nick Nissley, President

From: Lynne Moritz, Executive Director of the President’s Office and Board Operations

Date: October 20, 2021

Subject: January 2022 Board Retreat Considerations

Based on best practices discussed at the Association of Community College Trustees' Leadership
Congress session on “Why hold a Board Retreat?” I recommend the NMC Board of Trustees
consider the criteria listed below as planning begins for a retreat early in 2022.

● Multiple days and an off-campus location increases trustee engagement
○ Consider a Thursday afternoon/Friday daytime or Friday afternoon/Saturday

daytime option in early January 2022
○ Select an in-area location minimizing travel

● Determine an external facilitator to prepare agenda and objectives (along with Board
Chair and President), and facilitate discussion

● Issue a statement of accomplishment and identify next steps at conclusion of retreat

While the NMC Board of Trustees has held numerous half-day and day-long study sessions in
the past few years, there has not been an off-campus Board Retreat in some time, and most
certainly, not with the current members. The Board’s current budget for professional
development conferences could be utilized to cover the expenses of an offsite retreat, especially
given that not all trustees were able to participate in the 2021 ACCT Leadership Congress.

For further context, ACCT’s list of purposes for a retreat, include the following:

● Self-review and Presidential Review
● Frequency is outlined in Board policy
● Review of Board policies
● Onboarding
● Build relationships
● Strategic Planning
● Accreditation

120



NORTHWESTERN MICHIGAN COLLEGE  
BOARD OF TRUSTEES  

MINUTES 
Monday, September 27, 2021 

Timothy J. Nelson Innovation Center, Room 106/107 

CALL TO ORDER—Chair Chris M. Bott called the regular meeting to order at 5:30 p.m.  

ROLL CALL  
Trustees present: Rachel A. Johnson, Laura J. Oblinger, Kenneth E. Warner, Douglas S. Bishop 

attending remotely from Bonita Springs County, FL; Michael Estes (until 
7:01p.m.), Kennard R. Weaver, Chris M. Bott  

Trustees absent: None 
Also present: President Nick Nissley, Sally Smarsty, Lisa Blackford, Glenn Blackford, Patti 

Burgess, Vicki Cook, Marguerite Cotto, Diana Fairbanks, Madison Ford, Craig 
Hadley, Troy Kierczynski, Mark Liebling, Lindsey Lipke, Janet Lively, Lynne 
Moritz, Kyle Morrison, Todd Neibauer, Stephen Siciliano, Jason Slade, Rebecca 
Teahen  

REVIEW OF AGENDA—The agenda was accepted as presented. 

SPECIAL REPORTS AND PRESENTATIONS 
Program Focus—Sally Smarsty, Coordinator for Student Success, presented on the services 
provided by the Student Success Center (SSC). The SSC seeks to understand students’ lives and 
needs and connect them to the resources they need. Smarsty explained how the Success Center 
collects and uses a data informed approach to build a holistic view of every student, providing early 
alerts to support staff when students demonstrate signs of veering off track or of facing an obstacle 
they need to continue their education.  

Faculty Report—Lisa Blackford, Social Work Instructor, explained how she engages students in 
psychology courses and the social work program. 

Enrollment Report—Todd Neibauer, Vice President for Student Services and Technology, 
provided the enrollment report for the Fall 2021 semester. Fall semester enrollment is up 20 students 
and 162 contact hours over last year.  The .5% increase is a positive variance over budget 
projections, which anticipated a 3.8% decline in contact hours for the fall. Neibauer also noted 
residence halls are at a 73% occupancy rate and spring 2022 enrollment begins on October 20, 2021.   

Financial Report—Board Chair Chris Bott congratulated Troy Kierczynski on formally becoming 
the Vice President of Finance and Administration after serving as interim vice president of this area 
since March 2021 when Vicki Cook announced she would be reducing her workload ahead of her 
retirement at the end of December. Kierczynski reviewed the financial report for the period ending 
August 31, 2021. There was discussion regarding the state budget process.    

Presidential Performance and Compensation Committee—Committee Chair Rachel Johnson 
reviewed the evaluation timeline and process included in the written report in the packet. Johnson 
noted the committee is asking President Nissley to include a 360 review in his plans for 2022. 

EXECUTIVE REPORTS—The following written reports were provided in the packet of materials: 
Foundation Report, PRMC Report, Executive Committee Report, and Legislative Issues Report.  

121



Northwestern Michigan College  September 27, 2021 
 
 

2 
 

 
PUBLIC INPUT—There was no public input offered. 
 
UPDATES 
President’s Update—President Nick Nissley began his update by reviewing state budget 
developments as they pertain to community college funding.  
 
In regards to COVID-19, Nissley noted 7 students and 2 employees with positive on-campus 
exposure this semester. The recent vaccination clinics held on campus have been minimally 
attended. However, 899 students registered for the lottery open to those providing proof of COVID-
19 vaccination. Prizes for vaccination include free housing for the spring semester, $500 gift 
certificates to the NMC bookstore, and $100 Amazon gift cards. 
 
Nissley noted several recent events on his calendar, as well as student events on campus such as the 
upcoming first meeting of the student chapter of Rotaract. The NMC Diversity, Equity, Inclusion 
(DEI) Committee held virtual campus presentations over the past few weeks regarding their 
assessment report. Nissley noted area business leaders have expressed their workplace needs for 
diverse demographics.  
 
Lastly, Nissley reviewed a memo included in the packet which provides an overview how the 
college is reimagining facilities use and welcoming students to campus for fall semester. 
 
Board Chair Update—Chair Chris Bott noted his recent visits with NMC Aviation and the GLMA.  
Bott encouraged trustees to review the facilities overview provided in this month’s packet.   
 
DISCUSSION ITEMS 
Strategic Planning Report—President Nissley thanked the Board for their courage and support for 
strategic planning during a pandemic and their broad and deep engagement with internal and 
external stakeholders throughout the process. Nissley reminded everyone this is a process the college 
has not undertaken in a decade and thanked Stephen Siciliano and Vicki Cook as co-chairs of the 
process.   
 
Stephen Siciliano, VP for Educational Services, noted recent adjustments to the process timeline, 
which include final approval of the plan in early 2022 rather than December 2021. Siciliano 
emphasized the committee’s desire to gather feedback from the Board of Trustees on the draft 
mission, vision, and values statements, as they have been developed by the Strategic Planning 
Steering Committee through numerous input sessions and methods with all stakeholder groups.  
 
Each member of the full Board of Trustees then provided their input on the draft mission, vision, and 
values statements. There was consensus to find a more actionable alternative to the word “promise” 
in the mission statement and to develop the vision statement into a full sentence. 
 
Vicki Cook, Special Assistant to the President, noted the feedback from the Board will be taken to 
the Steering Committee. Cook noted that while strategic directions are broad and similar to other 
institutions’ strategic plans, objectives and tactics will be what sets NMC apart. Strategy statements 
will be included in the October report to the Board, as the Steering Committee will be working on 

122



Northwestern Michigan College  September 27, 2021 
 
 

3 
 

the statements at a workshop on October 8. Cook also noted additional faculty and staff have been 
added to the SPSC to ensure representation from both employee groups. 
 
FY23 Capital Outlay Overview 
VP for Finance and Administration Troy Kierczynski provided a high level overview of the capital 
outlay process and the documentation included in the packet. The FY2023 Five Year Capital Outlay 
Plan will be submitted to the NMC Board of Trustees at their meeting on October 25, 2021. In Fall 
2020, the State’s Department of Technology, Management Budget (DTMB) notified Northwestern 
Michigan College that they were not accepting major project requests for Fiscal Year 2022. 
However, in June 2021, at the request of a State legislator, we submitted an informal funding request 
to the State’s Joint Capital Outlay Committee to renovate the Osterlin building into an “Integrated 
Student Services Hub”. We intend to resubmit the Integrated Student Services Hub as our Fiscal 
Year 2023 project along with the Five Year Capital Plan.  
 
Trustee Bishop attended the meeting remotely. According to the bylaws of the Board of Trustees and 
state statute, Bishop’s virtual attendance counts toward constitution of a quorum, but does not allow 
for his participation in voting. All votes referenced below reflect the votes of those present at the in-
person meeting. 
 
CONSENT ITEMS—On a motion by Rachel Johnson, seconded by Kennard Weaver, the minutes 
of the August 23, 2021, regular meeting were approved by unanimous vote of those present without 
discussion.   
 
ACTION ITEMS 

Local Strategic Value Resolution--Laura Oblinger made a motion, seconded by Kennard Weaver, 
to adopt the presented Local Strategic Value Resolution certifying that Northwestern Michigan 
College meets the best practice standards required by the appropriations law for fiscal year 2022. 
The motion passed with a unanimous vote of those present.  

Storage System Replacement--On a motion by Laura Oblinger, seconded by Kennard Weaver, the 
Board authorized administration to enter into contract with iXsystems for the replacement of the 
Storage Area Network System at a cost of $489,598.50. Todd N addressed a question regarding how 
often storage system replacements are required. The motion passed with a unanimous vote of those 
present. 

Security Log Management Software--On a motion by Rachel Johnson, seconded by Laura 
Oblinger, the Board authorized for administration to enter into contract with August Schell 
Enterprises for the capacity increase and license extension of the Security Log Management System 
at a cost of $40,458.64. The motion passed with a unanimous vote of those present.  

Voicemail System Replacement--On a motion by Laura Oblinger, seconded by Ken Warner, the 
Board authorized administration to enter into a contract with BSB Communications for the 
replacement of the voicemail system on our Mitel phone system at a cost of $56,148.80. The motion 
passed with a unanimous vote of those present. 

123



Northwestern Michigan College  September 27, 2021 
 
 

4 
 

Drone Purchase--On a motion by Kennard Weaver, seconded by Laura Oblinger, the Board 
authorized administration to purchase a DJI Matrice 300 RTK Combo (drone) from Unmanned 
Vehicle Technologies (UVT) for the purchase price of $55,141. In response to a question, Jason 
Slade, Dir of Technical Division, described the size and capabilities of the drone, noting the 
technical aspects of the drone are the greatest expense and fulfill the commercial needs (advanced 
payloads). The motion passed with a unanimous vote of those present. 

REVIEW OF FOLLOW-UP REQUESTS—Confirmed requests made by the Board that require 
administrative follow-up for information to be provided to the Board at a later date. 
 
ADJOURNMENT—The meeting adjourned at 7:51 p.m.  
 
Recorded by Lynne Moritz, Executive Director of the President’s Office and Board Operations. 
 
 
 
SIGNED______________________________________________________________________  

Chris M. Bott, Chair 
 
 
ATTESTED____________________________________________________________________ 

Kenneth E. Warner, Secretary 
 
 
 
 

124



1 
 

  
 
 
 
 

FY 2023 
FIVE YEAR 

CAPITAL OUTLAY PLAN 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

NORTHWESTERN MICHIGAN COLLEGE 
1701 East Front Street 

Traverse City, Michigan  49686 
 
 

Submit to the  
NMC Board of Trustees on October 25, 2021 

 
Questions should be directed to: 

Troy Kierczynski 
Vice President of Finance and Administration 

231-995-1147 
     

125



Northwestern Michigan College 
Budget Letter – Capital Outlay 

Overview / Project 

Section I – Mission Statement 

Section II – Instructional Programming 

Appendix A Programs of Study (NMC Catalog) 

Appendix B Initiatives Impacting Facilities Usage 

Appendix C Socioeconomic Benefits 

Section III – Staffing and Enrollment 

Appendix D Current Enrollment Report Fall 2021 

Appendix E Five Year Enrollment Patterns by Program  

Appendix F Faculty/Staff Headcount History 

Appendix G Class Size & Projected Class Size Needs - Course Efficiency Report 

Section IV – Facility Assessment 

Appendix H Summary description of each facility (net to gross ratios) 

Appendix I Building and/or Classroom Utilization Rates 

Appendix J Functionality of Existing Structures (Space Allocation) 

Appendix K Replacement Value - Appraisal of Buildings  

Appendix L Map of Parking and Roads 

Appendix M Energy Audit Report 

Appendix N Land Inventory 

Section V – Implementation Plan 

Appendix O FCAP Schedule 

126



 
 
 
 

Overview 
 
  

127



3 
 

 
NORTHWESTERN MICHIGAN COLLEGE 
FIVE-YEAR CAPITAL OUTLAY PLAN 

 
OVERVIEW 

 
Northwestern Michigan College (NMC) is a comprehensive community college founded in 1951 
and located in Traverse City, Michigan.  
 
It provides programming at five principal sites in Traverse City. The major campus facilities are 
found at the: 

● Main campus located at 1701 East Front Street 
● Great Lakes Campus located at the base of West Grand Traverse Bay 
● Aero Park campus located in the Traverse City airport industrial park 
● University Center campus located on South Cass Street in Traverse City 
● Rogers Observatory site located in Garfield Township 

 
To meet our mission, we are engaged in the following purposes: 

● Associate degree, certificate and transfer education in liberal arts and sciences, and 
occupational studies 

● Career/occupational education and workforce development 
● Bachelor degrees in select programs 
● Cultural and personal enrichment 
● Baccalaureate and graduate program facilitation 
● Regional economic development 

  
The delivery of these programs leads to the: 

● Bachelors of Science Degree in Maritime Technology 
● Associate in Science and Arts degree 
● Associate in Applied Science degree 
● Associate in General Studies 
● Associate Degree in Nursing 
● Career Certificates 
● Skills Training 
● Lifelong Learning opportunities 
● Cultural Enrichment 
● Economic Development 
● Merchant Marine Officer's licenses valid for service on the Great Lakes and oceans 

 
 

 

 

 

128



4 
 

I. – Mission Statement 

Northwestern Michigan College was the first comprehensive community college chartered in the 
State of Michigan. Since its founding in 1951, NMC has provided quality, affordable access to 
higher education for learners of all ages and backgrounds. NMC is integrally woven into the 
economic, social and cultural fabric of the region, providing leadership and support for key 
initiatives that shape our communities and prepare our learners for rich and meaningful lives.  
 

Mission 
 

Northwestern Michigan College provides lifelong learning opportunities to our communities. 
 

Vision 
 

NMC will be the resource of choice for higher education, lifelong learning and cultural 
experiences. NMC will be an essential contributor to quality of life and a vibrant economy. We 
will demonstrate collaborative and inventive approaches to education and training for liberal 
studies, careers, interests and emerging learner markets. 
 

Values 
 

Our individual and collective efforts create the legacy of NMC. In order to achieve our 

mission, we are individually committed and responsible to live these values:  
● Learning is at the center of all we strive to achieve. It is the foundation upon which an 

enlightened citizenry and a dynamic community are built and is a lifelong process in 
which we are all engaged.  

● We will continuously improve the learning experience and its global relevance to those 
we serve through innovation, agility and thoughtful risk-taking. 

 
Our actions are governed by the highest degree of ethics, integrity and personal responsibility, 
exhibited through transparency, openness and trust. 
 
We each will practice responsible stewardship for the human, physical, financial and 
environmental resources entrusted to our care.  
 
Each of us will strive to exceed expectations for quality and service in all that we do. 
 
We value all people and will invest in their personal and professional growth and development. 
 
We will exhibit foresight by monitoring the changing world around us and taking actions today 
that prepare us to meet future needs of our communities.  
 
We will seek others who share our vision and values, and collaborate with them on behalf of 
our communities. 

 
 
 

129



5 
 

Purposes 
 
To meet our mission, we are fully engaged in each of the following purposes with the result that 
our learners meet their goal(s) of being college ready, transfer ready, career ready and lifelong-
learning ready.  

● Associate degree, certificate and transfer education in liberal arts and sciences, and 
occupational studies 

● Career/occupational education and workforce development 
● Bachelor degrees in select programs 
● Cultural and personal enrichment 
● Baccalaureate and graduate program facilitation 
● Regional economic development 

 
Current Strategic Directions and Capacities 

 
In order to accomplish NMC’s stated Mission, Vision, and Purposes, organizational activities 
focus on achieving the following strategic directions and demonstrating competence in 
Institutional Effectiveness Criteria. 
 

Strategic Directions 
 

1. Ensure that NMC learners are prepared for success in a global society and economy. 
2. Establish national and international competencies and provide leadership in select 

educational areas connected to the regional economy and assets. 
3. Deliver learning through a networked workforce. 
4. Establish lifelong relationships with learners. 
5. Transcribe most learning to establish credentials of value. 

 
Institutional Effectiveness Criteria 

College Policy C-104.00 
 

1. Learning 
a. Scholarship:  NMC promotes the acquisition of knowledge, skills, and attitudes 

that all students need to function effectively in a changing world through 
outstanding academic programs recognized for their regional and national level 
competencies. NMC is committed to helping students acquire the ability to 
communicate effectively, to think critically, and to be aware of diversity in our 
world. The scholarship criterion measures the effectiveness of how well NMC 
prepares students for success in the workplace related to their chosen field and the 
extent to which NMC provides credible transfer and articulation programs for 
those students who choose to continue their education at other colleges and 
universities. Furthermore, in support of our open access philosophy, NMC 
encourages the academic success of under-prepared college students in their 
pursuit of basic educational skills and abilities. 

130



6 
 

 
b. Enrichment: NMC provides lifelong learning opportunities to regional residents 

by offering quality educational opportunities for all ages. Programs are designed 
to be flexible, convenient, and responsive to the needs of the community. 
Moreover, NMC is committed to enriching and broadening the knowledge base 
and cultural life of the community. It does so by offering a wide range of 
programs and curricula that emphasize continuing education, skill enhancement, 
professional development, and cultural and personal enrichment.  The enrichment 
criteria measures how effectively NMC performs in responding to the 
community's learning needs in those areas. 

c. Workforce:  NMC is a significant contributor to regional economic development. 
The College supports economic development by providing programs responsive 
to key economic drivers and in support of business and partnership needs. NMC is 
committed to working collaboratively with community agencies, assessing the 
economic climate, and providing excellent and reputable training and services. 
The workforce criterion assesses how well NMC serves in this capacity. 

2. Organization 
a. Partnership:  NMC develops and maintains collaborative relationships with the 

communities it serves to create a learning-centered College that meets the needs 
of its students and stakeholders. To this end, NMC effectively communicates with 
its communities. It successfully raises resources to support strategic initiatives. 
NMC develops meaningful relationships with partners in seeking out potential 
areas for improvement. The partnership criteria assesses the extent to which NMC 
effectively builds relationships with educational institutions, businesses, service 
organizations, external agencies, alumni and the general community to fulfill its 
mission. 

b. Operations:  NMC conducts College operations in a manner reflecting the highest 
standards of business and professional ethics, legal compliance, and 
accountability to the public trust. College leaders guide the institution in 
establishing and accomplishing institutional directions and action plans and in 
seeking opportunities to build and sustain an effective learning environment. 
NMC promotes a goals and outcomes related culture by collecting and using data 
to responsibly manage its operations and to continuously improve. 

c. Champion:  NMC is committed to supporting (championing) students in a 
learning-centered environment. NMC seeks to understand student and stakeholder 
needs and expectations through a variety of methods. NMC provides quality 
academic and support services with the goal of meeting students’ needs in an 
environment of continuous improvement. The champion criterion evaluates how 
well NMC understands its students’ and stakeholders’ needs as well as how well 
it supports those needs. 

d. Culture:  NMC fosters a work environment that reflects the College's values and 
leads to an effective work culture. NMC is committed to the development of the 
talents and continuous learning of all its faculty, staff, and administrators. NMC 
manages its employees through effective personnel processes.   

 
 

131



7 
 

II. Instructional Programming                    
 
As part of our capital outlay planning process it is important to recognize both our current 
academic programs and major academic initiatives that could have an impact on facilities and its 
infrastructure.   The following section addresses current academic programming and future 
growth. 
 
At NMC, you'll find more than 60 areas of academic study, all of which feature dedicated 
faculty, small classes and personal attention. NMC offers transfer courses, Bachelor’s degrees in 
select areas, two-year associate degrees and professional certificates, with access to BA and 
advanced degrees through our University Center. We also offer online learning options.  
                                  
II-A.  Describe existing academic programs and projected programming changes in the 

next 5 years in so far as academic programs are affected by specific structural 
considerations (i.e. laboratories, classrooms, current and future distance learning 
initiatives, etc.)                                                                                             

 
The executive staff evaluated the proposed projects that were included in the 2012 campus 
master plan study.  The college is in the final stages of completing those priorities. As a starting 
point, the framing assumptions were part of the discussion. In addition to the framing 
assumptions, we evaluated the projects based on: 
 
1. The 5 strategic directions/or continuous improvement.  
2. Was there data to demonstrate an immediate or future need? 
3. Was there a business model that demonstrated financial thriveability? 
4. Evaluate the project on the basis of the 8 prioritization criteria (listed in the table). 
The table below evaluates the projects that have met the first three above criteria and at least one 
of the eight prioritization criteria.                                                                       
 

Project 

Support 
Strategic 

Plan 

Meet 
current 
capacity 

need 

Create 
excess 

capacity/ 
undefined 

growth 
Safety 
issue 

Meet 
planned for 

capacity 
requirement Cosmetic 

Learner 
expectation 

Time 
sensitivity 

Osterlin x x x x x x x x 
Aviation Hangar x x x x  x x x 
Energy Infrastr. x x x x  x  x 
Founder’s Hall x x x  x  x  
Physical Ed x x    x x  
UC Driveway    x     

 
Project                               Total Cost                . 
Integrated Student Services Hub (Osterlin Building renovation)     $   4.5 million 
Aviation Hangar (expansion) $   1.5 million 
Energy Infrastructure Upgrade (geothermal, multi-building)          $ 12.0 million 
 Founders Hall renovation $   4.0 million 
 Physical Education Building (renovation) $   8.2 million 
UC Driveway  $  326 thousand 

132

https://www.nmc.edu/uc/index.html
https://www.nmc.edu/programs/online-programs/index.html


8 
 

 
In addition to these facility building projects, we see continued need for investment in 
technology to support the changing environment of learning. During FY 21, the college invested 
$350,000 to expand wireless infrastructure, ensuring students would have access to the internet 
in all areas of the college and creating more flexibility for students to connect anywhere on our 
campuses. The College also invested $500,000 in an upgraded firewall to enhance its 
cybersecurity infrastructure.  
 
Safety and security upgrades have been completed in the last three years. The college installed 
remote door access in all of our buildings.  This investment allows for NMC security to lock 
down buildings remotely.  Additional cameras have been installed on all campuses for the safety 
and security of our students, employees and visitors.   
 
Section II, Appendix A, provides a link to NMC’s complete catalog for 2019-2020. 
Academic programs offered during the 2019-2020 academic year are listed below.  
 

Bachelor of Science Degree in Maritime Technology 
Emphasis in: 

 
● Marine Technology 
● Maritime, Deck Officer 
● Maritime, Engine Officer 
● Power Systems 

 
Associate in Science and Arts (ASA) Degree 

Emphasis in: 

● Accounting ● Engineering ● Political Science 

● Art ● English ● Pre-Law 

● Biology ● Freshwater Studies ● Pre-Medical 

● Business Administration ● Geography ● Psychology 

● Chemistry ● History ● Social Sciences 

● Communications ● Liberal Arts/Science ● Surveying 

● Criminal Justice ● Mathematics ● Visual Communications 

● Early Childhood Education  ● Performing Arts ● World Languages 

● Economics  ● Philosophy/Religion  

 ● Physical Sciences  

 

133



9 
 

 
 
 

Associate in Applied Science (AAS) Degree 
Programs in: 

● Accounting 
● Audio Technology  
● Automotive Service 

Technology 
● Business Administration 
● Computer Information 

Technology-Developer 
● Computer Information 

Technology-Infrastructure 
● Construction Management 
● Construction Technology 

o Electrical  
o HVAC/R  

● Culinary Arts/Sales 
● Dental Assistant 
● Early Childhood Education 
● Engineering Technology 
● Freshwater Studies 
● Law Enforcement 
● Manufacturing Technology 
● Paramedic 
● Plant Science 

o Fruit & Vegetable Crop 
Production 

o Landscape Management  
o Viticulture 

 
 

● Renewable Energy 
o Electrical  
o HVAC/R 

● Surgical Technology 
● Technical Management 

Administration 
● Visual Communications 
● Visual Communications-

Creative Management in Art 
Direction 

● Welding Technology 

 
 

Associate Degree in Nursing (ADN) 
 

 
Associate in General Studies (AGS) 

 

 
 

Certificates of Achievement 
 
● Accounting 
● Administrative Support 

Specialist 
● Audio Tech I & II 
● Automotive 

o Electrical & 
Drivability Specialist 

o Hybrid Tech Specialist 
o Master Automotive 

Technician 
o Under Car Specialist 
o  

● Computer Information Technology 
o Developer I, III 
o Infrastructure Specialist I, II, III 
o Office Applications Specialist 
o Computer Support Specialist 
o Web Developer I, II, III 

● Construction Technology 
o Carpentry Technology 
o Electrical Technology 
o Facilities Maintenance 
o HVAC/R Technology 
o Programmable Logic Controllers 

 

● Culinary Arts 
● Culinary Arts, Baking 

Concentration 
● Dental Assistant 
● Early Childhood 

Education 
● Engineering  
● Entrepreneurship I, II 
● Practical Nursing 
● Welding Technology I, II 

 
New and Projected Programming Changes  

NMC’s programmatic changes are influenced by the following factors: 
● Improving the success rate of its learners  
● Meeting the needs of its communities 

134



10 
 

● Contributing to the economic development of the region 
● Ensuring the fiscal stability of the College 

 
New Certificates and Programs - Last Six Years 

Northwestern Michigan College developed new associate degree programs and a new bachelor 
of science degree in six program areas during the past five years:  

● Audio Technology 
● Engineering Technology 
● Paramedic 
● Surgical Technology 
● Water Studies 
● Marine Technology 

 
The following certificates were approved in the past five years: 

● Computer Information Technology – Developer I & II 
● Early Childhood Care – Infant/Toddler & Preschool 
● Programmable Logic Controllers 
● Carpentry Technology – Level II 

 
Health Education                                                                                 
Also supporting the health care industry, NMC has continued to expand the activities offered 
under the Health Education Institute (HEI), a collaborative effort between Munson Health Care 
(MHC) and NMC. HEI coordinates continuing professional development based on the prioritized 
learning needs as identified by managers and administrative staff. HEI facilitates delivery of 
training programs, certificates, or degree options based on strategic need. Since 2006, HEI has 
coordinated the design and delivery of community learning opportunities that make MHC 
content experts available through NMC’s Extended Educational Services (40,000 household 
outreach capability). In 2011, NMC expanded collaboration with Michigan State University’s 
College of Human Medicine to facilitate a community lecture series in collaboration with the 
Family Medicine Residency program hosted at Munson Medical Center. The series provides 
highlights from current medical research projects of topical interest.  In 2015, NMC has 
prioritized the relationship with MHC by fast-tracking new degree programs such as EMT and 
Surgical Technology, and, through initiation of a joint visioning approach to establish regional 
assets for simulation training for new and incumbent healthcare workers. 
 
Building on this partnership with Michigan State University (MSU) and Munson Healthcare, 
NMC established the NMC/MSU Early Assurance Program in August 2015 whereby at least one 
NMC student will have an enhanced opportunity for admission to medical school for premedical 
students who are interested in practicing in an underserved area of medicine. This enrichment 
program will be open to all premedical students at NMC.  It will include seminars and 
workshops, special advising, and other extracurricular activities that will strengthen student 
candidacy for medical school at MSU. 
 
Great Lakes Maritime Academy                                                           
Established in 1969, the Great Lakes Maritime Academy (GLMA) is one of only seven federally 
regulated maritime academies in the United States. Since inception, GLMA has successfully 

135



11 
 

prepared cadets for service as Officers in the United States Merchant Marine. Beginning in 2002 
GLMA cadets had the option of earning a merchant marine officers license valid for Great Lakes 
and ocean service.  With the advent of the Bachelor’s Degree in Marine Transportation, the 
course work required for earning a license valid for ocean service was built into the model 
schedule.  Therefore, all cadets now earn a license valid for ocean and Great Lakes service.  
GLMA is the only program where Great Lakes Pilotage and the required coursework for earning 
an ocean license are built into the curriculum. 
 
In August 2002, the U. S. Maritime Administration (MARAD), at the request of Michigan’s 
Governor, transferred operation of the USNS Persistent (T-AGOS-6) to GLMA where she was 
rechristened the T/S State of Michigan. Since that time the vessel has been an integral part of the 
Academy's training program. Beginning in 2016 GLMA began to hold two annual training 
cruises.  This ensures all cadets have an avenue to obtain requisite sea service.  In the summer of 
2019 the Academy held one 75 day cruise. This longer cruise was created to help ensure 
retention and completion. 
 
The following are just a few examples of the value the T/S State of Michigan has added to the 
program: 

● GLMA has been able to ensure the curriculum meets both the U.S. law as described in 46 
Code of Federal regulations, and also be in full compliance with the complex 
international treaty Standards for Training, Certification and Watchkeeping for Seafarers 
(STCW Code). 

● By having cadets complete their first sea project on the T/S State of Michigan, they are 
fully versed in shipboard culture prior to being assigned a berth on a commercial vessel 
as part of subsequent sea project (cadets must complete three sea projects). This has 
greatly improved retention. 

● The T/S State of Michigan serves as a dockside laboratory for courses of instruction in 
diesel engines, shipboard auxiliary systems, air conditioning and refrigeration, 
firefighting and damage control, stability, and navigation, just to name a few. 
Interdisciplinary uses of the ship being studied include collaboration with the Great Lakes 
Culinary Institute (GLCI). These collaborations have resulted in several graduates from 
GLCI earning Merchant Marine Credentials in addition to their Associate's degree, thus 
greatly expanding employment opportunities. 

● Having the use of the training ship ensures that GLMA will be able to accrue requisite 
sea service required for graduation and licensure. 

 
The Michigan Legislature passed House Bill 4496 enabling Michigan community colleges to 
offer a select number of baccalaureate degrees, among them a Bachelor of Science degree in 
Maritime Technology on December 13, 2012. The Governor signed the bill into law on 
December 27, 2012. 
 
 
In April 2013, the NMC Board of Trustees authorized the college to offer the Bachelor of 
Science degree in Maritime Technology program and supported the administration to seek 
approval of the Higher Learning Commission to authorize the college to offer the degree. 
 

136



12 
 

In February 2019, the United States Coast Guard reapproved the Academy’s programs. It is now 
approved through February 2023,and certified as meeting the requirements of the international 
treaty STCW Code. This includes the most recent amendment to the STCW Code.  
 
In November 2013, the Higher Learning Commission authorized Northwestern Michigan 
College to award the Bachelor’s Degree in Maritime Technology. In January 2014, Northwestern 
Michigan College became the first community college in Michigan to award a bachelor’s degree. 
The degrees were awarded to GLMA cadets. Since that time, 174 cadets have received a 
bachelor’s degree from NMC. This number includes greater than 75 GLMA alumni who have 
earned their Bachelor’s Degree in Maritime Technology through the use of a prior learning 
system process which awarded academic credit based upon upper division merchant marine 
license exams and other completed coursework. 
 
 
II-B.  Identify the unique characteristics of each institution’s academic mission.  
Northwestern Michigan College is recognized by members of its service district and various 
accrediting agencies for unique characteristics and special programming that are a part of the 
fabric of the college.  
 
These include:  
Aviation Pilot Training Program International Partnerships  
Unmanned Aerial Training Joseph H. Rogers Observatory  
Aero Park Laboratories Lean Consortium  
Audio Technology Math Center  
Center for Instructional Excellence Michigan Energy Demonstration Center  
Childcare Center Military and Veteran Services  
Commitment Scholarship Program NMC Foundation  
Construction Technology Program On-Campus Residence Life Opportunity  
Dennos Museum Center (DMC) Online Nursing  
Early Colleges Outdoor Sculpture Collection  
Electronics Technology Phi Theta Kappa 
Entrepreneurial Studies Remote Operated Vehicle Training (Marine) 
Extended Educational Services Service Learning 
Global Endorsement Student Success Center 
Great Lakes Culinary Institute Training Services 
Great Lakes Maritime Academy Tutoring Center 
Great Lakes Water Studies Institute University Center 
Health Education Institute Writing and Reading Center 
International Affairs Forum  
International Services   
 
 

WNMC-FM Radio Station 

Below are brief descriptions for some of these unique characteristics and special programs. 
 
Aviation Division                                                        

137



13 
 

Established in 1967, Northwestern Michigan College has a proven background in delivering safe 
and effective flight training to generations of pilots.  Today, the Aviation Division operates an 
FAA approved Part 141 training facility, has established exclusive training agreements with (5) 
international universities to provide flight training in Traverse City, and offers extensive hands-
on training on several different Unmanned Aerial Systems platforms. 
 
The professional pilot program currently operates at maximum student capacity, training 100 full 
time students in a diverse fleet of 17 aircraft valued at more than $5 million.   
Between 2012 and 2018, the Aviation Division has established numerous hiring partnerships 
with regional airlines, allowing graduates direct routes to employment opportunities.   
 
In 2011, the Aviation Division launched Michigan’s first Unmanned Aerial Systems (UAS) 
program, with focus on preparing UAS operators to meet the needs of a rapidly growing 
industry.  In 2015, NMC was named one of the 15 Best Drone Training Colleges in America and 
was the only community college listed in the top 10. 
 
One of the 2015 recipients of the Community College Skilled Trades Equipment Fund 
(CCSTEF), the UAS Department now maintains a fleet of commercial-grade unmanned aircraft 
designed to meet the training and experience demands of today’s (and tomorrow’s) employers.  
 
Great Lakes Maritime Academy                                                 
Established in 1969, the Great Lakes Maritime Academy (GLMA) is one of only seven maritime 
academies in the United States that is federally regulated under 46 Code of Federal Regulations 
310.  These regulations allow for a holistic approach which allows GLMA to accept a cadet with 
no prior seagoing experience and within four years he or she can complete both a bachelor’s 
degree and earn a merchant mariner’s credential valid for service on large tonnage vessels which 
are in ocean or Great Lakes service. 
 
All GLMA cadets must complete one course in Naval Science which is delivered by active duty 
Naval personnel.  Those cadets that are accepted into the U.S. Navy’s Strategic Sealift Officer’s 
program complete an additional two classes in Naval Science, earn a commission as a Naval 
Officer, and are awarded $32,000, by the U.S. Navy, over the course of their four years at the 
academy.   
 
In August 2002 the U. S. Maritime Administration (MARAD), at the request of Michigan’s 
Governor, transferred operation of the USNS Persistent (T-AGOS-6) to GLMA where she was 
rechristened the T/S State of Michigan.  Since that time the vessel has been an integral part of the 
Academy's training program. In 2018 GLMA conducted two training cruises for the third 
consecutive year.  The vessel was underway from 07 May 2018 through 08 August 2018.  In 
addition to providing training for GLMA and Massachusetts Maritime Academy cadets, the 
vessel carried three GLCI interns and for the first time an NMC instructor who was not part of 
the GLMA faculty.  As previously noted, in 2019 GLMA held one 75 day cruise. GLMA did not 
carry cadets from other academies, but the transition will ensure all cadets earn pilotage and 
assist with retention and completion. Lakes and ocean shipping companies now routinely request 
to speak with the GLCI interns who sailed with GLMA.  Additionally, carrying an NMC faculty 
member allowed nine GLMA cadets to complete three General Education credits, thus assisting 

138



14 
 

GLMA in meeting its retention and completion goals.  There are currently 47 GLMA cadets on 
track to graduate in 2020.  This will be the one of the largest GLMA graduating class in over 30 
years. 
  
In November 2013, NMC was granted authorization to award GLMA cadets a bachelor’s degree.  
The GLMA program of study was the first academic program, in a Michigan community college 
to offer a bachelor’s degree.  All GLMA cadets are now enrolled in the bachelor’s degree 
program.  Federal regulation contained in 46 U.S. Code 51506 requires a cadet complete both a 
degree and merchant mariner credential examinations.  GLMA cadets must earn both.  They 
cannot be issued a credential if they do not complete degree requirements; they cannot be issued 
a diploma if they do not successfully complete their merchant mariner credential exams. 
 
Great Lakes Water Studies Institute                      
The Great Lakes Water Studies Institute (GLWSI), located on the Great Lakes campus, delivers 
programs and conducts research directly related to the area's most important natural resource. 
Students may focus on multiple areas of water studies including management, policy, business 
and science, or may focus in marine technology including applied technical work in support of 
the marine industries involving the calibration, deployment, operation, maintenance, and 
management of marine technology assets, including data collection, processing and mapping, for 
use in the marine environment both offshore and onshore.   
 
In fall 2015, the GLWSI officially launched NMC’s third Bachelors of Science in Maritime 
Technology major in the area of Marine Technology.  This program is unique to the United 
States and one of the only in the world and builds directly on the Engineering Technology AAS 
marine specialty.  Specific training emphasis includes remotely operated vehicles and marine 
platforms, marine acoustics and sonar, marine data processing and project management.  
Multiple industry collaborations allow graduates a broad range of career opportunities.   The 
Great Lakes Water Studies Institute also offers professional development opportunities in sonar 
training for industry and government partners.  Beginning in 2015, ROV training at NMC will be 
certified through the Association of Diving Contractors International (ADCI). 
 
The Great Lakes Campus site includes a water analysis laboratory for student experiments/labs, 
qualified environmental research organizations and university partners. Students work aboard the 
56 foot R/V Northwestern or the 21 foot R/V Hawk Owl in Grand Traverse Bay, Lake Michigan 
or the inland waters of Michigan.  The Great Lakes campus harbor also serves as a year round 
laboratory where training occurs from NMC’s pier.  The GLWSI is also home to two advanced 
Remotely Operated Vehicle systems, multiple sonar systems, advanced GPS and water quality 
sampling equipment.  Additionally, there is a 60,000 gallon indoor training tank located at 
NMC’s Aeropark campus for year round, climate controlled operations. 
 
In 2014, collaboration with Western Michigan University (WMU) led to the joint development 
of a bachelor's degree completion program in Freshwater Science and Sustainability, currently 
offered through the NMC's University Center and delivered entirely at Northwestern Michigan 
College in Traverse City. This degree is the first of its kind in the United States.  
In September 2015, Northwestern Michigan College officially started delivery of the third 
Bachelor’s Degree in Maritime Technology major in Marine Technology. 

139



15 
 

The GLWSI is involved in multiple Great Lakes research projects with university and 
government partners and also collaborates globally with multiple institutions in many areas of 
water and the marine environment.  MOU’s with institutions in China and also Costa Rica have 
generated additional water opportunities.  The partnership with Costa Rica has resulted in 
multiple internships, faculty exchanges and collaborative research projects.  
 
Great Lakes Culinary Institute                             
This program provides rigorous and concentrated study for those students who plan careers in the 
rapidly growing food service industry.  The program’s main emphasis is to prepare students for 
positions as entry-level chefs and kitchen managers.  Consideration is given to the science and 
techniques associated with the selection, preparation and serving of foods to large and small 
groups.  Students further develop their knowledge of food and guest service through internships 
at area restaurants, hotels and resorts.  The program includes an Institute-run training restaurant, 
Lobdell’s, which greatly enhances the level of restaurant experience of graduates. The facility 
provides five kitchen "laboratories" including Lobdell's, a training restaurant, which is a critical 
component of a top quality culinary program. 
  
The GLCI is also pursuing collaboration with other learning opportunities. In an effort to 
enhance student retention, culinary certificate programs have been implemented. For years, the 
Culinary Institute has provided lifelong learning and professional development offerings in 
collaboration with other areas of the College. The expanded facilities, with its lakefront location, 
have been leveraged to create world-class food and wine events, open to the public. All events 
have served to showcase Michigan agricultural and value added agricultural products. 
  
The American Culinary Federation Education Foundation Accrediting Commission 
accredits Great Lakes Culinary Institute programs, one of only approximately 400 such schools 
to receive this program accreditation in the United States. In 2018, the Great Lakes Culinary 
Institute received a five-year program accreditation by the American Culinary 
Federation Education Foundation.  Upon completion of the Great Lakes Culinary Institute 
program, students are eligible for certification through the American Culinary Federation. 
 
Agribusiness                                                                     
Agriculture and viticulture are significant parts of the region’s economy, eco-structure and 
quality of life. Since 2001, the Great Lakes Culinary Institute has emphasized the relationship 
between the hospitality industry and local agribusiness by a special focus on local foods, and by 
serving as a regional leader modeling recycling and reprocessing of food waste. This year, NMC 
has begun the redevelopment of specialty programming within its associate degree program in 
Applied Plant Science, a program delivered in conjunction with the Institute of Agricultural 
Technology of Michigan State University’s College of Agriculture, Natural Resources and 
Recreation. Distinctive of this partnership is a new staff specialist position jointly funded by both 
institutions to provide continuity between the specialty courses (MSU) and the field experiences 
and general education courses (NMC).  In 2016, a joint research project partnered NMC UAS, 
Leelanau County Horticulture research station, and private growers supporting a student-based 
application for early diagnosis of Cherry Leaf Spot.   
 
Science and Mathematics Curriculum On-line 

140



16 
 

Since fiscal year 2005, NMC has offered the Associate in Science and Arts Degree in the online 
format.  This was made possible by putting our high-demand Physics and Chemistry courses in 
the online hybrid format. Students take their didactic coursework online and visit the campus on 
alternating weekends or one evening per week to complete their laboratory work in our state-of-
the-art facility, the Health and Science Building. More importantly, our five most popular 
Biology courses, including the year-long Anatomy and Physiology sequence, are all offered 
entirely online including the laboratory portion of the courses. We have also put additional 
courses in Mathematics, including Intermediate Algebra, College Algebra, and Probability and 
Statistics, online. 
 
Construction Technology                                                               
During the 2009-2010 academic year, NMC received authorization to offer four new level I 
certificates and one AAS degree in Construction Trades.  These certificates include HVAC/R 
installation and service, Electrical, Plumbing and Carpentry.  For students that complete any one 
of these four certificates, we have developed appropriate construction trades courses to 
customize their degree requirements for the remainder of the trades courses and infuse the 
required general education courses to achieve the sixty four credits required to complete an AAS 
degree.  Students in this program have the option to include a specialization in renewable energy 
with options in residential and light commercial solar PV, solar thermal, wind installation, 
including both net-metered and independent installations.  A certificate in Programmable Logic 
Controls (PLC) has been developed and available to students Fall 2014. 
 
Engineering Technology                                      
In 2011, a new associate degree in Engineering Technology offers students a broad-based 
curriculum across all areas of technical education, preparing the graduates for emerging job 
markets and highly technical fields. The program is designed to allow students to focus on areas 
of interest or specialize in one of seven technical specializations: Computers, Electronics, 
Photonics, Marine, Robotics & Automation, Unmanned Aerial Systems, and Unmanned Ground 
Vehicles. In 2018, a new specialization was added to the degree pathway this is focused on 
Biomedical Equipment Technologies.  Partnering with Leica Geosystems, an AAS degree in 
Surveying was added in 2019 to serve the growing demand for surveying technicians in the 
region.  
 
Engineering technology education focuses primarily on the applied aspects of science and 
engineering aimed at preparing graduates for practice in that portion of the technological 
spectrum closest to product improvement, manufacturing, robotics, unmanned systems, and 
engineering operational functions. 
  
Parson-Stulen Building                                                   
In 2015 Northwestern Michigan College was awarded a $2.8MM grant from the State of 
Michigan in support of the Community College Skilled trades Program Fund (CCSTEP). $2.1 
MM dollars from the grant was used to purchase equipment and renovate facilities in support of 
the Colleges Engineering Technology, Marine Technology and Computer Technology programs. 
This included an advanced electronics lab and marine technology, 60,000 gallon indoor test tank, 
a state of the art remote operated vehicles, three unmanned aerial platform and flight simulators. 
 

141



17 
 

 
Aero-Park Laboratories                                                                   
In 2011, NMC opened the Aero-Park Laboratories (APL) building at the Aero-Park Campus as a 
companion facility housing laboratories for construction technology, renewable energy, 
engineering technology and welding.  APL is a 29,600 sq. ft. facility which allows a variety of 
configurations to accommodate large group lectures as well as individualized student space or 
small team project areas.  The facility is LEED certified and equipped to support a high level of 
instructional technology requirements and welding facilities. 
 
Audio Technology                                                                         
An associate program in applied audio technology /technician was approved in July 2012 to meet 
the needs of students entering the recording, editing, and live music engineering specializations 
of the music industry.  At the core of the degree program are Logic-Pro certifications offered 
through Apple, Inc.  NMC’s program has certified instructors, and is certified by Apple, Inc. as a 
Logic-Pro training center.  NMC’s program is one of two Apple, Inc. certified programs in 
Michigan.  The audio technology laboratory facility includes the only Raven simulation sound 
board in use by an academic program in North America as of this writing. 
 
Commitment Scholarship Program  
The NMC Commitment Scholarship Program was developed to encourage academically 
promising students with financial need to successfully complete high school and enter college.  
The program began in 1993, and has included over 1,000 first-generation college students from 
19 participating high schools.  Each fall, 40-50 new students are inducted from the region to 
engage in activities that support successful educational attainment.   The students, in partnership 
with the parents and high schools, commit to regular participation in the program activities, 
demonstration of good citizenship, and completion of high school with a minimum of a 2.5 grade 
point average.  
 
NMC Math Center                                                               
The Math Center is a drop-in tutoring resource to help students with all NMC math classes, from 
Pre-Algebra through Calculus III and Differential Equations.  Math Center employees are tutors 
and instructors who are equipped to help students with homework and general math skills.  
Students come to the Math Center with specific questions about class lectures or assignments, or 
to work with classmates.  Many students complete homework assignments in the Math Center so 
they can review their answers with Math Center employees and receive tutoring as needed. 
 
NMC Writing and Reading Center                                        
The NMC Writing and Reading Center is a unique service dedicated to helping students become 
better and more confident readers and writers.  Students can, at no charge, receive assistance 
from the Center at all stages of the writing process and have their work reviewed by a trained and 
experienced reader. They can also receive guidance in critical reading strategies.   
Since employers demand solid communication skills, the NMC Writing and Reading Center 
helps students prepare for their futures by showing them what it takes to become effective 
readers and writers.  The best students at NMC often wind up working as Writing and Reading 
Center readers, allowing them to share their knowledge and experience with others, while 
continuing the rich tradition of service for which the NMC Writing and Reading Center is 

142



18 
 

known.   
 
On-Campus Residence Life Opportunities                                   
The Residence Hall Living/Learning program at NMC is one of six residence hall programs 
offered at the community college level in Michigan.  Student and professional staff provide peer 
social programs, educational seminars, and community service opportunities.  The Residence 
Halls are alcohol/drug free zones except for designated suites in North Hall where all residents 
are over 21 and agree to special restrictions.  Affordable housing is limited in the Traverse City 
area which is reflected in our growth in the number of students living in the halls and apartments 
in the past several years.  Having reached capacity in three consecutive years, the college opened 
a new residence Hall in August of 2017 expanding overall capacity to 370.  There are also 36 
apartments on NMC’s main campus which are consistently full with a waiting list.  
 
Extended Educational Services                                               
Providing opportunities for lifelong learning is the mission of Extended Educational Services. 
Extended Educational Services (EES) offers over 700 continuing education and non-credit 
courses for all ages.  Continuing Education Certificate programs available include: Northern 
Naturalist Program, Mobile Marketing Certificate, Small Business Entrepreneur Certificate, 
Certified Nurse Assistant, and the International Affairs Forum.  Of note is the College for Kids 
catalog and the Life Academy catalog for learners over 50. In 2015, Cheboygan and Kalkaska 
public libraries established cooperative programs for delivery of select non-credit  programs 
through EES. An innovation grant was awarded for a new project supporting a non-credit 
program for individuals on the autism spectrum. 
 
University Center                                                                     
The mission of NMC’s University Center is to facilitate the delivery of high quality programs 
and course offerings beyond the associate degree level to northwest Michigan as deemed 
desirable by the citizens of the region.  The University Center is a unique partnership between 
Northwestern Michigan College and eight participating universities. NMC offers associate’s 
degrees in over 50 liberal arts, health, business, and technical programs.  The partnering 
universities offer all courses required for the completion of the final two years of selected 
bachelor degree programs, complete master’s programs in selected areas, post-bachelor’s and 
graduate certificates, specialized endorsements, and two professional doctorates. University 
Center partners include: Central Michigan University, Davenport University, Ferris State 
University, Grand Valley State University, Michigan State University, and Western Michigan 
University.  

Global Endorsement                                                       
Beginning in the fall of 2014, the college developed a cross-curricular endorsement for students 
who complete a variety of curricular and extra-curricular experiences that are recorded on an 
official college transcript. In part funded by the NMC Global Opportunity Fund, students take 
coursework, attend the college's Window on the World Week, Passport Student Lecture Series, 
and International Affairs Forum and even travel to international educational sites to receive 
credit towards this endorsement. This effort is part of the college's strategic direction to "Ensure 
that NMC learners are prepared for success in a global society and economy." 
 

143



19 
 

 
Dennos Museum Center                                                    
The Dennos Museum Center at Northwestern Michigan College is the region’s premier cultural 
center offering programming in the visual and performing arts to the citizens of northwestern 
Michigan and tourists from the state and nation. Changing exhibitions are selected to provide a 
variety of experiences for our visitors with the added goal of offering thought-provoking and 
course related programming for students and instructors as part of the academic program 
whenever possible. The museum holds the College’s art collection which now consists of 
approximately 2,600 catalogued works of art, 1,600 of which comprise the College’s major 
collection of Inuit art, currently the largest and most historically complete collection in the 
United States. The museum also features a “hands on” interactive Discovery gallery for children 
and their families. The museum’s 367 seat Milliken auditorium offers an array of lectures, 
theater and performances year round. The auditorium provides performance space for NMC 
students and Music Department performing groups and presentation space for college events. 
The museum, which opened in 1991, is owned and operated by Northwestern Michigan College. 
Ground breaking for an addition to the museum occurred in August 2016.  The expansion opened 
to the public in January 2018, adding 14,545 square feet to the facility.  It includes five new 
galleries, a classroom and additional storage and support space.  The addition allows our 
academic programs to better integrate their course outcomes with the museum’s permanent art 
collection which is now exhibited in the new galleries.  The classroom provides space for 
instruction connected to collections, exhibitions and performances.  
 
Joseph H. Rogers Observatory                                                      
The primary function of the Northwestern Michigan College’s Joseph H. Rogers Observatory is 
to serve as the laboratory facility for NMC astronomy students.  It also provides educational 
opportunities for the community.  The 1,500 square foot building, with two observing domes, 
stands as an example of this area’s commitment to education.  Constructed completely with 
donated funds, the Observatory houses astronomical equipment utilized for both education and 
research.  The Observatory hosts Open Houses for the general public throughout the year with 
over 5,000 visitors annually.  The Joseph H. Rogers Observatory is one of fifteen sites in the 
National Network of Project ASTROTM , a K-12 science education outreach program, and one of 
three sites chosen to host Family ASTROTM.   
 
Great Lakes Professional Development Center                                    
The Great Lakes Campus is also home to the Great Lakes Professional Development Center, 
called the Hagerty Center. The Center provides a flexible, technology-equipped space to 
accommodate seminars, classes, and specialized training in support of all NMC programs. The 
site also serves as a venue for professional development seminars for regional, national, and 
international businesses. This enables NMC to increase its role in bringing new learning 
opportunities and new visitors to the region, thus providing economic growth and quality of life 
improvements. It also promotes further integration of programs within NMC, and enables NMC 
programs to draw on resources from outside the area to augment its own program offerings. 
 
 
Childcare Center                                                                                           
In the summer of 2014, NMC partnered with Munson Healthcare to open a childcare center at 

144



20 
 

the Oleson Center on NMC’s main campus. NMC is a member of the 5toOne Initiative of the 
Great Start Traverse Bay Collaborative which has been working to create a comprehensive 
regional system for early childhood development programs.   Munson Healthcare and Traverse 
Bay Area Intermediate School District (TBAISD) have also been included in these discussions 
and have been aware of our on-going concerns for NMC students as it relates to children’s 
educational services. By partnering with Head Start and GSRP students who qualify are able to 
access free quality preschool services.  
 
Key factors in this arrangement are two grant opportunities that provide a source of funding to 
pay for daycare services.   The two grants awarded by the State of Michigan and available 
through TBAISD are the Great Start Readiness Program and Headstart.  For students that do not 
qualify for one of these programs, the hourly rate is $3.50.   Munson allows families to call one 
week in advance to schedule time.   
 
II-C.  Identify other initiatives which may impact facilities usage.           
 
In the next five-year period, the College expects to significantly expand health occupations 
related programming. Continued growth in this area will require investment in additional 
simulation and teaching facilities.  As the College continues AQIP projects designed to increase 
persistence and credential completion, it is adding instructional support activities that have an 
impact on experiential and supplemental instructional space. Finally, the College is embedding 
within the curriculum a multi-disciplinary approach to learning that is desired by employers. 
These initiatives require large interactive space that can be reconfigured for multiple uses.  The 
college’s current buildings do not accommodate this demand and renovation and additions to 
existing college buildings is needed. 
 
NMC has embarked on a strategy of programmatic partnerships and recruiting in the 
international marketplace. It is expected that these efforts will draw in excess of 500 domestic 
and international students to our region requiring additional housing and instructional spaces. 
 
The current priorities for facilities planning are aimed at using the self-assessment to guide 
establishment of flexible learning spaces. These efforts include: 

● Major maintenance work required, or anticipated, on existing buildings.  
● Increased flexible, technologically advanced classroom space. 
● Energy, or other operational, savings. 

 
Section 2, Appendix B provides an Executive Summary for NMC’s Campus Master Plan. 
 
II-D.  Demonstrate economic development impact of current/future programs. 
According to a 2017 study by the economic modeling firm EMSI, NMC creates a significant 
positive impact on the business community and generates a return on investment to its major 
stakeholder groups – students, taxpayers, and society.  
 
 

● 287.4 million in added income, approximately equal to 3.6% of the GRP of the NMC 
Service Area, which is nearly as large as the entire Wholesale Trade Industry in the 

145



21 
 

region 
 

● NMC impacts 5,766 jobs or one out of every 22 jobs in the NMC Service Area 
 

● Average annual rate of return for NMC students is 9.6% compared to the 10-year average 
of 6.9% return to the U.S. stock market 
 

● 2.9 benefit-cost ration. Every $1 in costs returns $2.09 in benefits-an average annual 
return on investments for taxpayers is 10.5% 
 

NMC serves more than 50,000 learners each year. Those with an associate degree in Northern 
Michigan benefit in important ways. 
 

● Average earnings for those with an Associate Degree earn $31,800 per year versus 
$23,300 per year for those with a High School Diploma 
 

● Lower unemployment. Associate degree holders experienced less than 6% unemployment 
compared to over 12% for those with less than a high school diploma  

Some specific examples of NMC initiatives directed at regional economic improvement are 
highlighted below. 
 
Technical Workforce and Career Development                  
NMC’s Parson-Stulen Building houses a range of credit and non-credit programs that directly 
support training for key skills of high value to the region. Each major program area facilitates 
employer feedback through program Advisory Boards. In addition, faculty and staff participate 
in state, regional, and national organizations, and are directly engaged in research to help with 
development of appropriate programs and courses. 
 
In collaboration with other workforce agencies and organizations, NMC has been able to respond 
to the need for incumbent worker training directly in the workplace, and in areas customized to 
employer needs. In addition, the technical workforce areas have prepared programs that can be 
quickly delivered to area communities where there is an identified need to prepare individuals for 
a specific labor pool. Recognized by the Governor’s office in 2012, NMC is host to the Regional 
Entrepreneurial Collaborative – a partnership among NW Michigan Council of Governments, 
Small Business Technology Development Center, Score, Michigan Works, PTAK, Grand 
Traverse County Economic Development, Traverse Area Chamber of Commerce that supports 
collaboration between organizations to facilitate service for business development and 
expansion.  
 
Michigan Manufacturing Technology Center                  
NMC is home to the Northwest regional office of the Michigan Manufacturing Technology 
Center. The purpose of the MMTC is to strengthen the competitiveness of small to mid-sized 
manufacturers through training and consulting services primarily through Lean Manufacturing 
and strategy assistance. The MMTC is part of a national network though the Department of 
Commerce's Manufacturing Extension Partnership and part of a statewide network of five 
offices.  

146



22 
 

 
Michigan New Jobs Training Program                             
Since authorization in 2009, NMC has been an active participant in the use of this economic 
development tool for community colleges. To date, NMC has developed contracts representing 
close to $5,167,750 in associated training, with over 863 jobs in sectors including advanced 
manufacturing, value-added agriculture (food processors, distribution and retail), healthcare, 
insurance and construction. 
 
Great Lakes Maritime Academy                                       

● The Great Lakes Maritime Academy (GLMA) cadets continue to enjoy 100% 
employment.  This is due to the age of the workforce on the Great Lakes which has 
resulted in numerous vacancies due to retirements. 

● In 2015 a report jointly authored by the U.S. Department of Education, Department for 
Labor, and Department of Transportation predicted that the U.S. will need 35,000 
credentialed mariners, with officer’s endorsements by 2020. 

● During the fall semester recruiters from vessel operators and maritime unions visit the 
Academy weekly.  Additionally, each cadet will complete three internships, two of which 
will be on commercial vessels.  These internships expose the cadets to different options, 
and allow the operators to see the quality of the cadets first hand. 

The average age of the 2018 incoming class is 23.6, 15% are female, and 10% are 
veterans.  Additionally, two cadets have completed law degrees, and one has previously earned a 
PhD.  Many of these non-traditional students remain in Traverse City after graduation.  
 
Great Lakes Water Studies Institute                                
GLWSI officially launched NMC’s third Bachelors of Science in Maritime Technology major in 
the area of Marine Technology.  This program is unique to the United States and one of the only 
in the world.  Specific training emphasis includes remotely operated vehicles and marine 
platforms, marine acoustics and sonar, marine data processing and project management.  
Multiple industry collaborations allow graduates a broad range of career opportunities.   The 
Great Lakes Water Studies Institute also offers professional development opportunities in sonar 
training for industry and government partners who travel from around the world to participate in 
these training programs.  Beginning in 2015, ROV training at NMC will be certified through the 
Association of Diving Contractors International (ADCI) which will draw additional personnel to 
our programs. 
 
The Great Lakes Campus site includes a water analysis laboratory for student experiments/labs, 
qualified environmental research organizations and university partners.  The GLWSI is involved 
in multiple Great Lakes research projects with university and government partners and also 
collaborates globally with multiple institutions in areas of water and the marine environment. 
 
Tourism and Hospitality Industries                                       
Tourism and the hospitality industry are among the largest economic sectors in NMC's five 
county service area. The Great Lakes Culinary Institute directly supports that sector. There is a 
significant shortage of skilled professionals in this area. The Culinary Institute’s ability to 
expand the programs that it offers is important to the area's economy. 
 
Agribusiness                                                          

147



23 
 

Agriculture and viticulture are significant parts of the region’s economy, eco-structure and 
quality of life. NMC has developed a successful and long-standing partnership with Michigan 
State University’s Institute of Agricultural Technology to provide a series of technical specialties 
within NMC’s associate of applied plant science. Students may select areas in applied 
horticulture, turf management, nursery management, and viticulture. In 2013, NMC and MSU's 
Institute of Agricultural Technology established a shared position, in collaboration with MSU's 
Department of Horticulture, as an innovative approach toward collaboration in employer 
outreach, student recruitment, and internship development. In 2014, this shared approach has 
expanded NMC's capacity to provide specialized programming related to precision agriculture. 
 
Health Care                                                                 
The health industry is of critical importance to the citizens of the region and is characterized by 
having the largest regional employer, Munson Health Care. NMC’s Health Occupation programs 
are critical suppliers to this industry, especially in the preparation of associate degree nurses.  
  
A successful strategy has been the development of the Health Education Institute, a partnership 
between Munson Health Care and NMC that supports the coordination of community learning 
resources, delivers continuing professional development to staff, and identifies areas for future 
collaboration in the preparation of health care professionals.  
  
HEI has completed an extensive internal assessment of program impact with the 
recommendation to continue and expand the relationship as a shared approach to improving 
efficiency in professional development for staff, career program planning in the nursing program 
and related allied health areas. 
  
Most recently, NMC has partnered with Munson Medical Center to offer Associate of Applied 
Science Degrees in Paramedic and Surgical Technology. 
 
III. Staffing and Enrollment                                  
The following section responds to questions related to staffing and enrollment trends for 
Northwestern Michigan College.   
 
III-A. Describe current full and part-time student enrollment levels and define how the 
programs are accessed by the student.                                
 
Statistics on student enrollment are provided in two enrollment reports attached as Appendix III-
A shows full and part-time student counts by CIP program classification.  
 
NMC uses multiple measures for student assessment of programs.  NMC’s annual program 
review process is the way in which we ensure that our programs and courses are up to date and 
effective.  The premise of the program review is an annual evaluation of quantitative metrics and 
qualitative reflection on the prior year’s activities.  From this, goals for the program are set and 
action plans identified for the coming year.  The program review documents and institutional 
metrics are made available to the college community on the intranet site.   
The metrics tracked in program review are categorized in four phases of evaluation:  Learner 
Perception and Behavior, Learning of Program Outcomes, Skill Transfer, and Results (Figure 

148



24 
 

1.1).  For Level One, Learner Perception and Behavior, the college measures learner assessment 
of the quality of the course instruction and of the course itself, and learner satisfaction with the 
program as a whole.  Enrollment tracking and participation of non-traditional students in the 
program are measured.   For Level Two, Learning and Program Outcomes, the program areas 
track course completion rates, enrollee success rates, completer success rates, graduation rates, 
student retention or transfer rates, and non-traditional student completion rates.  For Level Three, 
Skill Transfer, NMC assesses student success on industry tests, such as licensure, and student 
placement in employment.  Finally for Level Four, Results, program managers query their 
industry advisory groups for feedback on the curriculum, equipment, graduates, and program 
administration. NMC has college targets or state baselines to measure progress for improvement.  
When any of these measures fall short of the college targets or state baselines, the program 
establishes goals and activities designed to improve its performance in these areas.  Program 
areas create action plans to address deficiencies as part of the institutional annual planning and 
budgeting process. 
   
Figure 1.1.  Outcome Framework for Academic Program Review 
 

 
 
(Source:  Kirkpatrick, D.L.  1994. Evaluating Training Programs: The Four Levels. San 
Francisco, CA: Berrett-Koehler. 
  

 

 
Level 1 

Learner Perception 
and Behavior    

Level 2 
Learning on Specific 
Program Outcomes 

 
Level 3 

Transfer of Skills and 
Knowledge Beyond 

the Program 

 

  

Level 4 
Results of Learning 

External 
Assessment of 

Learning 
Effectiveness 

149



25 
 

 
III-B.  Projected enrollment pattern next 5 years                              
 

Enrollment experienced an expected increase from 2009-2011, peaking in the 2010-2011 
academic year. This increase was primarily due to the economic factors in the state and region 
related to unemployment. As in all Michigan community colleges, the pattern of increased 
enrollment paralleled the regional impact of an increased unemployment rate and conversely the 
decrease in the unemployment rate paralleled the decrease in enrollment. Though enrollment has 
now reached a level previously held prior to the downturn, census data indicates that traditional 
age student population (18-20) will continue to decline through 2023. We anticipate declining 
enrollment due to this demographic shift taking place and continued reductions in 
unemployment. We continue to promote the strong academic foundation that Northwestern 
Michigan College provides students as they complete select bachelor’s degrees offered by NMC 
and their associate degrees for transfer to 4-year colleges and universities, while also 
highlighting the cost benefit and value students and families realize by attending a community 
college. Enrollment remains very strong in a number of programs (i.e. aviation, maritime). In 
addition, we are promoting two additional Bachelor of Science degrees in Maritime Technology; 
Marine Technology and Power Systems. As the State focuses on economic growth, new and 
enhanced job skills and transfer education will remain as key objectives. The largest potential for 
increases in enrollment growth will be through dual enrollment, early college, and concurrent 
enrollment and recruitment efforts related to specific programs. NMC is well positioned to offer 
courses and programs which will capture this audience. NMC also continues to expand existing 
and new relationships with colleges and universities in other countries such as China, Costa Rica, 
South Africa and UK for the purpose of program expansion and student exchange opportunities. 
 
 
III-C.  Evaluation of Enrollment History                                          
 

Research shows that enrollment at community colleges during an economic downturn follows 
the rate of unemployment. If the unemployment rate increases, enrollment increases as the 
population returns to college to seek education for new career opportunities or access training to 
increase skills to raise their potential for subsequent employment. This pattern occurred at NMC 
during the surge of enrollment from Fall 2009 through Spring 2011 when the college saw record 
enrollments. Prior to this time enrollment and contact hours rose modestly each year from 2005 
through 2008. Enrollment numbers have returned to levels similar to those in previous years to 
the enrollment increases. In addition, we continue to observe the trend of strong enrollment of 
early college, concurrent enrollment and dual enrollment students as a clear reflection of our 
efforts to provide options for high school students to complete college credit or specific 
programs.   NMC currently has early college partnerships with Traverse City Area Public 
Schools and the Traverse Bay Intermediate School district in addition to an enhanced dual 
enrollment agreement with Grand Traverse Academy. High school students have 
significantly increased their participation in acquisition of college credit over the past six years, 
though most recently, the high school population has decreased slightly. 
 
 
 

150



26 
 

High School Student Enrollment Comparison           
% of total enrollment             % increase over previous year                 

                            Year 
                              Fall 2010 – 149                    4.3 
                              Fall 2011 – 181                    5.0                                          .7 

Fall 2012 – 287                    7.7                                         2.7 
Fall 2013 – 324                    9.1                                         1.4 
Fall 2014 – 501                   11.2                                        2.1 
Fall 2015 – 485                   11.4                                          .2 
Fall 2016 – 521         12.5          1.1 
Fall 2017 – 510         12.9            .4 
Fall 2018 – 483         13.0            .1 
Fall 2019 – 447         12.5                                        - .5 

      Fall 2020 - 426               13.1                             .6 
 
To strategically support these efforts NMC has participated in the Michigan College Access 
Network (MCAN), Local College Access Network (LCAN) and with individual schools (ICAN). 
We collaborate with these organizations providing presentations and face to face support for 
students and their parents/guardians in order to assist them as they complete college applications, 
the Free Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA) and college scholarship applications.  
 
Section III, Appendix D and E provides 2017 through 2021 enrollment reports. 
 
III-D.  Provide instructional staff/student and administrative staff/student ratios   
NMC has a standing practice of evaluating all position vacancies for opportunities to distribute 
work differently, assess the relevancy of a service level, and to identify areas in which 
partnerships may provide options for joint appointments or other creative approaches to 
management of personnel costs.  
 
NMC and Michigan State University's Institute of Agricultural Technology (IAT) developed an 
MOU to share equally in a replacement position serving NMC's Applied Plant Science degree 
program, which uses IAT's specialty agriculture certificates. This has allowed funding for a full-
time position.                                                                                                                        
 
Based on fall student, faculty and staff headcount the ratio of student to staff is as follows for the 
last five years.                          

 
Year 

Fall Student 
headcount 

Fulltime Faculty 
& Adjunct 
headcount 

Ratio of 
Student to 

Faculty 
Fall 2017 3,956 235 17:1 
Fall 2018 3,726 254 15:1 
Fall 2019 3,581 226 16:1 
Fall 2020 3,278 226 16:1 
Fall 2021 3,285 221 14:1 

 
 

151



27 
 

 
Year 

 
Fall Student 
headcount 

 
Fulltime Admin. 
& Professional 

headcount 

 
Ratio of 

Student to Staff 

Fall 2017 3,956 118 33:1 
Fall 2018 3,726 118 32:1 
Fall 2019 3,581 111 32:1 
Fall 2020 3,278 109 28:1 
Fall 2021 3,285 108 28:1 

 
Based on the structure at NMC some administrative positions include teaching as part of their 
responsibilities.   
 
Section III, Appendix F provides the annual number of faculty and staff employees for the 
past five years.   
  
III-E.  Projected staffing needs based on projected enrollment         
NMC has approached a number of staffing questions through the development of a multi-year 
project-based approach toward Talent recruitment, development, retention, and succession. The 
“Talent” projects have produced new employee orientation programs, the NMC Leadership 
Institute, multiple professional development modules ranging from compliance training, 
supervisor training, and including wellness initiatives and self-directed learning opportunities 
related to workplace improvement. 
 
The College is committed to aligning its workforce to support its strategic direction and to 
establish a values-based framework to provide sustainable and competitive compensation.  
During fiscal year 2018 we offered an early separation incentive to faculty and staff at the top of 
their pay scale.  This gave us an opportunity to restructure the organization.  The college was 
able to reduce 12 positions with this incentive program. The program was one strategy in 
reducing salary costs.   
 
III-F.  Identify current average class size and projected class size needs      
NMC has implemented a Section Management initiative, effective Fall 2001, targeted at 
improving class size efficiency. Appendix III-G contains class size goals and guidelines, and 
shows a four-year trend in class size averages. Class sizes are driven primarily by pedagogical 
factors related to the subject matter being taught.  
 
III – G. Appendix G provides a Course Efficiency report.             
 
Section IV FACILITY ASSESSMENT                                                     
In 2012 NMC contracted for a campus master plan. The plan assessed building and plant 
requirements to meet future needs.  These items have been prioritized within the executive 
summary of the campus master plan.  The college has a contract with Sodexo for management 
services within that contract Sodexo provides facility assessment that helps to prioritize deferred 
maintenance projects.  A full assessment was done in fiscal year 2018 and the college is using 
the report to prioritize deferred maintenance projects.  

152



28 
 

 
IV-A.  Summary description of each facility                                     
A summary of building’s ages, and square footage is included as Section IV – Appendix H.  
 
IV-B. Building and classroom utilization rates.                               
Appendices IV-I provides information on the utilization, functionality and allocation of 

organizational facilities. In 2003, NMC began the implementation of a Room Scheduling 
software system.  In 2005, the College began scheduling academic classes through R25. 
Virtually all events and classes are scheduled through the system.  

 
IV-C. Mandated facility standards                                                 
NMC’s programs fully comply with all applicable laws and safety standards.   
 
IV-D.  Functionality of existing structures -                                       
Appendix IV-J summarizes functionality of existing structures.  
 
IV-E.  Replacement value of existing facilities                             
Appendices IV-K provides data on appraised values of NMC facilities. The replacement value 

new of buildings is assessed at $227,520,600. The most recent insurance appraisal was 
performed in the fall of 2019. 

 
IV-F. Utility System Condition                                                  
Each item identified in the NMC Capital Improvement Plan is listed in a construction category 

(i.e. electrical, mechanical, plumbing, etc.) Of the 7.7 million of Capital Improvement 
Projects, 7.5 percent of the capital outlay needs were identified as 6 percent Electrical 
Projects, 24 percent as Mechanical (HVAC), and 9 percent as Plumbing. 

                              
As part of our annual deferred maintenance budget we have allocated at least 30% of the annual 
budget to projects in this category.     
 
Table 5 Campus Utilities 
Utility Comment 
Electric Traverse City Light and Power (Traverse City Campuses). Sufficient city 

capacity appears to be available to meet projected college needs. 
Water Traverse City and Garfield Township provide water. 
Sewage City of Traverse City and Garfield Township. 
Storm Sewers Limited access to Traverse City storm sewers is available. The Front Street 

campus is equipped with numerous dry wells into which storm water drains. 
A large storm water retention system was recently added on the main 
campus. 

Natural Gas Campus heating systems are natural gas. Adequate capacities currently 
exist. 

 
 
IV-G.  Facility Infrastructure Condition (i.e. roads, bridges, parking lots)  
The majority of lots, roads and walks on and off Main Campus are in good shape. An annual 

153



29 
 

schedule for the repair/replacement of sidewalks and the repair/seal/replacement of lots and 
roads has been prepared and incorporated in the Capital and Operational budgets as applicable.  
 
The University Center currently has one driveway.  A secondary means of egress for vehicles 
was recommended in the 2012 campus master plan.  A second means of egress would be able to 
be used in a case of emergency or downed trees and/or power lines.   
Section IV-L shows a map of the Front Street (Main) campus.  
 
IV-H. Adequacy of existing utilities and infrastructure systems  
Based on our current and five year projections NMC utilities and infrastructure systems are 
sufficient.  As a means to reduce utility costs NMC continues to investigate ways to provide 
alternative energy solutions to our campus. The college board authorized geothermal for the 
West Hall Innovation Building.  The intention is to use the data from this building as a starting 
point for an overall campus alternative energy project.  Parking was at capacity in 2009 but 
based on current and projected trends the campus master plan shows we have sufficient systems 
to meet the needs for the next five years.  We work closely with area public transportation 
agency (BATA) in an effort to both encourage and promote public transportation as a means of 
reducing the need for additional parking.  
 
IV-I.  Energy Audit 
NMC contracted for an energy audit in 2010 and worked with Honeywell in 2015 to review 
energy inefficiencies.  These two reports have been used to prioritize project that will return 
overall energy savings to the institution. During the annual deferred maintenance budget we 
target several projects each year to address recommendations from the two audits.   
 
The college has been implementing the lighting recommendations from the energy audit.  The 
estimated annual savings from the campus wide projects is over $40,000 per year.  Other projects 
included water conservation and low flow aerators and variable frequency drivers in some of our 
buildings.  The College also takes full advantage of Traverse City Light and Powers rebate 
program.  This program has enabled us to complete several lighting projects across campus.    
All projects are evaluated for energy savings.  As roofs are replaced additional insulation is 
included in the project.  Other areas of savings are insulated glass overhead doors in our power 
house, replacement of old boiler and cooling towers to more energy efficient units.  
Section IV, Appendix M. provides an energy audit. 
 
The college will be using a geothermal system for our recent construction project.  This will be 
used to gather data that could benefit an overall campus renewable energy project.  
 
IV-J.  Land owned by the institution                                                 
Section IV - Appendix N. lists College properties. Under current assumptions for future growth, 
there is existing capacity for future development on land owned by the college.   
 
 
 
IV-K.  State Building Authority Leases  
Table 6 outlines the statistics on the three NMC buildings that are obligated to the State Building 

154



30 
 

Authority. 
 
Table 6 

Building Description Primary Use Date of 
Retirement 

Health & Science Building (Integrated 
Science & Tech Learning Center) 

Classrooms 2042 

Great Lakes Campus (West Bay) Specialized classrooms and 
conferencing facility 

2043 

Oleson Center Specialized classrooms and 
conferencing facility 

2042 

 

 

 

V.  IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

 
V-A. Prioritize major capital projects requested from the State, including a brief 
description and estimated costs.  
 
We have identified the renovation of the Osterlin Building for our major capital project – the 
Integrated Student Service Hub.  This 60-year old building would be renovated and remodeled to 
provide our students a one-stop student service hub. The updated space would provide a holistic 
approach to student services.   
 

Estimated cost:  $5,000,000 
 
 

V-B.  If applicable, provide an estimate relative to the institution's current deferred 
maintenance backlog.  Define the impact of addressing deferred maintenance and 
structural repairs, including programmatic impact, immediately versus over the next five 
years.  
 
Northwestern Michigan College recognizes the importance of addressing deferred maintenance 
repairs.  Beginning in 2009 the College began providing funding through our annual budget to 
address deferred maintenance backlog.  Each year the college evaluates its facilities based on the 
APPA standards. The Board of Trustees has set an overall benchmark of good for its buildings.   
 
The capital improvement identified approximately $9.4 MM in deferred maintenance required 
over the next five years. Funding for identified items has been included in the College’s fiscal 
year 2022 plant fund budget.  Addressing deferred maintenance is critical for the college to carry 
out its mission of providing a state of the art quality program to its students.  
 
V-C.  Status of on-going projects financed with State Building Authority 
Northwestern Michigan College hosted a groundbreaking ceremony on September 24, 2018 for 

155



31 
 

the West Hall Innovation Center (#332/16282). The West Hall Innovation Center was completed 
in July 2021. 
 
V-D.  Identify to the extent possible a rate of return on planned expenditures.    
The college evaluates each major building project to determine a rate of return.  This is 
accomplished by a reduction in operating costs such as utility savings along with any staffing 
reductions that could be attributed to the redesign of a facility.   
 
V–E.  Where applicable, consider alternatives to new infrastructure such as distance 
learning.   
Although the college believes that distance learning plays a key role in program delivery, there is 
still a role in facilities.  The proposed building projects enhance current learning by engaging 
students and faculty in an interactive learning environment.   
 
V-F.  Identify maintenance schedule for major maintenance items in excess of $1 million   
for fiscal year 2023-2027. Currently, there are no identified maintenance items over $1 million. 
 
V-G.  Identify the amount of non-routine maintenance the institution has budgeted for in 
its current fiscal year and relevant source of financing     
In fiscal year 2003-2004, Northwestern Michigan College developed a comprehensive Facility 
Capital Improvement Plan (FCAP) that is reviewed and updated annually. Each year data is 
compiled and reviewed on each building to determine the physical needs of the individual 
facilities. The twenty-seven (28) structures contained in the Capital Improvement Plan represent 
approximately 862,632 square feet of space contained in facilities. The College includes deferred 
maintenance of over $1,000,000 a year in its annual budget. NMC has established a benchmark 
that overall facilities rating will remain at a rating of good. Northwestern Michigan College has 
identified $1,200,000 non-routine maintenance that will be funded from the Plant Fund in 
FY2019.  
 
A summary of our deferred maintenance is in Section V.  
 
10.18.21 

156



 
 

Capital Outlay Project Request 
(Attachment B) 

  

157



1 
NMC 

ATTACHMENT B 
FISCAL YEAR 2023 

CAPITAL OUTLAY PROJECT REQUEST 

Institution Name:  Northwestern Michigan College 

Project Title:  Integrated Student Services Hub 

Project Focus: Academic             Research             Administrative/Support 

Type of Project:             Renovation           Addition               New Construction 

Program Focus of Occupants:  Student Academic and Administrative Support  

Approximate Square Footage: 26,000 square feet 

Total Estimated Cost: $5,000,000 

Estimated Start/Completion Dates: Project is ready for construction contingent upon 
authorization approval. Total build time would be one-year.  

Is the Five-Year Plan posted on the institution’s public internet site?         Yes      No 

Is the requested project the top priority of the Five-Year Capital Plan?   Yes         No 

Is the requested project focused on a single, stand-alone facility?        Yes          No  
______________________________________________________________________ 

Executive Summary 

Student Learning Support Services Renovation Project 

Project Overview 
Northwestern Michigan College is applying for Capital Outlay funding to renovate and 
upgrade the Osterlin Building on central campus into an Integrated Student Services 
Hub (“the Hub”) or (“the project”). The Hub would become a central building for the 
College’s key student service departments including admissions, advising, tutoring, 
counseling, financial aid, cashier’s, international outreach; it would add a Veteran’s 
Lounge, testing center, and talent development services area. These services are 
currently spread out among three different buildings on central campus. 

Built in 1961 and expanded in 1984, Osterlin has reached the end of its functional life 
and is in need of significant repairs and upgrades. This includes upgrades to the 
building envelope, HVAC system and a reconfiguration of the layout to maximize use of 
the existing building footprint. The project will also include energy efficiency upgrades 
and student focused spaces to enable collaboration and learning. The project will not 
impact tuition and will be cost shared from existing NMC reserves. The last Capital 
Outlay project funded at NMC was in 2018 for the Student Services Learning Center 
Renovation Project. 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

158



 

2 
NMC 
 

Project Purpose 
The purpose of this project is to address 3 main needs for NMC’s central campus: 

1. Enhance an Existing Asset: The Osterlin building is over 60 years old and has 
reached the end of its functional life. Instead of demolishing the structure, NMC 
intends to repurpose, transform, and extend the life of the building while creating 
a functional, centralized hub for key student services. 

2. Improve Student Efficiency: Currently, students must travel to several different 
buildings for their support service needs. Consolidating all of our student support 
services into one area will allow students to access resources in one location. 
We believe this holistic customer service experience will lead to increased 
student retention and completion due to the enhanced experience.  

3. Improve Energy Efficiency: The project would include a complete envelope 
overhaul including new energy efficient windows and doors, new insulation and a 
new exterior that would increase efficiency and sustainability. Additional project 
elements would include a new HVAC system and the installation of LED lights, all 
of which will help reduce the carbon footprint for this building. 

Describe the Scope of the Project 
The project is the complete renovation and modernization of the 60 year old Osterlin 

Building. The scope includes addressing deficiencies identified in the facility 

assessment report (Attachment A) as well as making needed upgrades to transform the 

space into a centrally located integrated student services hub. 

Specific project elements include: 

● Updated information technology infrastructure 

● Replace existing windows and exterior doors to increase efficiency 

● Replace deteriorating stucco with new insulated metal panels to increase 

efficiency and sustainable design 

● Updated facility to address ADA accessibility  

● Upgrade/replace lighting with LED lights 

● Replacement of current inefficient HVAC system with new energy efficient 

system 

● Elevator upgrades 

● Electrical upgrades 

● New Interior finish 

● Create learning spaces that have the flexibility and adaptability for group and 

individual learning and for learning partnerships with institutions outside the 

region 

● Create breakout spaces to support services to students 

● Improved operating efficiencies 

● Consolidation of student support offices 

 

 

159



 

3 
NMC 
 

Once completed the Osterlin Building will be home to: 

● Admissions 

● Financial Aid and Cashiers 

● Registrar 

● Counseling 

● Health Services 

● Veterans Lounge 

● Advising and Tutoring 

● Learning Services and Student Testing Center 

● International Outreach and Service Learning 

 

The project outcomes for our learners include: 

● Integrated student support services 

● Holistic advising experience to help them with their student success 

● Improved customer service to students 

● Increased use of student support services 

● Improved retention rates  

 

Please provide detailed, yet appropriately concise responses to the following questions 
that will enhance our understanding of the requested project: 

1. How does the project enhance Michigan's job creation, talent enhancement 

and economic growth initiatives on a local, regional and/or statewide basis? 

Northwestern Michigan College plays a pivotal role in talent enhancement and 
economic growth initiatives at the local, regional, state and national basis. A 2017 
study conducted by Emsi, a leading provider of economic impact studies and labor 
market data to educational institutions, concluded that NMC “benefits local 
businesses by increasing consumer spending in the region and supplying a steady 
flow of qualified, trained workers into the workers.” The study further found that NMC 
“benefits the state and local taxpayers through increased tax receipts” and “benefits 
society as a whole in Michigan by creating a more prosperous economy and 
generating a variety of savings through the improved lifestyles of students.” 

Specifically the study found that 1 out of every 22 jobs in the region is supported by 
the activities of NMC and its students. The study also reported that NMC added 
$42.3 million in income to the region during the analysis year as a result of its day-
to-day operations. Further, the 2017 economic impact study conducted by Emsi 
found that for every $1.00 of public monies invested in NMC, taxpayers receive a 
cumulative value of $2.90 over the course of the student’s working lives.   

Therefore, the proposed integrated student services hub is critically important to 

ensure that NMC is able to continue meeting its goal of providing our communities 

and learners with the skills, experiences and values that help them create social and 

economic wealth during their lifetime.  

160



 

4 
NMC 
 

2. How does the project enhance the core academic and/or research mission of 

the institution? 

This project is closely aligned with NMC’s mission of “providing lifelong learning 
opportunities to our communities.” With an enrollment of approximately 4,000 
students, services such as advising, tutoring, financial aid, and counseling play a key 
role in student success and completion.   
 
In 2017, financial aid was offered to 67% of our student population. A 2016 RAND 
study1 and a 2019 University of Chicago study2 found that providing community 
college students with comprehensive wraparound services increases full time 
enrollment and completion rates. The 2019 study by the University of Chicago 
Poverty Lab found that providing wraparound supports for community college 
students can improve their chances of persisting, resulting in nearly doubling their 
retention to the next term and leading to a 35% increase in full-time enrollment.  
 
Therefore, to support success and completion for our approximately 4,000 students, 
this project will allow NMC to provide a singular location to help students navigate 
enrollment, financial aid and advising.  Delivering more consistent and timely 
answers will provide the project outcome of a more uniform, holistic customer 
service experience that will help attract and retain students.  
 

3. How does the project support investment in or adaptive re-purposing of 

existing facilities and infrastructure? 

The integrated student services hub will be an adaptive re-purposing of a centrally 

located outdated facility.  The project maximizes the use of an existing building to 

accommodate the majority of our student support services in one location.  In 

addition, the project leverages space that is being vacated by the College’s library, 

which is moving to a new space being constructed and funded by NMC.  Without 

completing the Learning Support Services project, 26,000 square feet of centrally 

located space would not be repurposed in such a way as to benefit all students.    

Does the project address or mitigate any current health/safety deficiencies 

relative to existing facilities? If yes, please explain.   

Yes, the project will address several health/safety deficiencies in the existing 

structure.  The building was built in 1961 and expanded in 1984. A renovation and 

re-purposing of the building will allow us to update the building based on current 

emergency management protocol and today’s ADA requirements.  In summary, 

some of the deficiencies addressed with a project would include: 

● Additional barrier free restrooms  

                                                            
1 https://www.rand.org/news/press/2016/11/30/index2.html 
 
2 https://news.uchicago.edu/story/study-evaluates-model-helping-students-complete-community-college 

161



 

5 
NMC 
 

● Remodel of interior of buildings to eliminate ramps that are not ADA compliant 

o Currently the building utilizes a series of ramps to access portions of 

the building that are not compliant with the current ADA standards 

●  HVAC heating and cooling upgrades 

o Dated equipment will be replaced with a higher efficiency and 

environmentally compliant system 

● Window and exterior door replacement 

o Replace dated windows with energy efficient windows  

4. How does the institution measure utilization of its existing facilities, and how 

does it compare relative to established benchmarks for educational facilities? 

How does the project help to improve the utilization of existing space and 

infrastructure, or conversely how does current utilization support the need for 

additional space and infrastructure? 

NMC utilizes a robust analytic process for determining efficient use and utilization of 

our classrooms and spaces. We were one of the first colleges to use classroom 

efficiency rather than “go numbers” to determine enrollment decisions.  Starting in 

2000, NMC adopted an efficiency model whereby the college set an ambitious target 

to achieve an average of 90% fill rate for our classes.  While not reaching that goal 

in every area due to the need to support smaller efficiency in some key specialty 

areas, the college average has reached between 82% and 85% in the last five 

academic years.  Our classes are entirely full in a number of areas. To further our 

efforts in the last two years, we have over enrolled some of our classes so that after 

some attrition in the first week, the remaining class remains at 100%.  

The college also analyzes the utilization of our current buildings using our 

scheduling software. Our current utilization reports show that our adaptive learning 

spaces are at maximum use. These spaces are scheduled for large and small 

student study groups. Additionally, our reports show that simulation space is at 

capacity. These adaptive rooms are used by both credit and certificate programs.  

NMC was at capacity for our residential students and added an additional 150 new 

beds in 2017. Our residential halls are currently at 90% occupancy.  

This project would greatly assist in improving the utilization of existing space on 

campus. Specifically, with the movement of the library to a new building on campus, 

a large portion of the Osterlin building will be vacant. Further, as the building is 

currently configured, space is non-congruent and prevents students from seamlessly 

utilizing space and service. Once completed, the project would create a more holistic 

space for student support service activity. With more students living on campus, we 

believe areas such as counseling and health services will see more activity. Both of 

these departments are strained for space in their current location. Offices that are 

currently being used by these departments will be able to be repurposed as 

additional classrooms or needed office space. 

162



 

6 
NMC 
 

5. How does the institution intend to integrate sustainable design principles to 

enhance the efficiency and operations of the facility? 

Over the years, NMC has shown a commitment to sustainable design principles in 

construction of both new buildings and renovation projects. Although this is a 

relatively small renovation project, we will once again incorporate facility efficiencies 

wherever appropriate. This project will see the same level of commitment to 

integrate sustainable design principles to enhance operating efficiency as all of our 

building and renovation projects have seen.  

An example of how NMC’s projects have adhered to sustainable design principals 

can be found in  NMC’s self-funded  purchase and renovation of a former 

manufacturing facility in 2010 that has led to LEED certification. The new facility is 

used to teach our sustainable energy programs, construction trade and other 

technical programs that relate to the sustainable design fields. In 2009, NMC 

conducted an energy audit to identify areas of improvement in current building.  

Each year the College commits to projects that will result in energy efficiencies. We 

have converted exterior and interior lighting to LED efficient lighting and installed 

occupancy sensors in classrooms, hallways, and restrooms.   

Specific to the Student Learning Support Services project, NMC will include 

sustainability features including: 

● Upgraded lighting 

● Occupancy sensors 

● Energy efficient HVAC upgrades 

● Improved building envelope design around exterior doors 

6. Are match resources currently available for the project? If yes, what is the 

source of the match resources? If no, identify the intended source and the 

estimated timeline for securing said resources?  

Yes. The college has the reserve funds available to match state dollars for this project 

as well as resources from private contributions from the NMC Foundation.  

If authorized for construction, the state typically provides a maximum of 75% of 

the total cost for university projects and 50% of the total cost for community 

college projects. Does the institution intend to commit additional resources that 

would reduce the state share from the amounts indicated? If so, by what 

amount?   

No, not at this time. NMC is committed to the 50% match required for the project.   

7. Will the completed project increase operating costs to the institution? If yes, 

please provide an estimated cost (annually, and over a five-year period) and 

indicate whether the institution has identified available funds to support the 

additional cost. 

163



 

7 
NMC 
 

No, we do not anticipate an increase in operating costs if this project were funded.  If 

anything, the improvements to the building should yield operating efficiencies in 

electrical and heating costs and with the combining of multiple departments, the 

college will be able to reduce some personnel costs- thus saving the college money 

in the long term.    

8. What impact, if any, will the project have on tuition costs? 

There will not be an impact on tuition costs as a result of the project because capital 

projects are planned for and built into a 4 year budget model that we operate under. 

If this project is not authorized, what are the impacts to the institution and its 

students? 

If this project is not authorized it will be a determent to our current and future 

students.  We would also be left with space that will be vacant- following the move of 

our library to a new location.  Further, if not authorized, the space would not be able 

to provide a more robust student support services area that will give students the 

ability to access a multitude of student support services in one location.  Once 

completed, the Student Learning Support Services Building will be a more efficient 

way for student to access these services which translates to more use and less time 

constraints for the student.   

12. What alternatives to this project were considered?  Why is the requested 

project preferable to those alternatives? 

There is no viable alternative to this project.  The project allows for us to consolidate 

student support service in one area.  This will result in a more holistic approach for 

our students and a more efficient delivery system for staff.  We expect this to result 

in time savings for students with greater results.   

Any alternative would only allow for us to make limited changes based on space 

capacity.  This does not allow for the unified holistic experience for our students.  

Additionally, the alternative would not address many of the ADA compliance 

concerns we have with this dated facility.  

Based on the age of the facility and the need for a unified student support service 

center we believe that this project will best meet all of the objectives for the Student 

Learning Support Services Renovation Project.  

 

 

 

 

164



 

8 
NMC 
 

13. History of prior appropriations received by the institution through the capital 

outlay process. 

 

Project  Year 

Integrated Science & Tech Learning Center  2002 

West Bay Great Lakes Campus 2004 

Oleson Center Renovation Project 2006 

Student Services Learning Center Renovation Project 2018 

  

 

Supplemental Information 

a) Facility assessment report  

b) Current floor configuration 

c) Conceptual design for renovation 

d) Draft Project budget 

 

165



166



167



168



169



170



171



Section I – Mission Statement 

172



I. – Mission Statement 

Northwestern Michigan College was the first comprehensive community college chartered in the 
State of Michigan. Since its founding in 1951, NMC has provided quality, affordable access to 
higher education for learners of all ages and backgrounds. NMC is integrally woven into the 
economic, social and cultural fabric of the region, providing leadership and support for key 
initiatives that shape our communities and prepare our learners for rich and meaningful lives.  

Mission 
Northwestern Michigan College provides lifelong learning opportunities to our communities. 

Vision 
NMC will be the resource of choice for higher education, lifelong learning and cultural 
experiences. NMC will be an essential contributor to quality of life and a vibrant economy. We 
will demonstrate collaborative and inventive approaches to education and training for liberal 
studies, careers, interests and emerging learner markets. 

Values 
Our individual and collective efforts create the legacy of NMC. In order to achieve our 

mission, we are individually committed and responsible to live these values:  
 Learning is at the center of all we strive to achieve. It is the foundation upon which an

enlightened citizenry and a dynamic community are built and is a lifelong process in
which we are all engaged.

 We will continuously improve the learning experience and its global relevance to those
we serve through innovation, agility and thoughtful risk-taking.

Our actions are governed by the highest degree of ethics, integrity and personal responsibility, 
exhibited through transparency, openness and trust. 

We each will practice responsible stewardship for the human, physical, financial and 
environmental resources entrusted to our care.  

Each of us will strive to exceed expectations for quality and service in all that we do. 

We value all people and will invest in their personal and professional growth and development. 

We will exhibit foresight by monitoring the changing world around us and taking actions today 
that prepare us to meet future needs of our communities.  

We will seek others who share our vision and values, and collaborate with them on behalf of 
our communities. 

173



Purposes 
 
To meet our mission, we are fully engaged in each of the following purposes with the result that 
our learners meet their goal(s) of being college ready, transfer ready, career ready and lifelong-
learning ready.  

 Associate degree and certificate education in liberal arts and sciences, and occupational 
studies. 

 Bachelor’s degree in select programs 
 Career/occupational education and workforce development. 
 Cultural and personal enrichment. 
 Facilitating baccalaureate and graduate programs. 
 Contributing to regional economic development. 

 
Current Strategic Directions and Capacities 

 
In order to accomplish NMC’s stated Mission, Vision, and Purposes, organizational activities 
focus on achieving the following strategic directions and demonstrating competence in 
Institutional Effectiveness Criteria. 
 

Strategic Directions 
 

1. Ensure that NMC learners are prepared for success in a global society and economy. 
2. Establish national and international competencies and provide leadership in select 

educational areas connected to the regional economy and assets. 
3. Deliver learning through a networked workforce. 
4. Establish lifelong relationships with learners. 
5. Transcribe most learning to establish credentials of value. 

 
 

Institutional Effectiveness Criteria 
 

1. Scholarship, Enrichment and Workforce: Helping Students Learn 
2. Partnership:  

a. Economic Development and Community Involvement 
b. Building Collaborative Relationships 

3. Champion: 
a. Understanding Student and Stakeholder Needs 
b. Supporting Organizational Operations 

4. Culture: Valuing People 
5. Operations: 

a. Leading and Communicating 
b. Measuring Effectiveness 
c. Planning Continuous Improvement 

174



 
 

Section II  
Instructional Programming 

  

175



 
 

Appendix A  

Programs of Study  

(NMC Catalog) 

  

176



Appendix A – Programs of Study (NMC Catalog) 

https://catalog.nmc.edu/?_ga=2.125540812.751963423.1628598249-540205210.1525350857 

177

https://catalog.nmc.edu/?_ga=2.125540812.751963423.1628598249-540205210.1525350857


 

Appendix B  

Initiatives Impacting  

Facilities Usage 

  

178



2. Executive Summary

2012 Facilities Master Plan Section 2 1 

The Executive Summary for this Facilities Master Plan 
report includes the following: 

A. Background / Purpose of Master Plan

B. Planning Goals / Areas of Focus

C. Strategic Context

D. Planning Process

E. Recommendations

179



 
 

 2. Executive Summary 
(continued) 

 
 

 
   2012 Facilities Master Plan Section 2 2 

 

 

 

A. Background / Purpose of Master Plan  
 

Northwestern Michigan College is comprised of four 
campus locations, over 25 buildings, and several 
additional properties and buildings. The facilities total 
over 795,000 SF, with a total current replacement value 
estimated at over $160 million. 

 
As NMC looks forward toward the alignment of all 
planning, master planning is a key element in aligning the 
strategic agenda, programs and facilities. NMC 
commissioned this Master Plan in December, 2011.   

 
The goal of this Master Plan is to provide Northwestern 
Michigan College with a more comprehensive roadmap 
for meeting facilities issues over the next 10 years.  
Selected projects and accompanying costs are presented 
later in this document. 

 
Just as change has created the need for this facilities 
master plan, future changes will continue to make the 
planning process dynamic.  While this master plan report 
makes recommendations to retain and enhance an 
attractive, serviceable physical environment that is 
responsive to the changing needs of NMC, it is not rigid 
or static.  To be an effective consensus-building and 
decision-making tool, this facilities master plan should be 
seen as a flexible document, able to be periodically 
evaluated and revised as new ideas and opportunities 
emerge. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

180



 
 

 2. Executive Summary 
(continued) 

 
 

 
   2012 Facilities Master Plan Section 2 3 

 

 

 
B. Planning Goals & Areas of Focus 
 

Goals: 
This plan includes the following specific goals: 

 
1. Identify sites for new construction or expansion. 
 
2. Address traffic patterns and parking facilities. 
 
3. Respond to emerging and changing physical 

needs as they relate to updated academic 
offerings. 

 
4. Maintain stewardship of the natural environment; 

evaluate environmental impact of proposed 
construction. 

 
5. Establish priorities and cost estimates for a ten-

year Master Plan. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

181



 
 

 2. Executive Summary 
(continued) 

 
 

 
   2012 Facilities Master Plan Section 2 4 

 

 

 
C. Strategic Context 
 

NMC’s recent strategic planning process yielded several 
points of interest that formed the backdrop for the 
Planning Team: 
 
. NMC is recognized for service beyond Grand 

Traverse County and the surrounding service 
area.  Programs with state-wide, national, and 
international value will continue to strengthen this 
broader recognition. 

 
. Development of private-sector partnerships will 

allow NMC to expand educational experiences.  
Strategies that promote asset sharing will be 
prioritized. 

 
. NMC is expanding from two-year to four-year 

programs in select areas tied to employer and 
regional economic development needs. 

 
. NMC believes that the education industry as a 

whole is trending from a time-based system to 
one that is competency-based. 

 
. NMC believes that learners will expect innovative 

spaces for learning in the classroom and as part 
of daily activity on all its campuses.  NMC will be 
able to facilitate learning programs from a variety 
of sources in addition to its own. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

182



 
 

 2. Executive Summary 
(continued) 

 
 

 
   2012 Facilities Master Plan Section 2 5 

 

 

 
. Facilities at the Aero-Park Campus will have 

capacity to expand into research activities 
connected to learning experiences and to 
regional economic development.  Similarly, the 
Eastern Avenue property will have the potential 
to house a next generation of programs and 
services. 

 
. Simulation-based learning will continue to 

expand as a requirement in many of NMC’s 
programs (such as allied health, engineering 
technology, and maritime technology), providing 
resources for continuing professional training 
beyond degrees and certifications. 

 
. NMC is committed to sustainable practices – 

both fiscally and environmentally. 
 
. NMC will continue to use strategies that integrate 

its multiple campuses into a single learning 
community.  Transportation, technology, smart 
planning and scheduling will all play a part in 
promoting this vision. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

183



 
 

 2. Executive Summary 
(continued) 

 
 

 
   2012 Facilities Master Plan Section 2 6 

 

 

 
D.       Planning Process 
 

The Planning Team began its work with data collection 
and review of existing documents and reports, including 
site surveys, building plans, condition assessment 
reports, and utility reports.  This was supplemented by 
College-provided data on enrollment history and trends, 
room utilization, parking counts, land use, NMC Strategic 
Plan, and previous capital outlay requests.  Primary 
sources of background data were individual strategic plan 
documents prepared by College departments.   
 
The Planning Team subsequently met with the 
President’s Council and NMC Leadership Team to gather 
addition input and insight into the existing documents and 
direction for the future.   
 
The Team toured each NMC building and site to gain a 
deeper understanding of the content and costs 
represented in the FCAP Report; become familiar with 
campus layouts, facility functions, infrastructure, 
circulation patterns and general building conditions; and 
better understand the background of facilities and 
programs, as well as future intent and strategic direction. 
 
These tours were followed by meetings with each 
department to review the strategic planning documents 
and clarify specific points in the context of existing 
facilities and future direction.  Each department received 
advance questions from the Planning Team as 
preparation for each meeting. 
 
Following this input, the Team prepared a series of 
optional ideas, with conceptual costs, for consideration 
and feedback by the President’s Council and ultimately 
by the Board of Trustees prior to refinement into a final 
Master Plan document.   

184



 
 

 2. Executive Summary 
(continued) 

 
 

 
   2012 Facilities Master Plan Section 2 7 

 

 

 
E. Recommendations 

Following are narrative descriptions of major components 
of the 2012 Master Plan, followed by site plan 
illustrations.  These components are not necessarily 
listed in the order of priority. 
 

 
Main Campus 

       Site 
        Traffic and Parking 

There is capacity to expand selected parking lots (Aspen, 
Birch, Cedar, Juniper, Pine, and Tamarack) to create 
more, dispersed parking opportunities across campus.  
The relocation of a portion of College Drive would add 
almost three acres of area within the ring road.  
Redevelopment of student housing would also create a 
stronger pedestrian pathway between Oleson and the 
rest of campus west of College Drive.  With the addition 
of 244 new parking spaces, the NMC campus would have 
a total of 1,789 spaces available. 
 
Although not a formal recommendation for this 
master plan, the option exists of developing a 
multi-level parking structure on campus that could 
address the parking need on a smaller footprint in 
favor of retaining existing natural ground area.  
The specific size, location, cost and financing 
terms of a parking structure would be critical to 
maximize the benefit to NMC, its students, and its 
patrons.  The most likely locations for a structure 
maximizing shared use would be the Aspen Lot 
and/or the Cherry Lot. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

185



 
 

 2. Executive Summary 
(continued) 

 
 

 
   2012 Facilities Master Plan Section 2 8 

 

 

 
        Recreation Fields 

The recreation fields would be improved in two major 
ways:  first, the area would be raised to provide adequate 
site drainage and new fill to eliminate standing water, and 
thereby increase its usability.  Second, the area would be 
redefined to provide space for baseball, softball, football, 
soccer, lacrosse, and rugby, thereby increasing its value 
for formal PE classes, student life activities, club sports 
and informal recreation. 

 
        Campus Edge 

Upgrading the campus edge between NMC and TCAPS 
property through effective landscaping and other design 
elements would provide a safer, more attractive buffer. 
 

        Pedestrian Improvements 
Redevelopment of the pedestrian corridor from Tanis to 
West Hall would enhance visual connections from west 
campus to center campus and provide a more clear and 
useful path to connect core NMC buildings. 

  
West Hall 

Renovation of 33,450 SF and expansion of West Hall by 
40,000 SF would consolidate student services, expand 
dining options, bookstore offerings, health services and 
space for student organizations, as well as add new 
classroom space and study space for individuals and 
groups.  As the Multi-Disciplinary Student Learning 
Center, the facility would be multi-story and located near 
several major parking areas.   
 
An expanded plan would add new library space and new 
fitness/wellness space to expand the Multi-Disciplinary 
Student Learning Center to approximately 150,000 SF.  
The Campus Master Plan following this Summary 
illustrates this expanded plan at West Hall. 
 
 

186



 
 

 2. Executive Summary 
(continued) 

 
 

 
   2012 Facilities Master Plan Section 2 9 

 

 

 
       PE Building 

The functions now located in the PE Building would be 
relocated to the expanded West Hall project (Multi-
Disciplinary Student Learning Center).  The existing PE 
Building would be razed to make room for a future 
academic building.  The new facility would create new 
opportunities for academic programming, as well as 
increased informal recreation and fitness/wellness 
activity. 

 
       Fine Arts 

The Fine Arts Building was originally designed for an 
expansion at the north end of the building.  An expansion 
of approximately 6,000 SF would accommodate potential 
new programming and provide space for increasing use 
by larger music groups and ensembles.   
 
The renovation of the existing music wing (approximately 
9,000 SF) would also make the existing space more 
usable and flexible for current and future music 
programming.  

 
       Dennos Museum Center 

Redevelopment of the west loading dock and approach 
drive will improve servicing of the building and reduce 
damage to the walls of the drive because of its narrow 
width.  Also, a modest equipment storage addition at the 
loading dock will enhance the flexibility and utilization of 
Milliken Auditorium. 

 
       New Student Housing 

New housing totaling 129,000 SF would replace the three 
existing apartment buildings, but also increase the 
housing capacity from 138 to 300 in order to meet NMC 
strategic goals to accommodate future growth and 
specifically that 5% of its enrollment come from 
international students.  This housing can be developed in 
a phased approach as the need grows. 

187



 
 

 2. Executive Summary 
(continued) 

 
 

 
   2012 Facilities Master Plan Section 2 10 

 

 

 
       Renovation of Osterlin and Tanis 

The consolidation of student services at West Hall, 
combined with the relocation of library space from 
Osterlin Library to the Multi-Disciplinary Student Learning 
Center offers an opportunity to renovate 32,500 SF on 
the first floor of Osterlin Library to increase the its value 
as expanded study space (individuals or groups), testing 
space, and flexible academic space.   Located between 
NMC’s most intensely used academic buildings (Scholars 
Hall and Health Science), it is positioned for optimal 
value. 
 
The opportunity to reconfigure the upper level of Tanis 
(approximately 7,200 SF) offers possibilities to enhance 
communication and operational efficiencies for NMC 
components as the implementation of the master plan 
evolves. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

188



 
 

 2. Executive Summary 
(continued) 

 
 

 
   2012 Facilities Master Plan Section 2 11 

 

 

 
Aero Park Campus 

       Aero Park Laboratories 
The APL contains large open spaces for construction, 
renewable energies, and engineering programs.  The 
building is well suited to accommodate future growth in 
building area and parking capacity by building additions 
of 60,000+ SF to the east of the existing building 
(dependent on use, parking, and site circulation 
requirements). APL is also suitable as a location for the 
emerging Engineering Technology Program, currently in 
development.   

 
       Automotive Services Technology 

With the anticipated growth of current programming, as 
well as programming for alternative energies (electric and 
hybrids), this building is capable of classroom and lab 
expansion to accommodate the growth by 4,000 – 5,000 
SF, plus corresponding parking. 

 
       Aviation Building 

Indoor storage for aircraft at the existing facility is at 
capacity (12 aircraft). With the recent and anticipated 
growth of the aviation program, additional storage 
capacity  can be accommodated by phased  additions  to 
the existing pre-engineered building with a hangar 
addition of up to 11,000 SF (to fit up to 12 additional 
aircraft to the existing fleet of 12 aircraft), which will 
double the interior aircraft storage capacity .  An 
additional 3,000 SF will handle additional classroom 
space, simulator space, and additional student load 
anticipated for the unmanned aircraft program.  At its 
maximum capacity, the expansion will require site work 
related to parking capacity and stormwater management. 

 
 
 
 
 

189



 
 

 2. Executive Summary 
(continued) 

 
 

 
   2012 Facilities Master Plan Section 2 12 

 

 

 
       Parsons Stulen 

Parsons Stulen has approximately 4,000 SF of existing 
space, primarily in the west wing of the building, that 
could be repurposed for other programming needs as 
they emerge.   

 
 

University Center Campus 
There are three primary components to improvements proposed 
at the University Center:  new emergency exit drive from the 
parking lot to Wysong Road; upgrade of two interior classrooms 
(2,260 SF) to science labs to accommodate expanded 
programming by NMC and University Center partners; and the 
addition of formal access to Boardman Lake for potential future 
programming and as a community asset. 
 
The wooded area south of the existing building also offers an 
opportunity to accommodate future housing or an executive 
retreat / learning center development, taking advantage of the 
quiet, secluded nature of the site, its proximity to existing 
corporate-level learning facilities, as well as recreational use of 
Boardman Lake. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

190



 
 

 2. Executive Summary 
(continued) 

 
 

 
   2012 Facilities Master Plan Section 2 13 

 

 

 
Additional Areas of Focus: 

       Appel Property 
Site improvements related to entry drive and parking, as 
well as an improved septic system, would make the 
property more accommodating and desirable for regular 
use.  The changing ecology and environment of the 
Boardman River Basin makes this a resource useful for 
science curricula, environmental studies, and outreach to 
the broader community.      

 
       Rogers Observatory 

Increased use of this NMC resource would occur with two 
proposed improvements:    a barrier-free pedestrian 
pathway from the parking lot to the observatory main 
level; and a 1,000 SF expansion of the classroom area to 
accommodate more occupants , as well as additional 
space for storage.  
 

       Eastern Avenue Property 
Because of the size and unique aspects of this property, 
it holds the potential for a range of ideas: 
 
. Student housing 
. Intergenerational housing 
. Recreation fields and nature trails 
. New academic live/learn buildings 
. Agribusiness-related farming & production 

facilities 
. Alternative energy site 
 
The dramatic topography on the site could suggest the  
potential for two primary uses – one at the upland portion, 
accessed from existing residential roads that engage the 
property at the northern corners; and one at the lower 
portion of the site, more related to Eastern Avenue and 
to close proximity to the NMC campus.  Because of the  
orientation of the land, it has maximum exposure to the 
sun. 

191



 
 

 2. Executive Summary 
(continued) 

 
 

 
   2012 Facilities Master Plan Section 2 14 

 

 

 
At 55 acres, it is equal to 60% of the existing main 
campus land area.  Because of this, it would be 
appropriate to think of this property in terms of a short- 
term strategy and a long-term strategy.  The initial 
development of a new walk,  entry drive and parking area 
on the Eastern Avenue property would provide students 
and faculty safe access to the site and its walking trails. 
Clearing areas for development associated with  
agribusiness programming could be included, along 
with associated support structures and utilities. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

192



 
 

 2. Executive Summary 
(continued) 

 
 

 
   2012 Facilities Master Plan Section 2 15 

 

 

 
Immediate Recommendations 
 
Moving forward, based upon the recommendations and the 
information gathered during this master plan, the following 
projects have been identified by the Executive Team as areas that 
need immediate solutions.  Funding of these projects may take on 
a multi-year approach, and projects will be staged based on final 
funding opportunities.   
 
For example, as a major capital improvement, the Multi-
Disciplinary Student Learning Center will likely require funding 
from multiple sources, including the State of Michigan through the 
capital outlay process and state bonding capacity.  This may take 
several years to accomplish.  In the interim, funding for other 
projects may become available through grants, partnerships, and 
donations. 
 
Similarly, new programming may raise the urgency of a particular 
priority in order to take advantage of new funding opportunities 
not known at this time.  Additionally, other recommendations 
within Section 5 will be addressed as the College sets priorities 
throughout the next 5-10 years. 
 
 
Multi-Disciplinary Student Learning Center 

        
This facility will combine learning, recreation, and student services 
in one area.  The project will address student services, classroom 
simulation expansion, library services, and a comprehensive 
physical education complex. 
 
Anticipated funding:  The project will require multiple sources of 
funding.  The College anticipates a combination of private 
donations, state sources, and College funds to complete the 
project. 
 
Timeframe:   3-5 years to complete funding requirements. 

   

193



 
 

 2. Executive Summary 
(continued) 

 
 

 
   2012 Facilities Master Plan Section 2 16 

 

 

      
Renovation of Osterlin Library 
 
Renovation of the building is necessary in order to optimize space 
and meet current capacity needs. 
 
Anticipated funding:  The project would be accomplished through 
the College’s current plant fund reserves. 
 
Timeframe:   1 year 
 
  

       New Student Housing 
 

This will provide both additional housing to meet anticipated future 
growth, as well as updated apartments. 
 
Funding:   The College has not identified funding for this project.  
It is anticipated that this will be a cooperative arrangement and 
funded through a private/public partnership. 
 
Timeframe:   2-3 years 
 
 
New Drive at University Center  
 
This will provide additional egress for safety and emergency 
exiting from the site. 
 
Funding:   The College will fund this project through the annual 
plant fund budget.   
 
 

194



 

Appendix C 

Socioeconomic Benefits 

  

195



1 

Final Report 

Economic Impact of Northwestern Michigan College 

May 27, 2014 

George Erickcek 

Introduction and Findings 

This report provides an estimation of the total economic contribution that Northwestern 
Michigan College (NMC) makes on its surrounding region. Of course, the full comprehensive 
impact of the college on the region’s social and cultural environment is much larger than its 
economic influence. Since its founding in 1951, the college has changed the social environment 
of the greater Grand Traverse region. This change has occurred informally by the simple 
presence of more young adults staying in the community to pursue their education, and formally 
through activities such as the Dennos Museum Center, WNMC 90.7 FM, and the Rogers 
Observatory which have increased both the cultural offerings and cultural expectations of the 
region. The purpose of this report is to document the college’s economic contributions to the 
region which, while an important measure, reflects only a portion of the college’s total impact. 

The report’s findings are presented in three sections. First, we provide an estimate of the 
economic presence of Northwestern Michigan College. The college’s economic presence is the 
level of annual economic activity generated in its service region because of its ongoing 
operations, the consumer expenditures of its students, and the resulting spinoff that occurs in the 
region due to these direct expenditures.  

Second, we present an estimate of Northwestern Michigan College’s economic impact. 
Estimating economic impact is a conceptual exercise that involves making valuations of the 
status quo compared to a counterfactual situation in which the college is absent from the region. 
In measuring the impact of a new facility to a region, such as a factory, the level of economic 
activity with the facility in full operation is compared to the level of economic activity in the 
region before the facility was constructed. Similarly, to measure the economic impact of an 
existing facility, a strictly hypothetical level of the region’s economic activity without the facility 
must be estimated.  

The final part of the report estimates the impact of Northwestern Michigan College on the 
potential earnings of its graduates. During the course of their working career, Associate-degree 
holders in northern Michigan earn $460,000 more than persons who only have a high school 
diploma. The net present value of the return on investment for a student successfully completing 

196



 

2 
 

a two-year Associate’s degree, which discounts the value of future earnings, is estimated to be 
between $7.93 and $11.14 for each dollar he/she spent on tuition and foregone income while 
attending school. The student’s return on investment depends on whether he/she receives federal 
aid and attends school full or part time. This is a conservative estimate as it does not factor in the 
unique, high-demand technical degrees that the college offers.  
 
Northwestern Michigan College’s economic contribution is estimated by an economic simulation 
model especially constructed for the communities served by the college by Regional Economic 
Models Incorporated (REMI). The REMI model is considered one of the best regional impact 
models available due to its flexibility and structure. A brief description of the model is provided 
in the Appendix.  
 
NMC’s impact on the region’s economy is multi-faceted and includes the impact of: 
 

 The purchases of goods and services made by the college in its ongoing operations; 
 

 The regional consumer expenditures made by its faculty and staff; 
 

 The regional consumer expenditures of its students; and 
 

 The growth in business activity due to its technical assistance to area businesses as well 
as the increased competitiveness of its businesses due to the college’s technical training 
programs and a more educated regional employment base. 

 
NMC’s economic contribution is measured by its impact on: 
 

 Total year-round employment in the regions, both full and part time; 
 

 Personal income of the regions’ full-time residents which includes earned income, such 
as wages and salaries, and unearned income such as pensions and dividends; note that 
personal income is based on where someone lives while wages are based on where 
someone works; 
 

 The increase in total sales: the purchase of all goods and services in the regions including 
purchases made by businesses to suppliers; and 
 

 The change in the regions’ Gross Regional Product (GRP).  
 
The last measure, the region’s GRP, equals the increase in the purchases of goods and services 
generated by NMC minus the value of all intermediate goods and services that are either shipped 
or provided outside the region. For example, the purchase price of a text book would be included 
in total sales, while only the “mark-up” earned by the local seller is included in the GRP.  
 
This study estimates the economic contribution of Northwestern Michigan College on the 
following regions: 
 

Region 1: Grand Traverse County; 
 

197



 

3 
 

Region 2: Grand Traverse, Antrim, Benzie, Kalkaska, Leelanau, and Wexford 
Counties 

 
Region 3:  Grand Traverse, Antrim, Benzie, Kalkaska, Leelanau, Wexford, 

Charlevoix, Emmet, Manistee, and Missaukee Counties 
 

The presence of Northwestern Michigan College contributes $130.9 million in total sales, $62.6 
million in personal income, and generates 1,822 jobs in the 10-county region of Northwestern 
Michigan as shown in Table 1.  
 
On average, each employee of the college (full- and part-time) supports: 

 0.6 additional job positions in the region 
 $118, 900 in total sales 
 $56,900 in total personal income of residents living in the region. 

 
The economic impact of Northwestern Michigan College is an increase in 1,060 jobs and a rise 
in total sales of $55.2 million. Personal income is $32.7 million greater and the region’s Gross 
Regional Product is $33.0 million larger. This is the regional economic impact that is supported 
by $9.1 million in property taxes paid to NMC in FY’13. 
 
The students attending Northwestern Michigan College can also expect a significant increase in 
their lifelong earnings. 
 

 Individuals holding an associate degree in Northern Michigan had a low 3.8 percent 
unemployment rate in 2012 (most current data available) compared to a high 14.9 percent 
rate for persons with only a high school degree. 
 

 Annual earnings for associate degree holders in Northern Michigan were $31,800 in 2012 
compared to $24,110 for individuals with only a high school diploma.  

 
Table 1  Summary of Economic Presence and Impact of Northwestern Michigan College 

 
 
 
Economic Presence  
 
The economic presence of NMC is defined as the level of economic activity in the region that is 
supported by the existence of the college. As highlighted above, the economic presence is very 

Economic presence
Region 1 1,664                       43.7 111.0 63.8
Region 2 1,788                       60.6 124.7 70.8
Region 3 1,822                       62.6 130.9 73.6

Economic impact 
Region 1 962                          23.7 43.4 27.2
Region 2 1,032                       33.9 50.3 31.0
Region 3 1,060                       32.7 55.2 33.0

Total employment
Total personal 
income  ($ mil)

Total sales in the 
region  ($ mil)

Total Gross 
Regional Product  

($ mil)

198



 

4 
 

diverse, ranging from the college’s purchases of locally generated services, to the consumer 
spending of its employees and students, and to the increased competitiveness of local businesses. 
 
In 2012, Northwestern Michigan College employed 1,092 employees, of whom 314 were full 
time, 294 were adjunct instructors teaching for-credit courses, 12 were adjunct instructors 
teaching non-credit courses1, and the remaining 472 employees were student workers and other 
part-time workers. It should be noted that the annual number of workers at the college includes 
short-time workers as well, persons who only work for a semester or less. In any given month 
over the course of 2012, NMC employed in the range of 553-811 workers. That same year the 
college reported a point-in-time employment level of 655 for the fall semester, excluding student 
workers. Due to the employment definitions required by the REMI model (see Appendix), the 
annual full-, part- and short-time employment estimate was used for this analysis. Annual payroll 
at the college was $22.3 million in 2012. These values are used in generating the college’s 
economic presence.2 Finally, the total college employment figure used in the analysis—1,101 
employees—includes contracted security personnel. 
 
As shown in Table 2 below, the ongoing operation of Northwestern Michigan College, which 
includes the consumption expenditures of its staff and faculty, generates 386 additional jobs in 
the 10-county region beyond the 1,101 jobs at the college for a total employment impact of 
1,487. Not surprisingly, the major share of these jobs (96 percent) is located in Grand Traverse 
County–322 positions. The jobs generated in Regions 2 and 3, outside of Grand Traverse 
County, are due primarily to the local consumption expenditures of the college’s staff and faculty 
who reside in these regions. 
 
The college’s operations increase total sales in the 10-county region by $75.8 million annually. 
Since most of these sales are for goods and services that are generated outside the region, the 
college’s impact on the region’s Gross Regional Product—the value of goods and services 
generated in the region—is less, $48.5 million. 
 
The economic presence of Northwestern Michigan College also includes the economic 
contribution of the consumption expenditures of its students that are associated with their 
attendance at the college. In this study we used the complete enrollment data for 2012-2013 (Fall 
’12, Spring ’13, Summer ’13) which is shown in Table 3.  
  

                                                           
1 Most non-credit instructors (Extended Education courses) are paid as independent contractors and are 

therefore not included in the employee figures. Those adjunct instructors who teach for-credit courses, typically over 
a semester, are paid as adjunct employees, and therefore are included in the figures above. 
 2 The REMI model uses the college’s employment level to estimate the level of demand for local goods and 
services the community college would require based on national statistics. We adjusted the REMI model’s estimate 
by including its payroll—the college’s payroll and its outsourcing of security services.   

199



 

5 
 

Table 2  Economic Presence of Northwestern Michigan College 

  
*By place of work and includes contracted security personnel 
 
 
Table 3  2012–2013 Student Enrollment 

 
SOURCE: Northwestern Michigan College. 
 

Direct employment* 1,101 1,101 1,101
Full impact on the region
Employment 1,423 1,478 1,487
Personal income ($ mil 2012) 35.9 48.9 49.8
Sales ($ mil 2012) 70.9 74.9 75.8
Gross Regional Product ($ mil 2012) 45.4 48.0 48.5

Employment 67 87 90
Personal income ($ mil 2012) 2.1 2.8 2.9
Sales ($ mil 2012) 5.9 7.5 7.8
Gross Regional Product ($ mil 2012) 3.9 4.9 5.1

Employment 150 180 182
Personal income  ($ mil 2012) 4.9 7.3 7.3
Sales  ($ mil 2012) 30.2 35.2 35.2
Gross Regional Product ($ mil 2012) 12.6 14.7 14.7

Employment 24 43 63
Personal income  ($ mil 2012) 0.7 1.6 2.7
Sales  ($ mil 2012) 4.0 7.1 12.2
Gross Regional Product ($ mil 2012) 1.8 3.1 5.3

Employment 1,664 1,788 1,822
Personal income  ($ mil 2012) 43.7 60.6 62.6
Sales  ($ mil 2012) 111.0 124.7 130.9
Gross Regional Product  ($ mil 2012) 63.8 70.8 73.6

NMC Training Division

Business Competitiveness

Total Presence Impact

Grand Traverse Region  2 Region 3

Ongoing Operations

Student Expenditures (NMC and University Center)

Fall 2012 Spring 2013 Summer 2013
Northwestern Michigan College
Grand Traverse (Region 1) 3,058 2,954 865

Percent 3/4 time or more 55 56 13
Region 2 excluding GT 1,208 1,192 281

Percent 3/4 time or more 57 58 13
Region 3 excluding Region 2 164 140 34

Percent 3/4 time or more 67 68 13
Other 414 344 147
Total 4,844 4,630 1,327
     Percent 3/4 time or more 58 59 13

200



 

6 
 

Moreover, the consumer expenditures of University Center students are included in estimating 
the NMC economic presence. University Center enrollment expressed in contact hours 
generated, were converted to estimated student headcount as shown in Table 4. 
 
Table 4  University Center Student Enrollment 

 
Semester 

 
Total credit hours (CH) 

Undergraduate students 
(70% of CH at 9 CH per student) 

Graduate students 
(30% of CH at 6 CH per student) 

Fall 2012 5,041 392 168 
Spring 2013 4,819 375 241 
Summer 2013 2,290 178 115 

 
 
According to the finding of a study prepared by Geoffrey Paulin, full-time college students spend 
$3,700 per quarter.3 However, roughly 40 percent of NMC students are less than three-quarter 
time during fall and spring semesters and 87 percent of the college’s summer students are less 
than three-quarter. These individuals can include working adults taking career advancement 
courses and/or retirees taking classes for personal enrichment as well as credential seeking 
students. Since, for these individuals, attending class is not their primary activity, their consumer 
expenditures are excluded from estimating both NMC’s economic presence and economic 
impact.4 In addition, some full-time and three- quarter-time students attending NMC live at home 
with their parents and do not pay rent. While we do not know the percentage of NMC students 
living at their parents’ residence, we do know that only 36 percent of the college’s full-time 
students are under 21 years old and only 21 percent of the college’s three-quarter-time students 
are under 21 years of age. We subtracted housing costs (rent) from the expenditures of students 
who are under 21 years of age.  
 
As shown again in Table 2, the economic presence of student expenditures generated 90 jobs in 
the 10-county region, contributed $7.8 million in total sales, and generated $5.1 million in the 
region’s Gross Regional Product. 
 
Business Community Impact 
 
Northwestern Michigan College is a vital economic asset for the regional business community. 
Having NMC in the region is advantageous to both employers and county residents who are 
potential members of the workforce for at least two reasons. First the college imparts skills and 
knowledge that enhance workers’ productivity and employability. Second, it tends to retain 
workers in the region. Many local employers interact with the college through internships, 
advisory committees, or in other ways, which promotes the hiring of NMC students and 
simultaneously promotes the retention of county residents by providing good employment 
opportunities within the region. 
 
All communities compete on the strength of the talent of their workforce. In addition to the 
overall contribution of the NMC programs in increasing the base of educated and trained workers 

                                                           
 3 Geoffrey D. Paulin, “Expenditures of College-Age Students and Nonstudents,” Monthly Labor Review, 
July 2001, pp. 46–50. He found that in the 1996–1998 period, college students spent $2,584 per quarter. In our 
calculations, we subtracted housing expenditures from this total since we assume many NMC students live at home 
and used an inflation factor of 43.2 percent.  
 
 4 While this step is required for this study, it is unfortunate because it neglects the importance of the college 
to the area’s quality of life. However, the business impact of workers enhancing their workplace skills is estimated 
in the next section.  

201



 

7 
 

in the region, NMC’s technical training programs and the NMC Training Division (part of the 
Michigan Manufacturing Technology Center), play a significant role in improving the 
competitiveness of the region’s base industries—industries that sell their goods or services to 
customers outside the region. 
 
The direct impact of the NMC Training Division is also shown in Table 2. In total, its activities 
contributed 182 jobs to the greater 10-county Grand Traverse region as well as $35.2 million in 
total sales and a $14.7 million increase in the region’s Gross Regional Product. 
 
In addition, Northwestern Michigan College offers courses and certificates in welding, auto tech, 
construction trades, renewable energy programs, advanced manufacturing, manufacturing tech, 
engineering, electronics tech, and CAD operations. These are skills that are in high demand from 
the region’s base industries. It is impossible to estimate the competitiveness gained by the 
region’s base industries because of these programs; however, if they lower production costs for 
the region’s manufacturers by just 1.0 percent, they would generate 63 jobs in the region and 
generate $12.2 million in sales, again shown in Table 2. 
 
The total economic contribution of NMC to the region is also shown in Table 2. The presence of 
NMC generated more than 1,800 jobs in the 10-county region, increased personal income by 
$62.6 million and total sales by $130.9 million. 
 
Often an employment multiplier is calculated to illustrate the total employment impact of a 
facility or organization. The multiplier is derived by dividing the total employment impact of the 
organization, in this case 1,822 for the 10-County Region by the college’s direct annual 
employment in the region, 1,101. The multiplier for NMC’s ongoing operations in the 10-County 
Region is 1.6. In other words, every 10 employees at the college support another 6 jobs in the 
region. 
 
A more detailed illustration of the college’s contribution to the regions’ employment is shown in 
Table 5. As expected, the college’s presence has a large impact on the regions’ retailers; 
however, it also supports 82 jobs in its health care sector due, in large part, to the health care 
benefit package utilized by NMC employees. 
 
  

202



 

8 
 

Table 5  Detailed Employment Breakdown of NMC’s Economic Presence  

 
 
 
Economic Impact 
 
To measure the economic impact of Northwestern Michigan College we must measure the 
difference between NMC as a comprehensive community college and a community without 
NMC. Grand Traverse County—with a population of nearly 90,000—is too large to not be 
served by a public or private higher educational institution. Therefore this analysis assumes the 
following assumptions: 
 

 A much smaller higher-education entity would provide a limited, core offering to the 
region and receive no property tax support.  

 Many of the current activities and unique training programs at NMC exist because NMC 
is a comprehensive community college with strategic priorities tailored to the needs and 
assets of the community. Specifically, this analysis assumes that the following activities 
exist primarily for these reasons and would, therefore, likely not exist under the 
hypothetical counterfactual scenario.  
 Hagerty Center  
 Great Lakes Culinary Institute  
 University Center  
 Great Lakes Maritime Academy 
 Dennos Museum Center 
 Aviation Division, Technical Division 
 Extended Educational Services (including music and physical education) 
 Bridge Program 
 Great Lakes Water Studies Institute 
 NMC Training Division 

 The staffing and payroll of the hypothetical, alternative educational provider would be 
much smaller. Including not offering the activities cited above, we assume that the “core” 
activities of a higher education institution offering services in the region under the 
counterfactual scenario would be reduced by two-thirds with a staff estimated at 270 
FTE’s.  

 Without NMC, its current students would have to decide whether to discontinue their 
education or select a different higher education institute which would likely necessitate 

Grand Traverse Region 2 Region 3
Northwestern Michigan College 1,101             1,101             1,101              
Construction 77 93 96
Manufacturing 94 117 126
Wholesale trade 18 20 21
Retail trade 79 99 103
Real estate 44 52 54
Prof., scienific, & technical serv. 19 21 22
Administratve 29 35 37
Health care 64 78 82
Arts 9 11 11
Food service 29 37 39
Other services 41 49 51
State and local government 61 73 79

Total 1,664             1,787             1,821              

203



 

9 
 

leaving the area. In fact, we have assumed that all of NMC’s current students living 
outside Grand Traverse County would attend school elsewhere because of the 
counterfactual institution’s limited course offerings. For students living in Grand 
Traverse County, we have assumed that 50 percent would decide not to advance their 
education beyond high school and remain in the county. 

 At the same time, in estimating the economic impact of the college’s presence in the 
region, we must consider the local tax support for NMC’s ongoing operational budget of 
$55 million (FY’13 actual). Without NMC all or, at least, a portion of these property tax 
dollars would be returned to the region’s property owners. In short, the $9.1 million in 
local property taxes would be returned to taxpayers in this scenario. The reduction in 
property taxes for residents would have a positive impact on consumption expenditures. 
For businesses, the decrease in property taxes would lower their capital costs on plant and 
equipment, making the county marginally more cost competitive. As shown in Table 6, 
the combined impact to residents and businesses of the lower property taxes would 
generate an estimated 179 jobs in the 10-county region. Since this is an offsetting impact 
to the college’s economic presence, it is entered as a negative impact. 

 
As shown in Table 6, the direct impact of NMC employment is reduced to 831, because the 
hypothetical higher education entity would be staffed by an estimated 270 instructors and 
administrators. Again, the economic impact of NMC is the difference between its current level of 
operations and this hypothetical educational institution. This total economic impact of NMC can 
be measured in several ways: an increase of 1,060 jobs, $55.2 million in sales, $37.2 million in 
the region’s personal income or a $33.0 million in the region’s Gross Regional Product. In the 
following section, we break out the individual components that make up NMC’s economic 
impact. 
 
We estimate that the economic impact of NMC’s ongoing operations generates 1,123 jobs in the 
10-county region, contributes $56.5 million in extra sales, and $36.2 million to the region’s 
Gross Regional Product.  
  

204



 

10 
 

Table 6  Economic Impact of Northwestern Michigan College 

 
 
The economic impact of student expenditures is determined by estimating the percentage of 
students who would either leave the area to attend college elsewhere, or not attend college 
because of the absence of a more comprehensive and potentially more affordable option. The 
hypothetical institution’s course offering would be limited; however, some students in Grand 
Traverse County would remain.  
 
Finally, since it is assumed that the counterfactual institution would not provide the technical 
career programs being offered by NMC, the college’s economic impact would include its 
positive impact on the competitiveness of the regions’ businesses. However, it is very likely that 
the local MMTC operations would move to a different host and, therefore, its contribution is not 
included in the college’s economic impact.  
 
The full economic impact of the college is shown in Table 6. In total, the economic impact of 
Northwestern Michigan College compared to a private transfer institution is an increase in 1,060 
jobs and a rise in total sales of $55.2 million. Personal income is $32.7 million greater and the 

Direct employment 1,101 1,101 1,101
Alternative institute -270 -270 -270
Net institute impact 831 831 831

Full impact on the regions
Employment 1,074 1,116 1,123
Personal income ($ mil 2012) 27.3 37.1 34.9
Sales ($ mil 2012) 53.6 56.7 56.5
Gross Regional Product ($ mil 2012) 34.3 36.3 36.2

Employment 34 51 53
Personal income ($ mil 2012) 1.1 1.6 1.7
Sales ($ mil 2012) 3.0 4.4 4.6
Gross Regional Product ($ mil 2012) 1.9 2.9 3.0

Employment 24 43 63
Personal income ($ mil 2012) 0.7 1.6 2.7
Sales ($ mil 2012) 4.0 7.1 12.2
Gross Regional Product ($ mil 2012) 1.8 3.1 5.3

Employment -170 -178 -179
Personal income ($ mil 2012) -5.4 -6.5 -6.6
Sales ($ mil 2012) -17.2 -17.8 -18.1
Gross Regional Product ($ mil 2012) -10.9 -11.3 -11.5

Employment 962 1,032 1,060
Personal income ($ mil 2012) 23.7 33.9 32.7
Sales ($ mil 2012) 43.4 50.3 55.2
Gross Regional Product ($ mil 2012) 27.2 31.0 33.0

Region 3

Student Expenditures (NMC and University Center)

Business Competitiveness

Tax Impact

Total Economic Impact

Ongoing Operations

Grand Traverse Region  2

205



 

11 
 

region’s Gross Regional Product is $33.0 million larger. In other words this is the regional 
economic impact that is supported by $9.1 million in property taxes paid to NMC.  
 
Finally, Table 7 provides a detailed breakdown of the college’s employment impact on the 
region’s industrial sectors. 
 
Table 7  Detailed Employment Breakdown of Northwestern  

Michigan College’s Economic Impact 

 
 
 

Impact on Potential Graduate Earnings 
 
If young adults decide not to further their academic careers because of the absence of 
Northwestern Michigan College, it would significantly lower their lifetime earning potential. In 
the following figures, we show the 2012 average annual earnings and unemployment rates for 
working age adults living in Antrim, Benzie, Charlevoix, Emmet, Grand Traverse, Kalkaska, 
Leelanau, Missaukee, and Wexford counties.5 As can be seen in Figure 1, the average annual 
income of individuals with an Associate’s degree is 30 percent higher than that of a person who 
holds only a high school diploma. Moreover, as seen in Figure 2, Associate-degree holders also 
face lower unemployment rates than persons with only a high school diploma. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                           
 5 The geographic limitation of the iPUMS database, which provides a five percent sample of individual 
records from the 2012 U.S. American Community Survey, requires this large geographic area. Note that Manistee 
County is excluded from this region based on available data. 

Grand Traverse Region 2 Region 3
Northwestern Michigan College 1,101 1,101 1,101

Alternative Institute -270 -270 -270
Net Direct 831 831 831

Construction 21 30 32
Manufacturing 8 17 26
Wholesale trade 5 6 7
Retail trade 23 37 40
Real estate 5 10 12
Prof., scienific, & technical serv. 4 5 6
Administratve 11 14 15
Education services 821 820 820
Health care 16 25 27

Arts 3 4 4
Food service 4 10 11
Other services 9 13 15
State and local government 31 39 44

Total 962 1,031 1,060

206



 

12 
 

Figure 1  Average Annual Income by Educational Attainment 

 
SOURCE: Ruggles et al, IPUMS USA 2012.  
 
 
Figure 2  Unemployment Rate by Educational Attainment 

 
SOURCE: Ruggles et al, IPUMS USA 2012.  
 
 
It should be noted that the above data do not specifically reflect the value of an NMC Associate 
degree but rather an Associate degree from any institution of those employed in the Northern 
Michigan region. 
 
It is difficult to estimate the average return on investment (ROI) of a student attending 
Northwestern Michigan College for several reasons. First, some do not complete a certificate or 
degree program and yet receive economic benefits from attending classes which upgrade their 
skills. Second, NMC offers a wide selection of unique programs that charge differential tuition 
rates based on higher program costs. Therefore there is increasing variability in the cost of 
attendance depending on the program pursued. Third, students may take longer than two years to 
complete, and may not be successful in finding a career that uses their training to its utmost. 
Fourth, the opportunity cost of attending college—the loss of income from not working full 
time—varies greatly between students and their economic conditions. Finally, in estimating a 
lifetime flow of earnings generated by attending college, a proper discount rate must be used. 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Less than HS High school Some 
college

Associate's Bachelor's Graduate

A
n

n
u

al
 in

co
m

e 
(i

n
 0

00
s)

Northern Michigan Michigan

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Less than HS High school Some 
college

Associate's Bachelor's Graduate

U
n

em
p

lo
ym

en
t r

at
e

Northern Michigan Michigan

207



 

13 
 

There is much debate on this topic: too low of a discount rate will overvalue long-term returns, 
while the opposite is true if the discount rate is set too high. 
 
As shown in Table 8, we provide three separate estimates for the return on investment for 
students completing their Associate degrees at NMC. These three scenarios are as follows: 
 

 Scenario 1: A student completes a general Associate’s degree from Northwestern 
Michigan College in two years, without receiving any financial support. 
 

 Scenario 2: A student completes a general Associate’s degree from NMC and receives 
financial support (Federal Pell Grant) 
 

In both of the scenarios above, the student would forego the opportunity to earn $9,600 per year 
for the 30 weeks that he/she is attending class for the two years. This is based on the student 
working full-time for $8.00 per hour for 30 weeks each year.  

 
Scenario 3: A student goes to NMC on a part-time basis, taking 11 credit hours each 
semester and completes in three years. During these three years he/she is also working 
part-time, 20 hours per week, earning $4,800 per year.  
 

As shown in Table 8, we estimate that the student paying full tuition would see a $7.93 return for 
every dollar spent attending college (2012 dollars); including foregoing earned income during 
the two years. For students receiving the average federal assistance package (Pell Grants) who 
completes in two years, the return is $11.14 per every dollar invested. Finally for the student who 
works and attends NMC on a part-time basis, completing in three years, the return on his/her 
investment is $9.85. Under scenarios 1 and 2, the average associate degree holder earns $460,000 
more during their working career than a high school graduate. In the third scenario it is slightly 
lower. To estimate the current value of this difference in earning streams between an associate 
degree holder and a high school graduate, a three percent discount rate was used to adjust for 
time preferences, current earnings are valued more than future earnings even when accounting 
for inflation. 
 
It is clear that the student’s ROI for attending college will vary greatly depending on the courses 
taken, parental support, and career success. Nevertheless, even under the conservative conditions 
stated above, attending NMC is a smart move. 
 
Table 8  Return on Investment for Attending and Completing an Associate Degree  

at Northwestern Michigan College 

 
 
 
Other Considerations 
 
Dollars and cents are an important but incomplete unit of measurement when it comes to 
evaluating the importance of Northwestern Michigan College to the greater Grand Traverse 

20 to 34 35 to 44 45 to 54 55 to 64

5,523$               -$                19,200$            6,237$               9,605$               13,970$             12,987$          193,199$       7.93$           

5,523$               6,534$            19,200$            6,237$               9,605$               13,970$             12,987$          199,638$       11.14$         

5,696$               -$                14,400$            6,237$               9,605$               13,970$             12,987$          192,248$       9.85$           

Full-time student completing in two years 
without financial support 
Full-time student completing in two years with 
federal Pell Grant assistance

Part-time student completing in three years 
working full time

Total tuition        
(2013 dollars) 

Total amount 
of federal 
assistanceScenario

Earning difference between Associate degree and high school  
diploma (2013 dollars)

Net present 
value

Return on 
investment

Foregone 
earnings due 
to attending 

NMC

208



 

14 
 

community. Last year, more than 7,200 individuals visited the Dennos Museum Center and only 
50 percent resided in Grand Traverse County. In addition, more than 1,200 K–12 students and 
nearly 700 college students attended programs at the Dennos. Unfortunately, it is difficult to find 
empirical data on which to estimate the economic impact of these events. These types of visits 
are often associated with other activities, such as visiting friends or family or multi-destination 
vacations. 
 
Additionally, NMC retirees overwhelmingly (86 percent of current retirees) stay in the region 
following retirement. It seems likely that the educational and cultural contributions of NMC to 
the community play a significant role in their decision to remain and to use their retirement 
savings in this local region.  
 
NMC’s non-credit Extended Education enrollment is not included in this economic analysis. It is 
noteworthy that a full 39 percent of the Extended Education (non-credit) enrollment is comprised 
of adults age 65 or older in the region (2,346 individuals). Clearly this is an offering that appeals 
to and likely enriches the community at all ages but particularly the life-long learners. 
 
 

Summary  
 
This analysis quantifies the significant economic presence of Northwestern Michigan College in 
the region. With $9.1 million in local property tax support (FY’13 actual) funding 17 percent of 
their overall $55 million operating budget, NMC contributed $130.9 million in total sales, $62.6 
million in personal income and $73.6 million in total Gross Regional Product. Every NMC job 
supports .6 additional jobs in the 10-county region. NMC is a net positive investment for the 
community. Local businesses are more competitive because NMC contributes to a trained 
workforce. At the student level, attaining an associate degree yields a return on investment of 
$7.94 to $11.15 and historically offers lower levels of unemployment. 
 
NMC contributes far more to the cultural enrichment of the region in ways that are difficult to 
quantify, and yet local residents experience a higher quality of life because of NMC’s presence. 
Finally, the region benefits from these aspects of NMC’s operations:  
 

 Providing economic activity during the off-season. Most of the college’s economic 
impact, including the expenditures of its students, occurs during the tourism off-season 
months. The college provides balance to an economy that is highly dependent upon 
tourism. 

 Increasing the number of retirees residing in the region. Currently, 175 former NMC 
full-time employees live in the greater Grand Traverse 10-county region.  

 
Clearly Northwestern Michigan College is an integral part of the greater Grand Traverse regional 
economy. Moreover, its role will only grow in importance as the region’s industries continue to 
compete on the global stage. In a world environment where transportation costs continue to 
decline in importance, the quality of a region’s workforce and the caliber of its education system 
will play a more crucial role.  
 

209



 

15 
 

 

Appendix  

 

Description of the REMI Model 

 

The W.E. Upjohn Institute maintains an economic computer model specially designed to 
estimate the economic impact of changes in the greater Grand Traverse region. The model was 
constructed by Regional Economic Models Incorporated (REMI) and contains three separate 
components that together capture the resulting total impact to the local economy due to a change 
in employment. These components are: 
 

 An input-output model that estimates the impact of changes in inter-industry purchases 
on the local economy. This component of the model captures the impact of an increase in 
orders to local suppliers of goods and services, as well as the impact of households 
increasing their purchases of consumer goods and services. 

 
 A relative wage component that estimates the impact of the expected changes in the 

area’s cost structure due to changes in economic activity. For instance, when a major 
employer moves into the area, it can cause wages to increase across almost all industries 
due to the increased demand for workers and other local resources. This boost in wages, 
while generating additional consumption expenditures, increases the cost of doing 
business in the area, making the area slightly less attractive to other industries. On the 
other hand, an increase in the number of skilled workers enhances the area’s productivity, 
and thereby lowers the cost per unit of production, making the region more competitive. 

 
 A forecasting and demographic component that forecasts the resulting changes in future 

employment and population levels due to a change in economic activity. The model 
generates an annual forecast which averages seasonal jobs by their duration. For example, 
four summer jobs that have durations of three months each are modeled as only one year-
round job in REMI. 
 

The model is particularly suited to measure the economic impact of higher-education institutions 
because: 
 

 It contains a highly detailed breakdown of expenditures made by higher-education 
institutions. Other models use a more general breakdown that includes expenditures made 
by all education institutions including K–12 public and private schools. 
 

 It allows for estimating the unique consumption expenditures made by students and the 
college’s faculty and staff. 

 
 Finally, it includes a residential component that allows for the modeling of the impact of 

students, faculty, and staff staying in the county and working outside the county. Other 
models mistakenly assume that once an employer has left the county, all of the workers 
would leave as well. 

 
Finally, the model has been rigorously reviewed in numerous academic journals. 
 
 

210



211



212



213



214



215



216



217



218



219



220



221



222



223



 

Appendix F  

Faculty/Staff Headcount History 

  

224



N
O

R
T

H
W

E
ST

E
R

N
 M

IC
H

IG
A

N
 C

O
L

L
E

G
E

FA
C

U
L

T
Y

 A
N

D
 S

T
A

FF
 H

E
A

D
C

O
U

N
T

 H
IS

T
O

R
Y

(H
ea

dc
ou

nt
 a

s o
f O

ct
ob

er
 1

)

C
A

T
E

G
O

R
Y

2
0
1
9

2
0
1
8

2
0
1
7

2
0
1
6

2
0
1
5

2
0
1
4

2
0
1
3

2
0
1
2

2
0
1
1

2
0
1
0

2
0
0
9

2
0
0
8

2
0
0
7

2
0
0
6

2
0
0
5

2
0
0
4

2
0
0
3

2
0
0
2

2
0
0
1

2
0
0
0

 
 

 
 

 
 

F
a

c
u

lt
y

8
2

8
6

8
8

9
0

9
5

9
6

9
2

9
2

9
8

8
9

9
3

9
0

9
1

9
2

9
4

9
2

9
4

9
0

8
8

8
7

F
u

ll 
ti
m

e
7
9

8
4

8
5

8
8

9
3

9
3

8
8

8
8

9
0

8
1

8
7

8
4

8
5

8
8

9
1

8
8

9
0

8
8

8
8

8
7

P
a
rt

 t
im

e
3

2
3

2
2

3
4

4
8

8
6

6
6

4
3

4
4

2
0

0

F
T

E
8
5
.2

2
8
7
.2

2
8
9
.4

8
9
4
.4

8
9
5
.0

4
8
9
.5

0
8
9
.3

6
9
2
.2

0
8
4
.0

9
8
9
.0

0
8
6
.1

7
8
8
.1

4
8
9
.5

4
9
2
.0

4
8
9
.4

2
9
1
.8

0
8
9
.0

0
8
8
.0

0
8
7
.0

0

A
d

m
in

is
tr

a
ti

v
e

3
7

3
6

3
5

3
6

3
7

3
7

3
7

3
6

3
5

2
9

2
8

2
6

2
7

2
3

2
2

2
0

2
2

2
1

2
0

2
1

F
u

ll 
ti
m

e
3
6

3
5

3
4

3
5

3
6

3
6

3
6

3
5

3
4

2
9

2
8

2
6

2
7

2
3

2
2

2
0

2
2

2
1

2
0

2
1

P
a
rt

 t
im

e
1

1
1

1
1

1
1

1
1

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0

F
T

E
3
5
.5

3
4
.5

3
5
.5

0
3
6
.5

0
3
6
.2

3
3
6
.3

3
3
5
.3

3
3
4
.2

1
2
8
.3

3
2
8
.0

0
2
6
.0

0
2
7
.0

0
2
3
.0

0
2
2
.0

0
2
0
.0

0
2
2
.0

0
2
1
.0

0
2
0
.0

0
 

P
ro

fe
s
s
io

n
a

l 
S

ta
ff

1
7
1

7
5

8
9

9
1

8
9

8
6

8
1

7
4

8
0

7
7

7
4

6
6

6
3

6
2

5
6

5
6

6
0

5
7

5
1

5
3

F
u

ll 
ti
m

e
1
6
8

7
2

8
4

8
7

8
4

8
0

7
6

7
0

7
6

7
5

7
3

6
5

6
2

5
9

5
3

5
4

5
5

5
5

4
9

5
1

P
a
rt

 t
im

e
1

3
5

4
5

6
5

4
4

2
1

1
1

3
0

2
5

2
2

2

F
T

E
7
3
.6

5
8
7
.2

7
8
9
.9

3
7
5

8
6
.1

5
8
4
.3

5
7
9
.3

7
5

7
1
.3

7
5

7
7
.4

7
5
.3

0
7
3
.3

3
6
5
.4

9
6
2
.5

6
6
1
.2

9
5
4
.7

9
5
5
.0

2
5
8
.5

3
5
6
.4

7
5
0
.4

7

P
a
ra

p
ro

fe
s
s
io

n
a

l/
T

e
c
h

n
ic

a
l

4
0

3
8

4
3

4
5

4
4

4
6

4
7

5
0

4
0

4
6

5
0

4
9

4
8

4
6

4
4

4
3

4
4

4
0

4
0

F
u

ll 
ti
m

e
4
0

3
8

4
2

4
4

4
3

4
5

4
6

4
8

3
8

4
4

4
8

4
7

4
6

4
4

4
1

4
0

4
2

3
8

3
6

P
a
rt

 t
im

e
0

0
1

1
1

1
1

2
2

2
2

2
2

2
3

3
2

2
4

F
T

E
3
9
.2

5
3
8
.7

5
4
2
.2

0
4
4
.5

0
4
3
.5

0
4
4
.8

4
6
.5

4
9
.2

5
3
8
.4

5
4
5
.2

5
4
9

4
8
.0

0
4
7
.0

0
4
5
.0

0
4
3
.0

0
4
2
.4

6
4
3
.2

5
3
9
.5

0

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 S
ta

ff
1
9

1
9

2
0

2
0

1
8

1
9

1
8

2
1

2
3

2
8

2
4

2
5

2
5

2
7

3
2

3
6

3
7

3
8

3
9

F
u

ll 
ti
m

e
1
7

1
8

1
9

1
9

1
7

1
8

1
7

1
8

2
0

2
5

2
1

2
1

2
2

2
5

2
7

2
9

3
1

3
2

3
4

P
a
rt

 t
im

e
2

1
1

1
1

1
1

3
3

3
3

4
3

2
5

7
6

6
5

F
T

E
1
8
.8

7
1
9

2
0
.0

0
1
9
.4

4
1
7
.3

6
1
8
.7

4
1
7
.8

7
2
0
.9

6
2
4
.3

7
2
7
.7

7
2
2
.9

0
2
3
.5

7
2
4
.0

9
2
6
.4

2
2
9
.7

4
3
3
.7

8
3
4
.7

8
3
5
.8

2

M
a
in

te
n

a
n

c
e
/C

u
s

to
d

ia
l 

3
2

3
1

3
1

3
1

3
1

3
5

3
8

3
8

4
0

3
9

4
0

3
7

4
0

3
6

3
6

3
7

3
6

3
5

3
0

2
9

F
u

ll 
ti
m

e
3
2

3
1

3
1

3
1

3
1

3
5

3
8

3
8

4
0

3
9

4
0

3
7

4
0

3
6

3
6

3
7

3
6

3
5

3
0

2
9

P
a
rt

 t
im

e
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
F

T
E

3
0
.5

3
0

3
1

3
1

3
5

3
8

3
8

4
0

3
9
.2

0
3
9
.6

9
3
6
.5

2
4
0
.0

0
3
6
.0

0
3
6
.0

0
3
7
.0

0
3
6
.0

0
3
5
.0

0
3
0
.0

0

T
o

ta
l 

R
e
g

u
la

r 
E

m
p

lo
y
e
e
s

3
2
2

2
8
7

3
0
0

3
1
1

3
1
7

3
1
6

3
1
3

3
0
5

3
2
4

2
9
7

3
0
9

2
9
3

2
9
5

2
8
6

2
8
1

2
8
1

2
9
1

2
8
4

2
6
7

2
6
9

F
u

ll 
ti
m

e
3
1
5

2
7
9

2
9
0

3
0
2

3
0
7

3
0
4

3
0
1

2
9
4

3
0
6

2
8
2

2
9
7

2
8
1

2
8
2

2
7
4

2
7
1

2
6
7

2
7
2

2
7
2

2
5
7

2
5
8

P
a
rt

 t
im

e
7

8
1
0

9
1
0

1
2

1
2

1
1

1
8

1
5

1
2

1
2

1
3

1
2

1
0

1
4

1
9

1
2

1
0

1
1

F
T

E
2
8
2
.9

9
2
9
6
.7

4
3
0
8
.1

1
9

3
1
2
.0

6
9

3
1
1
.4

7
5
2

3
0
6
.7

4
2
7

2
9
8
.4

3
8
8

3
1
5
.0

1
6
6

2
8
9
.7

4
3
0
3
.0

4
2
8
6
.0

7
2
8
9
.2

7
2
8
0
.9

2
2
7
6
.2

5
2
7
4
.1

8
2
8
4
.5

7
2
7
9
.5

0
2
6
3
.7

9

 
 

 

 
 

 

A
d

ju
n

c
t 

F
a

c
u

lt
y

1
6
8

1
4
0

1
7
0

1
7
7

1
7
8

1
9
1

1
9
2

2
0
9

2
1
2

2
2
4

2
0
6

1
9
1

1
7
9

1
7
9

1
6
8

1
6
7

1
7
8

1
6
3

1
5
4

1
5
3

F
T

E
6
1
.7

8
6
4
.9

4
6
5
.6

1
6
7
.4

9
7
1
.1

7
8
1
.7

3
8
5
.7

7
8
9
.0

3
1
0
4
.6

0
9
6
.1

4
9
1
.9

0
8
5
.6

0
8
2
.1

5
7
2
.3

7
7
5
.4

6
8
3
.5

5
7
2
.5

8
6
3
.2

4
6
1
.9

1

S
tu

d
e

n
t 

E
m

p
lo

y
e
e
s

1
0
6

8
3

1
0
6

9
3

1
0
8

1
0
2

9
9

1
2
1

1
2
4

1
2
0

1
3
0

1
1
0

1
1
9

1
1
2

1
1
5

1
2
2

1
1
9

1
1
0

1
0
2

1
0
4

F
T

E
3
1
.6

1
3
3
.1

4
3
0
.8

2
3
4
.3

9
6
4

3
4
.1

1
5
5

3
4
.7

0
3
3

4
0
.8

2
8

4
3
.5

1
8
7

4
2
.1

5
1
3

4
6
.4

8
4
0
.1

5
4
3
.1

0
4
3
.0

4
4
3
.4

1
4
2
.2

9
3
9
.8

4
3
8
.9

7
3
5
.2

7

S
u

p
p

le
m

e
n

ta
l 

E
m

p
lo

y
e
e
s

1
8
9

1
3
9

1
3
5

1
2
7

1
3
2

1
3
3

1
2
9

1
2
6

1
2
1

1
1
4

9
7

7
7

7
8

6
5

7
0

7
3

7
5

7
7

6
9

7
6

F
T

E
6
8
.1

5
6
8
.5

6
6
5
.5

8
2
7

6
2
.5

4
5
7

7
1
.2

0
2
5

6
4
.8

6
9
3

6
5
.0

3
3

6
6
.0

7
1
2

6
2
.5

7
8

5
1
.6

8
4
5
.6

3
3
8
.4

6
3
4
.2

1
3
0
.0

1
3
1
.7

7
3
1
.7

3
3
8
.0

1
3
3
.9

9

 
 

 
 

R
e
p

o
rt

 t
o

ta
l

7
8
5

6
4
9

7
1
1

7
0
8

7
3
5

7
4
2

7
3
3

7
6
1

7
8
1

7
5
5

7
4
2

6
7
1

6
7
1

6
4
2

6
3
4

6
4
3

6
6
3

6
3
4

5
9
2

6
0
2

F
T

E
4
4
4
.5

3
4
6
3
.3

8
4
7
0
.1

3
4
7
6
.5

4
8
7
.9

6
4
8
8
.0

4
4
9
0
.0

6
8
6

5
2
2
.6

4
4
9
9
.0

7
4
9
7
.3

4
4
6
3
.7

5
4
5
6
.4

3
4
4
0
.3

2
4
2
2
.0

4
4
2
3
.7

0
4
3
9
.6

9
4
2
9
.0

6
3
9
6
.2

9

F
a
ll 

S
tu

d
e
n
t 
H

e
a
d
c
o
u
n
t

3
,7

1
4

  
  

3
,9

3
5

  
  

4
,1

6
7

  
  

4
,2

6
8

  
  

4
,5

4
2

  
  

4
,7

2
7

  
  

4
,8

4
7

  
  

5
,1

6
8

  
  

5
,4

4
0

  
  

5
,0

6
8

  
  

4
,5

6
4

  
  

4
,5

0
7

4
,3

9
3

4
,3

8
2

4
,4

2
3

4
,3

5
8

4
,3

4
1

4
,1

7
3

4
,0

7
5

F
a
ll 

C
o
n
ta

c
t 
H

o
u
rs

3
9

,8
5

4
  

4
2

,0
5

9
  

4
3

,3
9

8
  

4
5

,8
2

1
  

4
8

,7
2

1
  

5
1

,1
9

9
  

5
6

,6
1

3
  

5
6

,6
1

3
  

6
0

,9
1

6
  

5
5

,9
0

7
  

5
0

,6
4

5
  

5
0

,7
8

4
4

9
,1

4
3

4
8

,8
0

3
4

8
,6

0
9

4
6

,4
6

6
4

4
,9

6
8

4
2

,8
2

2
4

1
,0

8
6

9
/1

6
/2

0
2
1
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 F
 H

e
a
d
co

u
n
t 

H
is

to
ry

 2
0
1
4
-P

re
se

n
t.

x
ls

225



 

Appendix G 

Class Size & Projected Class Size 

Needs - Course Efficiency Report 

  

226



N
o

rt
h

w
es

te
rn

 M
ic

h
ig

an
 C

o
lle

ge
 –

 C
o

u
rs

e 
Ef

fi
ci

e
n

cy
 R

e
p

o
rt

  

(N
o

te
: H

ig
h

lig
h

te
d

 c
el

ls
 e

xc
ee

d
 9

0
%

 g
o

al
) 

 

 
 

 
 227



 
 

 
 228



 
 

 
 229



 
 

Appendix H  

Summary description of each 

facility  

(net to gross ratios) 

  

230



B
u

id
in

gs
20

4
,2

63
,7

0
0

$ 
   

   
 

C
o

n
te

n
ts

1
8

,6
7

5
,0

8
0

$
   

 
B

u
ild

in
g 

+ 
C

o
n

te
n

ts
22

2
,9

38
,7

8
0

$ 
   

 

B
u

id
in

gs
22

2,
86

4,
20

0
$ 

   
   

 
C

o
n

te
n

ts
1

9
,6

1
0

,7
6

6
$

   
 

B
u

ild
in

g 
+ 

C
o

n
te

n
ts

24
2,

47
4,

96
6

$ 
   

 

L
o

c
a

ti
o

n
#

L
o

c
a

ti
o

n
 D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

L
a

s
t 

Y
e

a
r

L
a

s
t 

Y
e

a
r

L
a

s
t 

Y
e

a
r 

L
a

s
t 

Y
e

a
r

 
N

e
w

 
N

e
w

 C
o

n
te

n
ts

N
e

w
N

e
w

 
L

e
a

s
e

d

B
u

il
d

in
g

 V
a

lu
e

C
o

n
te

n
ts

T
o

ta
l 
V

a
lu

e
S

q
u

a
re

 F
t

 
B

u
il
d

in
g

 V
a

lu
e

V
a

lu
e

T
o

ta
l 
V

a
lu

e
S

q
u

a
re

 F
t

(M
a

rk
 "

X
"
)

1
Ta

n
is

/B
ei

d
er

m
an

/I
ST

LC
31

,5
06

,9
00

73
4

,3
88

32
,2

41
,2

88
   

   
   

   
10

5
,5

19
33

,0
82

,4
00

   
   

   
1,

66
8,

79
7

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
34

,7
51

,1
97

   
   

   
10

5
,5

19

2
A

p
ar

tm
en

ts
 A

1,
84

6,
20

0
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

1,
84

6,
20

0
   

   
   

   
   

12
,3

99
1,

93
8,

60
0

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

1,
93

8,
60

0
   

   
   

  
12

,3
99

2B
A

p
ar

tm
en

t 
B

1,
84

6,
20

0
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

1,
84

6,
20

0
   

   
   

   
   

12
,3

99
1,

93
8,

60
0

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

1,
93

8,
60

0
   

   
   

  
12

,3
99

2C
A

p
ar

tm
en

t 
C

1,
84

6,
20

0
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

1,
84

6,
20

0
   

   
   

   
   

12
,3

99
1,

93
8,

60
0

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

1,
93

8,
60

0
   

   
   

  
12

,3
99

3
A

p
p

el
 B

io
lo

gy
15

7
,8

00
2,

99
6

16
0

,7
96

   
   

   
   

   
   

1,
16

0
16

5
,5

00
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

16
5

,5
00

   
   

   
   

   
1,

16
0

5
A

vi
at

io
n

   
   

2,
48

1,
10

0
1,

42
8,

46
5

3,
90

9,
56

5
   

   
   

   
   

20
,9

12
2,

60
5,

20
0

   
   

   
  

81
0,

50
2

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

3,
41

5,
70

2
   

   
   

  
20

,9
12

6
Fo

u
n

d
er

s 
H

al
l

1,
21

2,
00

0
51

,0
16

1,
26

3,
01

6
   

   
   

   
   

4,
95

0
1,

27
3,

50
0

   
   

   
  

56
,2

88
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

1,
32

9,
78

8
   

   
   

  
4,

95
0

7
Ea

st
 R

es
id

en
ce

 H
al

l
12

,3
82

,1
00

79
8

,9
58

13
,1

81
,0

58
   

   
   

   
52

,2
88

13
,0

01
,5

00
   

   
   

1,
80

0,
59

3
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

14
,8

02
,0

93
   

   
   

52
,2

88

8
Fi

n
e 

A
rt

s 
B

u
ild

in
g

4,
99

7,
00

0
53

5
,7

09
5,

53
2,

70
9

   
   

   
   

   
18

,8
00

5,
24

6,
90

0
   

   
   

  
11

6,
19

6
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
5,

36
3,

09
6

   
   

   
  

18
,8

00

10
O

st
er

lin
 L

ib
ra

ry
   

   
   

12
,4

70
,5

00
5,

41
6,

71
5

17
,8

87
,2

15
   

   
   

   
46

,7
34

13
,0

94
,2

00
   

   
   

3,
44

7,
03

3
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

16
,5

41
,2

33
   

   
   

46
,7

34

13
M

u
se

u
m

 -
 A

u
d

it
o

ri
u

m
   

   
17

,8
76

,7
00

42
7

,4
43

18
,3

04
,1

43
   

   
   

   
39

,0
00

18
,7

70
,7

00
   

   
   

26
6,

83
6

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

19
,0

37
,5

36
   

   
   

55
,0

85

14
O

b
se

rv
at

o
ry

41
8

,3
00

72
,7

44
49

1
,0

44
   

   
   

   
   

   
1,

62
4

43
9

,3
00

   
   

   
   

   
67

,4
54

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
50

6
,7

54
   

   
   

   
   

1,
62

4

15
O

le
so

n
 C

en
te

r
2,

59
7,

30
0

28
1

,7
97

2,
87

9,
09

7
   

   
   

   
   

10
,3

98
2,

72
7,

20
0

   
   

   
  

63
,7

23
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

2,
79

0,
92

3
   

   
   

  
10

,3
98

16
P

h
ys

ic
al

 E
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
5,

80
9,

80
0

22
6

,9
27

6,
03

6,
72

7
   

   
   

   
   

25
,6

74
6,

10
0,

50
0

   
   

   
  

71
,2

24
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

6,
17

1,
72

4
   

   
   

  
25

,6
74

17
P

o
w

er
h

o
u

se
2,

19
2,

20
0

26
,5

06
2,

21
8,

70
6

   
   

   
   

   
3,

58
0

2,
30

1,
90

0
   

   
   

  
15

,1
49

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
2,

31
7,

04
9

   
   

   
  

3,
58

0

18
Sc

h
o

la
rs

 H
al

l 
15

,9
83

,8
00

56
2

,1
69

16
,5

45
,9

69
   

   
   

   
62

,8
12

16
,7

82
,8

00
   

   
   

27
,1

88
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

16
,8

09
,9

88
   

   
   

62
,8

12

19
W

es
t 

H
al

l I
n

n
o

va
ti

o
n

 C
en

te
r 

  
9,

88
4,

60
0

86
3

,6
63

10
,7

48
,2

63
   

   
   

   
35

,8
00

18
,7

62
,6

00
   

   
   

2,
81

9,
51

4
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

21
,5

82
,1

14
   

   
   

66
,3

04

20
U

n
iv

er
si

ty
 C

en
te

r 
C

am
p

u
s

13
,9

52
,4

00
14

5
,5

94
14

,0
97

,9
94

   
   

   
   

59
,4

60
14

,6
49

,8
00

   
   

   
33

2,
33

8
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
14

,9
82

,1
38

   
   

   
59

,4
60

22
U

ti
lit

y 
Tu

n
n

el
s

1,
98

1,
70

0
91

,7
62

2,
07

3,
46

2
   

   
   

   
   

6,
92

5
2,

08
0,

80
0

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

2,
08

0,
80

0
   

   
   

  
6,

92
5

23
Ea

st
er

n
 A

ve
n

u
e 

A
p

ar
tm

en
t 

St
o

ra
ge

59
,4

00
14

3
,6

53
20

3
,0

53
   

   
   

   
   

   
1,

34
4

62
,3

00
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
62

,3
00

   
   

   
   

   
  

1,
34

4

26
B

ec
ke

tt
   

   
8,

44
0,

70
0

77
5

,7
97

9,
21

6,
49

7
   

   
   

   
   

34
,2

69
8,

86
2,

90
0

   
   

   
  

43
3,

54
4

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

9,
29

6,
44

4
   

   
   

  
34

,2
69

45
P

ar
se

n
 -

 S
tu

lle
n

 M
-T

EC
 

15
,8

26
,0

00
1,

24
6,

51
6

17
,0

72
,5

16
   

   
   

   
65

,0
00

16
,6

17
,4

00
   

   
   

2,
21

2,
83

3
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

18
,8

30
,2

33
   

   
   

65
,0

00

46
M

ai
n

te
n

an
ce

 
1,

05
3,

00
0

76
1

,8
31

1,
81

4,
83

1
   

   
   

   
   

11
,9

00
1,

10
6,

70
0

   
   

   
  

55
9,

82
4

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

1,
66

6,
52

4
   

   
   

  
11

,9
00

47
La

n
d

sc
ap

e 
B

in
31

,6
00

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
31

,6
00

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
67

5
33

,2
00

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

33
,2

00
   

   
   

   
   

  
67

5

48
A

u
to

m
o

ti
ve

 S
e

rv
ic

e 
Te

ch
3,

38
2,

50
0

52
6

,2
43

3,
90

8,
74

3
   

   
   

   
   

18
,3

28
3,

55
1,

70
0

   
   

   
  

24
2,

58
3

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

3,
79

4,
28

3
   

   
   

  
18

,3
28

49
G

re
at

 L
ak

es
 C

am
p

u
s

22
,6

89
,3

00
1,

94
3,

14
2

24
,6

32
,4

42
   

   
   

   
75

,3
64

23
,8

24
,0

00
   

   
   

2,
99

2,
18

8
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

26
,8

16
,1

88
   

   
   

75
,3

64

50
A

er
o

 P
ar

k 
La

b
4,

26
8,

70
0

1,
27

6,
62

3
5,

54
5,

32
3

   
   

   
   

   
29

,6
00

4,
48

2,
20

0
   

   
   

  
1,

53
0,

29
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
6,

01
2,

49
0

   
   

   
  

29
,6

00

51
N

o
rt

h
 H

al
l

7,
06

9,
70

0
   

   
   

  
33

4
,4

23
   

   
   

   
   

7,
40

4,
12

3
   

   
   

   
   

46
,7

30
7,

42
3,

20
0

   
   

   
  

76
,6

70
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

7,
49

9,
87

0
   

   
   

  
46

,7
30

T
o

ta
ls

:
2

0
4

,2
6

3
,7

0
0

$
  
  

1
8

,6
7

5
,0

8
0

$
  
  
  

2
2

2
,9

3
8

,7
8

0
$

  
  
  
 

8
1

6
,0

4
3

2
2

2
,8

6
4

,2
0

0
$

  
  

1
9

,6
1

0
,7

6
6

$
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

2
4

2
,4

7
4

,9
6

6
$

  
  

8
6

2
,6

3
2

in
cl

u
d

e
d

 in
 c

o
n

te
n

ts
 g

ra
n

d
 t

o
ta

l*
*

*

M
is

c
e

ll
a

n
e

o
u

s
 I
te

m
s

 T
h

ro
u

g
h

o
u

t 
C

a
m

p
u

s
La

st
 Y

ea
r 

V
al

u
e

Th
is

 Y
ea

r 
V

al
u

e

M
o

n
it
o

ri
n

g
 E

q
u

ip
m

e
n

t 
(M

te
c
)

2
4

,9
0

0
2

4
,9

0
0

C
o

ll
e

g
e

 V
a

lu
e

C
e

ll 
D

e
m

o
 S

y
s
te

m
 (

M
te

c
)

6
,9

7
6

6
,9

7
6

C
o

ll
e

g
e

 V
a

lu
e

B
io

D
ie

s
e

l 
P

ro
je

c
t 
(M

te
c
)

5
,3

9
7

5
,3

9
7

C
o

ll
e

g
e

 V
a

lu
e

S
o

la
r 

T
h

e
rm

a
l 
S

y
s
te

m
 (

M
te

c
)

5
8

,6
4

6
5

8
,6

4
6

C
o

ll
e

g
e

 V
a

lu
e

S
o

la
r 

P
V

 (
M

te
c
)

5
7

,2
7

4
5

7
,2

7
4

C
o

ll
e

g
e

 V
a

lu
e

W
in

d
 P

o
w

e
r 

G
e

n
e

ra
to

r 
(U

.C
.)

6
8

,5
6

8
6

8
,5

6
8

C
o

ll
e

g
e

 V
a

lu
e

O
u

td
o

o
r 

Eq
u

ip
m

en
t

5
,5

9
2

5
,5

9
2

C
o

ll
e

g
e

 V
a

lu
e

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
at

io
n

s 
Eq

u
ip

m
en

t
9

0
,0

0
0

9
0

,0
0

0
C

o
ll
e

g
e

 V
a

lu
e

Sa
fe

ty
/C

P
R

/F
ir

st
 A

id
 E

q
u

ip
m

en
t

2
4

,2
0

0
2

4
,2

0
0

C
o

ll
e

g
e

 V
a

lu
e

B
o

o
ks

 a
n

d
 M

u
lt

i-
m

ed
ia

 M
at

er
ia

l
1

8
,5

7
1

1
8

,5
7

1
C

o
ll
e

g
e

 V
a

lu
e

M
ac

h
in

er
y 

&
 T

o
o

ls
1

2
,8

5
2

1
2

,8
5

2
C

o
ll
e

g
e

 V
a

lu
e

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 T

o
ta

ls
:

37
2

,9
76

$ 
   

   
   

  
37

2,
97

6
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

 L
as

t 
Y

e
ar

 T
o

ta
ls

:

C
u

rr
e

n
t 

Y
e

ar
 T

o
ta

ls
:

SC
H

ED
U

LE
 O

F 
B

U
IL

D
IN

G
S 

&
 C

O
N

TE
N

TS
(P

e
ri

o
d

: 7
/1

/2
02

0 
th

ro
u

gh
 7

/1
/2

02
1)

N
o

rt
h

w
e

st
e

rn
 M

ic
h

ig
an

 C
o

lle
ge

231



 

Appendix I  

Building and/or Classroom 

Utilization Rates 

  

232



Lo
ca

tio
n 

U
til

iz
at

io
n 

S
um

m
ar

y

F
ile

 N
am

e:
 S

pU
til

iz
at

io
nS

um
m

ar
y.

xs
l

R
ep

or
t P

rin
te

d 
on

 A
ug

 1
9 

20
21

 a
t 2

:3
9 

P
.M

.
P

ag
e 

1 
of

 1
4

E
ve

nt
 S

ea
rc

h:
 A

ll 
A

ca
de

m
ic

 C
la

ss
es

, L
oc

at
io

n 
S

ea
rc

h:
 A

LL
 S

P
A

C
E

S
 (

in
cl

ud
in

g 
D

en
no

s/
H

ag
er

ty
)

B
as

ed
 o

n 
ev

en
ts

 fr
om

 1
2:

00
 A

.M
. t

o 
11

:3
0 

P
.M

., 
be

tw
ee

n 
A

ug
 1

5 
20

20
 a

nd
 M

ay
 1

5 
20

21
. T

he
re

 a
re

 6
,4

39
.0

0 
to

ta
l h

ou
rs

 in
 th

e 
re

po
rt

 p
er

io
d,

 (
K

).

(A
)

M
ax

C
ap

ac
it

y

(B
)

F
ill

R
at

io

(C
)

B
la

ck
o

u
t

H
o

u
rs

(D
)

P
o

ss
ib

le

H
o

u
rs

(E
)

H
o

u
rs

U
se

d

(F
)

C
o

n
ta

ct

H
o

u
rs

(G
)

T
im

e

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(H
)

C
la

ss
 S

ea
t

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(I
)

S
ta

ti
o

n

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(J
)

N
et

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

A
L 

- 
E

N
T

IR
E

 S
H

O
P

 (
N

O
 S

P
A

C
E

S
)

53
6

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

A
L 

10
1

16
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
37

4.
80

2,
73

0.
35

5.
82

%
47

.3
2%

2.
65

%
0.

15
%

A
L 

10
2

24
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
64

9.
83

7,
16

1.
32

10
.0

9%
44

.7
9%

4.
63

%
0.

47
%

A
L 

10
3

13
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

A
L 

10
6

16
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

A
L 

11
0A

16
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
19

6.
00

1,
31

1.
75

3.
04

%
41

.6
7%

1.
27

%
0.

04
%

A
L 

11
0B

20
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
35

2.
28

2,
95

6.
48

5.
47

%
42

.5
%

2.
3%

0.
13

%

A
L 

11
8

20
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
33

5.
25

2,
05

2.
50

5.
21

%
34

.1
7%

1.
59

%
0.

08
%

A
L 

12
2

20
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

A
L 

A
20

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

45
4.

50
3,

43
1.

98
7.

06
%

38
.5

7%
2.

66
%

0.
19

%

A
L 

A
/B

40
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

A
L 

A
/B

/C
60

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

A
L 

A
/B

/C
/D

80
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

A
L 

B
20

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

A
L 

B
/C

40
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

A
L 

B
/C

/D
60

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

A
L 

B
LD

G
 (

N
O

 S
P

A
C

E
S

)
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

A
L 

C
20

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

A
L 

C
/D

40
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
18

4.
77

2,
04

4.
48

2.
87

%
27

.5
%

0.
79

%
0.

02
%

A
L 

D
20

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

A
L 

E
20

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

A
L 

E
/F

40
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

A
L 

E
/F

/G
60

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

A
L 

E
/F

/G
/H

80
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

A
L 

F
20

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

A
L 

F
/G

40
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

A
L 

F
/G

/H
60

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

A
L 

G
 S

D
 1

5
20

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

12
4.

52
1,

04
4.

33
1.

93
%

42
.5

%
0.

81
%

0.
02

%

A
L 

G
/H

40
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
60

.2
5

90
3.

75
0.

94
%

37
.5

%
0.

35
%

0%

A
L 

H
 S

D
 1

5
20

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

12
4.

52
1,

04
4.

33
1.

93
%

42
.5

%
0.

81
%

0.
02

%

A
L 

I
20

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

A
L 

I/J
40

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

233



Lo
ca

tio
n 

U
til

iz
at

io
n 

S
um

m
ar

y

F
ile

 N
am

e:
 S

pU
til

iz
at

io
nS

um
m

ar
y.

xs
l

R
ep

or
t P

rin
te

d 
on

 A
ug

 1
9 

20
21

 a
t 2

:3
9 

P
.M

.
P

ag
e 

2 
of

 1
4

E
ve

nt
 S

ea
rc

h:
 A

ll 
A

ca
de

m
ic

 C
la

ss
es

, L
oc

at
io

n 
S

ea
rc

h:
 A

LL
 S

P
A

C
E

S
 (

in
cl

ud
in

g 
D

en
no

s/
H

ag
er

ty
)

(A
)

M
ax

C
ap

ac
it

y

(B
)

F
ill

R
at

io

(C
)

B
la

ck
o

u
t

H
o

u
rs

(D
)

P
o

ss
ib

le

H
o

u
rs

(E
)

H
o

u
rs

U
se

d

(F
)

C
o

n
ta

ct

H
o

u
rs

(G
)

T
im

e

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(H
)

C
la

ss
 S

ea
t

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(I
)

S
ta

ti
o

n

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(J
)

N
et

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

A
L 

J
20

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

A
L 

K
20

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

60
.2

5
90

3.
75

0.
94

%
75

%
0.

7%
0.

01
%

A
L 

L
24

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

60
.2

5
90

3.
75

0.
94

%
62

.5
%

0.
58

%
0.

01
%

A
P

P
E

L
45

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

A
R

R
 R

O
O

M
99

9
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
1,

58
0.

42
12

2,
06

4.
72

24
.5

4%
1.

67
%

1.
9%

0.
47

%

A
T

 1
00

18
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
35

3.
53

4,
83

5.
42

5.
49

%
74

.0
7%

4.
17

%
0.

23
%

A
T

 1
02

18
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

A
T

 1
04

18
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

A
T

 1
08

18
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
56

3.
53

6,
77

6.
85

8.
75

%
60

.1
9%

5.
85

%
0.

51
%

A
T

 1
11

18
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
43

2.
88

5,
71

0.
93

6.
72

%
70

%
4.

93
%

0.
33

%

A
T

 B
LD

G
 (

N
O

 S
P

A
C

E
S

)
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

B
F

C
 G

Y
M

50
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

B
IK

 S
T

U
D

IO
50

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

C
C

 P
O

O
L

50
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

C
IT

Y
 O

P
E

R
A

 H
O

U
S

E
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

C
T

C
 B

LD
G

99
9

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

51
9.

65
1,

20
0.

30
8.

07
%

0.
3%

0.
02

%
0%

D
M

C
 1

01
30

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

26
5.

12
2,

28
3.

08
4.

12
%

22
.2

2%
1.

18
%

0.
05

%

D
M

C
 B

IN
S

F
E

LD
 G

A
LL

E
R

Y
50

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

D
M

C
 C

O
N

F
E

R
E

N
C

E
 R

O
O

M
12

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

D
M

C
 D

IS
C

O
V

E
R

Y
 G

A
LL

E
R

Y
10

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

D
M

C
 D

U
T

M
E

R
S

 T
H

E
A

T
E

R
34

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

D
M

C
 G

A
LL

E
R

IE
S

25
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

D
M

C
 IN

U
IT

 G
A

LL
E

R
Y

50
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

D
M

C
 J

A
N

IS
 R

O
O

M
75

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

D
M

C
 M

A
C

F
A

R
LA

N
E

 G
A

LL
E

R
Y

20
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

D
M

C
 M

IL
LI

K
E

N
40

0
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
61

.4
8

95
3.

17
0.

95
%

6.
38

%
0.

04
%

0%

D
M

C
 M

U
S

E
U

M
 C

E
N

T
E

R
50

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

D
M

C
 P

A
R

K
IN

G
 L

O
T

99
9

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

D
M

C
 S

C
H

M
U

C
K

A
L 

G
A

LL
E

R
Y

15
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

D
M

C
 S

C
U

LP
T

U
R

E
 C

O
U

R
T

30
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

E
D

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
 R

E
C

E
P

T
IO

N
 A

R
E

A
 T

 5
5

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

F
 -

 M
U

S
IC

 W
IN

G
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

F
 1

02
49

2,
60

8.
50

3,
83

0.
50

10
7.

07
60

8.
53

2.
8%

10
.7

1%
0.

32
%

0.
01

%

F
 1

03
10

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

19
9.

73
51

5.
20

3.
1%

22
.5

%
0.

8%
0.

02
%

234



Lo
ca

tio
n 

U
til

iz
at

io
n 

S
um

m
ar

y

F
ile

 N
am

e:
 S

pU
til

iz
at

io
nS

um
m

ar
y.

xs
l

R
ep

or
t P

rin
te

d 
on

 A
ug

 1
9 

20
21

 a
t 2

:3
9 

P
.M

.
P

ag
e 

3 
of

 1
4

E
ve

nt
 S

ea
rc

h:
 A

ll 
A

ca
de

m
ic

 C
la

ss
es

, L
oc

at
io

n 
S

ea
rc

h:
 A

LL
 S

P
A

C
E

S
 (

in
cl

ud
in

g 
D

en
no

s/
H

ag
er

ty
)

(A
)

M
ax

C
ap

ac
it

y

(B
)

F
ill

R
at

io

(C
)

B
la

ck
o

u
t

H
o

u
rs

(D
)

P
o

ss
ib

le

H
o

u
rs

(E
)

H
o

u
rs

U
se

d

(F
)

C
o

n
ta

ct

H
o

u
rs

(G
)

T
im

e

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(H
)

C
la

ss
 S

ea
t

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(I
)

S
ta

ti
o

n

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(J
)

N
et

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

F
 1

04
4

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

F
 1

05
30

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

28
.9

3
11

5.
73

0.
45

%
13

.3
3%

0.
06

%
0%

F
 1

07
/1

08
 -

 R
E

C
O

R
D

IN
G

 S
T

U
D

IO
3

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

F
 1

09
/1

10
 -

 M
U

S
IC

 P
R

A
C

T
IC

E
 R

O
O

M
S

2
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

F
 1

15
84

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

22
7.

67
13

,0
37

.5
8

3.
54

%
35

.3
3%

2.
41

%
0.

09
%

F
 1

15
 S

T
E

IN
W

A
Y

 P
IA

N
O

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

F
 1

20
18

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

43
7.

27
6,

28
0.

08
6.

79
%

77
.7

8%
5.

42
%

0.
37

%

F
 1

26
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

F
 1

30
20

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

49
2.

07
8,

75
3.

40
7.

64
%

59
.1

7%
6.

8%
0.

52
%

F
 1

32
50

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

13
0.

72
1,

37
8.

75
2.

03
%

13
.3

3%
0.

43
%

0.
01

%

F
 1

35
18

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

30
8.

55
1,

54
0.

73
4.

79
%

27
.7

8%
1.

33
%

0.
06

%

F
 1

37
 -

 K
IL

N
 R

O
O

M
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

F
 B

LD
G

 (
N

O
 S

P
A

C
E

S
)

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

F
 C

E
N

T
E

R
 L

O
B

B
Y

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

F
 N

O
R

T
H

 L
O

B
B

Y
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

F
 S

O
U

T
H

 L
O

B
B

Y
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

F
F

Y
 G

Y
M

50
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

F
H

 (
N

O
 S

P
A

C
E

S
)

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

F
H

 1
09

10
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

F
H

 1
10

16
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
37

3.
77

7,
16

7.
33

5.
8%

10
4.

81
%

6.
96

%
0.

4%

F
H

 1
13

12
0

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

56
.9

3
22

8.
67

0.
88

%
33

.3
3%

0.
3%

0%

G
L 

10
0

24
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
18

4.
77

93
9.

90
2.

87
%

20
.8

3%
0.

61
%

0.
02

%

G
L 

10
1

40
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
23

1.
28

2,
99

8.
88

3.
59

%
30

%
1.

16
%

0.
04

%

G
L 

10
2

10
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
19

1.
78

93
9.

90
2.

98
%

37
.5

%
1.

46
%

0.
04

%

G
L 

10
3

24
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
26

1.
50

2,
22

8.
60

4.
06

%
31

.2
5%

1.
44

%
0.

06
%

G
L 

10
8

24
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
30

.5
0

91
5.

00
0.

47
%

12
5%

0.
59

%
0%

G
L 

11
0

24
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

G
L 

11
1

32
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
50

6.
82

8,
05

2.
32

7.
87

%
42

.1
9%

3.
91

%
0.

31
%

G
L 

11
2

40
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
24

2.
50

3,
58

9.
23

3.
77

%
42

.6
9%

1.
39

%
0.

05
%

G
L 

11
4

12
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
11

3.
10

1,
28

6.
57

1.
76

%
88

.8
9%

1.
67

%
0.

03
%

G
L 

20
0-

20
5 

R
A

D
A

R
 L

A
B

S
2

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

G
L 

20
7

12
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
18

1.
00

99
5.

50
2.

81
%

45
.8

3%
1.

29
%

0.
04

%

G
L 

21
0

24
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
20

9.
55

2,
49

5.
50

3.
25

%
41

.6
7%

1.
61

%
0.

05
%

G
L 

21
1

40
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
47

2.
15

10
,0

00
.8

5
7.

33
%

48
.5

9%
3.

88
%

0.
28

%

235



Lo
ca

tio
n 

U
til

iz
at

io
n 

S
um

m
ar

y

F
ile

 N
am

e:
 S

pU
til

iz
at

io
nS

um
m

ar
y.

xs
l

R
ep

or
t P

rin
te

d 
on

 A
ug

 1
9 

20
21

 a
t 2

:3
9 

P
.M

.
P

ag
e 

4 
of

 1
4

E
ve

nt
 S

ea
rc

h:
 A

ll 
A

ca
de

m
ic

 C
la

ss
es

, L
oc

at
io

n 
S

ea
rc

h:
 A

LL
 S

P
A

C
E

S
 (

in
cl

ud
in

g 
D

en
no

s/
H

ag
er

ty
)

(A
)

M
ax

C
ap

ac
it

y

(B
)

F
ill

R
at

io

(C
)

B
la

ck
o

u
t

H
o

u
rs

(D
)

P
o

ss
ib

le

H
o

u
rs

(E
)

H
o

u
rs

U
se

d

(F
)

C
o

n
ta

ct

H
o

u
rs

(G
)

T
im

e

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(H
)

C
la

ss
 S

ea
t

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(I
)

S
ta

ti
o

n

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(J
)

N
et

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

G
L 

21
4 

- 
D

O
 N

O
T

 B
O

O
K

12
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

G
L 

21
5 

- 
S

T
U

D
E

N
T

 E
N

C
LA

V
E

 &
 G

A
LL

E
Y

S
D

 1
2

16
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

G
L 

22
2

36
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
1,

02
1.

48
19

,7
44

.3
3

15
.8

6%
49

.6
8%

8.
52

%
1.

35
%

G
L 

23
1

12
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
7.

02
0.

00
0.

11
%

0%
0%

0%

G
L 

25
1

24
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
32

0.
07

3,
77

5.
60

4.
97

%
52

.5
%

2.
44

%
0.

12
%

G
L 

25
2

21
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
59

1.
55

6,
64

5.
85

9.
19

%
65

.3
1%

4.
91

%
0.

45
%

G
L 

25
4

27
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
40

6.
02

3,
11

9.
00

6.
31

%
47

.2
2%

1.
79

%
0.

11
%

G
L 

25
6

25
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
13

5.
02

1,
44

6.
50

2.
1%

78
%

0.
9%

0.
02

%

G
L 

25
7

12
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
31

7.
02

3,
03

0.
50

4.
92

%
11

8.
75

%
3.

92
%

0.
19

%

G
L 

25
8

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

G
L 

26
9

10
6

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

53
3.

55
5,

66
7.

80
8.

29
%

15
.0

9%
0.

83
%

0.
07

%

G
L 

27
1

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

G
L 

B
LD

G
 (

N
O

 S
P

A
C

E
S

)
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

G
L 

C
U

LI
N

A
R

Y
 O

F
F

IC
E

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

G
L 

H
A

R
B

O
R

 L
A

W
N

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

G
L 

M
A

R
IT

IM
E

 O
F

F
IC

E
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

G
L 

P
IE

R
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

G
L 

R
E

C
E

P
T

IO
N

 D
E

S
K

 &
 W

O
R

K
R

O
O

M
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

G
L 

T
/S

 S
T

A
T

E
 O

F
 M

IC
H

IG
A

N
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

G
L 

W
E

S
T

 L
A

W
N

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

G
T

A
 R

O
O

M
32

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

G
re

en
sp

ire
 S

ch
oo

l
0

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

H
C

 A
15

6
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

H
C

 A
 &

 1
/2

 B
26

4
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

H
C

 A
 &

 B
42

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

H
C

 B
19

2
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

H
C

 B
 &

 C
43

2
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

H
C

 B
A

LL
R

O
O

M
59

4
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

H
C

 C
22

4
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

H
C

 C
 &

 1
/2

 B
31

4
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

H
C

 C
A

T
W

A
LK

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

H
C

 C
O

U
R

T
Y

A
R

D
30

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

H
C

 D
76

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

236



Lo
ca

tio
n 

U
til

iz
at

io
n 

S
um

m
ar

y

F
ile

 N
am

e:
 S

pU
til

iz
at

io
nS

um
m

ar
y.

xs
l

R
ep

or
t P

rin
te

d 
on

 A
ug

 1
9 

20
21

 a
t 2

:3
9 

P
.M

.
P

ag
e 

5 
of

 1
4

E
ve

nt
 S

ea
rc

h:
 A

ll 
A

ca
de

m
ic

 C
la

ss
es

, L
oc

at
io

n 
S

ea
rc

h:
 A

LL
 S

P
A

C
E

S
 (

in
cl

ud
in

g 
D

en
no

s/
H

ag
er

ty
)

(A
)

M
ax

C
ap

ac
it

y

(B
)

F
ill

R
at

io

(C
)

B
la

ck
o

u
t

H
o

u
rs

(D
)

P
o

ss
ib

le

H
o

u
rs

(E
)

H
o

u
rs

U
se

d

(F
)

C
o

n
ta

ct

H
o

u
rs

(G
)

T
im

e

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(H
)

C
la

ss
 S

ea
t

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(I
)

S
ta

ti
o

n

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(J
)

N
et

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

H
C

 H
A

G
E

R
T

Y
 O

F
F

IC
E

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

H
C

 O
F

F
-S

IT
E

99
9

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

H
C

 R
O

T
A

R
Y

 H
A

LL
64

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

H
O

M
E

S
T

E
A

D
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

H
S

 1
10

12
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
41

8.
53

3,
12

3.
45

6.
5%

55
.5

6%
4.

04
%

0.
26

%

H
S

 1
11

25
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
23

0.
78

5,
01

4.
72

3.
58

%
86

.8
6%

3.
12

%
0.

11
%

H
S

 1
11

/1
13

 V
E

S
T

IB
U

LE
0

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

H
S

 1
11

A
9

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

H
S

 1
12

16
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
21

0.
83

2,
02

8.
00

3.
27

%
48

.7
5%

1.
97

%
0.

06
%

H
S

 1
13

25
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
29

1.
28

5,
98

2.
72

4.
52

%
81

.7
8%

3.
72

%
0.

17
%

H
S

 1
14

32
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

H
S

 1
15

25
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
28

4.
32

4,
18

7.
97

4.
42

%
49

.7
8%

2.
6%

0.
11

%

H
S

 1
15

/1
17

 V
E

S
T

IB
U

LE
0

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

H
S

 1
16

32
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
60

.5
0

1,
39

1.
50

0.
94

%
71

.8
8%

0.
68

%
0.

01
%

H
S

 1
17

25
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
36

5.
47

4,
83

2.
95

5.
68

%
51

.5
6%

3%
0.

17
%

H
S

 1
17

A
14

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

H
S

 1
19

 G
R

E
E

N
H

O
U

S
E

24
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

H
S

 2
08

24
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
28

.6
0

5,
32

8.
65

0.
44

%
17

4.
62

%
3.

45
%

0.
02

%

H
S

 2
08

/2
10

20
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

H
S

 2
10

24
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
72

2.
03

44
,7

81
.2

5
11

.2
1%

87
%

28
.9

8%
3.

25
%

H
S

 2
11

27
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
55

4.
10

8,
64

9.
48

8.
61

%
55

.5
6%

4.
98

%
0.

43
%

H
S

 2
12

8
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
10

.6
2

51
.5

7
0.

16
%

60
.7

1%
0.

1%
0%

H
S

 2
13

24
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
58

4.
35

8,
80

0.
73

9.
08

%
60

.4
2%

5.
69

%
0.

52
%

H
S

 2
14

11
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
13

.6
5

72
.8

0
0.

21
%

48
.4

8%
0.

1%
0%

H
S

 2
15

24
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
38

0.
38

6,
04

1.
82

5.
91

%
66

.9
6%

3.
91

%
0.

23
%

H
S

 2
16

30
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
31

7.
68

96
0.

22
4.

93
%

12
.0

8%
0.

5%
0.

02
%

H
S

 2
17

24
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
41

0.
38

5,
55

6.
82

6.
37

%
61

.0
1%

3.
6%

0.
23

%

H
S

 B
LD

G
 (

N
O

 S
P

A
C

E
S

)
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

H
S

 B
O

O
K

S
T

O
R

E
32

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

H
S

 B
O

O
K

S
T

O
R

E
 S

T
O

R
A

G
E

54
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

H
S

 L
O

B
B

Y
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

H
S

 L
O

B
B

Y
 -

 U
P

S
T

A
IR

S
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

JB
 1

27
 (

M
E

D
IA

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
)

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

JB
 1

28
1

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

237



Lo
ca

tio
n 

U
til

iz
at

io
n 

S
um

m
ar

y

F
ile

 N
am

e:
 S

pU
til

iz
at

io
nS

um
m

ar
y.

xs
l

R
ep

or
t P

rin
te

d 
on

 A
ug

 1
9 

20
21

 a
t 2

:3
9 

P
.M

.
P

ag
e 

6 
of

 1
4

E
ve

nt
 S

ea
rc

h:
 A

ll 
A

ca
de

m
ic

 C
la

ss
es

, L
oc

at
io

n 
S

ea
rc

h:
 A

LL
 S

P
A

C
E

S
 (

in
cl

ud
in

g 
D

en
no

s/
H

ag
er

ty
)

(A
)

M
ax

C
ap

ac
it

y

(B
)

F
ill

R
at

io

(C
)

B
la

ck
o

u
t

H
o

u
rs

(D
)

P
o

ss
ib

le

H
o

u
rs

(E
)

H
o

u
rs

U
se

d

(F
)

C
o

n
ta

ct

H
o

u
rs

(G
)

T
im

e

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(H
)

C
la

ss
 S

ea
t

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(I
)

S
ta

ti
o

n

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(J
)

N
et

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

JB
 1

30
14

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

JB
 1

36
48

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

JB
 1

40
48

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

JB
 1

46
36

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

JB
 1

46
/1

47
72

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

15
7.

53
5,

64
2.

38
2.

45
%

52
.2

7%
1.

22
%

0.
03

%

JB
 1

47
36

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

JB
 1

48
35

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

JB
 1

49
32

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

JB
 2

02
17

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

72
0.

58
8,

99
3.

52
11

.1
9%

65
.1

3%
8.

22
%

0.
92

%

JB
 2

04
20

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

73
3.

57
8,

20
4.

87
11

.3
9%

48
.3

3%
6.

37
%

0.
73

%

JB
 2

14
 -

 P
C

 C
la

ss
ro

om
24

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

JB
 2

15
30

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

22
.7

5
11

3.
75

0.
35

%
16

.6
7%

0.
06

%
0%

JB
 2

16
35

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

JB
 2

17
24

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

14
3.

05
1,

44
2.

35
2.

22
%

32
.2

9%
0.

93
%

0.
02

%

JB
 B

LD
G

 (
N

O
 S

P
A

C
E

S
)

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

JB
 F

IR
S

T
 L

E
V

E
L 

LO
B

B
Y

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

JB
 S

E
C

O
N

D
 L

E
V

E
L 

LO
B

B
Y

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

JB
 S

IM
P

LY
-T

O
-

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

LB
 1

05
 -

 In
te

rn
at

io
na

l O
ffi

ce
40

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

LB
 1

06
 -

 S
T

U
D

E
N

T
 H

E
A

LT
H

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

LB
 2

06
49

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

43
.1

3
34

6.
15

0.
67

%
11

.2
2%

0.
11

%
0%

LB
 2

07
40

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

98
.4

5
27

3.
00

1.
53

%
2.

5%
0.

11
%

0%

LB
 2

08
40

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

19
2.

62
2,

19
9.

17
2.

99
%

26
.3

9%
0.

85
%

0.
03

%

LB
 3

2 
(S

T
U

D
Y

 R
O

O
M

)
7

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

LB
 3

5/
37

24
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
36

0.
65

2,
83

5.
43

5.
6%

21
.3

%
1.

83
%

0.
1%

LB
 3

8
70

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

11
.0

5
85

0.
07

0.
17

%
49

.5
2%

0.
19

%
0%

LB
 B

LD
G

 (
N

O
 S

P
A

C
E

S
)

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

LB
 L

O
B

B
Y

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

LO
B

D
E

LL
'S

 R
E

S
T

A
U

R
A

N
T

 -
 B

O
T

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

LU
C

K
Y

 J
A

C
K

'S
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

M
IL

L 
C

R
E

E
K

 E
LE

M
E

N
T

A
R

Y
30

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

O
 1

03
4

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

O
 1

13
23

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

O
 1

52
 T

U
T

O
R

IN
G

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

238



Lo
ca

tio
n 

U
til

iz
at

io
n 

S
um

m
ar

y

F
ile

 N
am

e:
 S

pU
til

iz
at

io
nS

um
m

ar
y.

xs
l

R
ep

or
t P

rin
te

d 
on

 A
ug

 1
9 

20
21

 a
t 2

:3
9 

P
.M

.
P

ag
e 

7 
of

 1
4

E
ve

nt
 S

ea
rc

h:
 A

ll 
A

ca
de

m
ic

 C
la

ss
es

, L
oc

at
io

n 
S

ea
rc

h:
 A

LL
 S

P
A

C
E

S
 (

in
cl

ud
in

g 
D

en
no

s/
H

ag
er

ty
)

(A
)

M
ax

C
ap

ac
it

y

(B
)

F
ill

R
at

io

(C
)

B
la

ck
o

u
t

H
o

u
rs

(D
)

P
o

ss
ib

le

H
o

u
rs

(E
)

H
o

u
rs

U
se

d

(F
)

C
o

n
ta

ct

H
o

u
rs

(G
)

T
im

e

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(H
)

C
la

ss
 S

ea
t

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(I
)

S
ta

ti
o

n

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(J
)

N
et

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

O
 2

01
12

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

O
 2

02
24

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

3.
52

84
.4

0
0.

05
%

10
0%

0.
05

%
0%

O
 2

03
72

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

20
1.

42
4,

13
3.

18
3.

13
%

28
.7

4%
0.

89
%

0.
03

%

O
 2

04
30

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

30
.1

3
73

0.
80

0.
47

%
81

.6
7%

0.
38

%
0%

O
 2

05
72

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

11
6.

65
2,

46
4.

47
1.

81
%

25
.6

1%
0.

53
%

0.
01

%

O
 2

08
 O

F
F

IC
E

2
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

O
 2

09
 O

F
F

IC
E

2
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

O
 2

10
 O

F
F

IC
E

2
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

O
 B

LD
G

 (
N

O
 S

P
A

C
E

S
)

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

O
 L

O
B

B
Y

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

O
 S

IM
P

LY
-T

O
-G

O
 C

A
F

E
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

O
 S

S
C

50
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

O
B

S
V

 B
LD

G
60

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

24
9.

73
2,

97
2.

27
3.

88
%

20
%

0.
77

%
0.

03
%

O
B

S
V

 G
A

T
E

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

O
C

 1
02

5
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

O
C

 1
12

91
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
26

.3
5

26
3.

50
0.

41
%

10
.9

9%
0.

04
%

0%

O
C

 1
29

20
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

O
C

 A
44

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

O
C

 A
/B

88
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

O
C

 A
B

C
13

2
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
12

6.
20

3,
02

8.
80

1.
96

%
18

.1
8%

0.
36

%
0.

01
%

O
C

 B
44

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

O
C

 B
/C

88
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

O
C

 B
A

C
K

 D
O

O
R

 (
N

O
 S

P
A

C
E

S
)

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

O
C

 B
LD

G
 (

N
O

 S
P

A
C

E
S

)
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

O
C

 C
44

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

O
C

 L
O

B
B

Y
86

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

O
F

F
 C

A
M

P
U

S
99

99
99

9
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

O
N

LI
N

E
 C

LA
S

S
99

99
99

9
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
32

7.
65

8,
96

7.
95

5.
09

%
0%

0%
0%

O
P

E
N

 T
O

 P
U

B
LI

C
99

99
99

9
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

O
S

T
E

R
LI

N
 T

E
S

T
IN

G
 S

IT
E

 A
25

0
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
28

.1
8

55
0.

37
0.

44
%

80
.6

7%
0.

34
%

0%

O
S

T
E

R
LI

N
 T

E
S

T
IN

G
 S

IT
E

 B
25

0
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
7.

05
15

1.
67

0.
11

%
10

0%
0.

09
%

0%

O
ff 

S
ite

 C
at

er
in

g
0

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

P
 1

00
90

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

30
2.

15
2,

78
0.

33
4.

69
%

6.
35

%
0.

48
%

0.
02

%

P
 1

00
N

50
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

239



Lo
ca

tio
n 

U
til

iz
at

io
n 

S
um

m
ar

y

F
ile

 N
am

e:
 S

pU
til

iz
at

io
nS

um
m

ar
y.

xs
l

R
ep

or
t P

rin
te

d 
on

 A
ug

 1
9 

20
21

 a
t 2

:3
9 

P
.M

.
P

ag
e 

8 
of

 1
4

E
ve

nt
 S

ea
rc

h:
 A

ll 
A

ca
de

m
ic

 C
la

ss
es

, L
oc

at
io

n 
S

ea
rc

h:
 A

LL
 S

P
A

C
E

S
 (

in
cl

ud
in

g 
D

en
no

s/
H

ag
er

ty
)

(A
)

M
ax

C
ap

ac
it

y

(B
)

F
ill

R
at

io

(C
)

B
la

ck
o

u
t

H
o

u
rs

(D
)

P
o

ss
ib

le

H
o

u
rs

(E
)

H
o

u
rs

U
se

d

(F
)

C
o

n
ta

ct

H
o

u
rs

(G
)

T
im

e

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(H
)

C
la

ss
 S

ea
t

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(I
)

S
ta

ti
o

n

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(J
)

N
et

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

P
 1

00
S

50
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

P
 1

07
 -

 A
P

P
LI

E
D

 M
U

S
IC

5
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

P
 1

20
40

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

P
 2

02
24

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

P
 2

06
30

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

P
 2

07
 (

M
E

D
IA

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
)

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

P
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

P
 L

O
B

B
Y

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

P
 S

H
O

W
E

R
 R

O
O

M
S

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

P
H

G
 G

Y
M

50
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

P
R

E
S

ID
E

N
T

'S
 C

O
N

F
E

R
E

N
C

E
 R

O
O

M
5

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

P
R

E
S

ID
E

N
T

'S
 O

F
F

IC
E

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

P
S

 -
 H

A
LL

 O
F

 T
E

C
H

N
O

LO
G

Y
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

P
S

 1
01

/1
03

78
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
24

0.
38

1,
78

4.
75

3.
73

%
7.

41
%

0.
36

%
0.

01
%

P
S

 1
04

B
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

P
S

 1
05

 (
N

O
T

 R
E

N
T

A
B

LE
)

12
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

P
S

 1
06

 (
C

Y
C

R
)

16
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
4.

02
20

.0
8

0.
06

%
31

.2
5%

0.
02

%
0%

P
S

 1
06

K
 S

IM
P

LY
-T

O
-G

O
 C

A
F

E
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

P
S

 1
07

16
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
45

3.
23

4,
03

0.
52

7.
04

%
46

.2
5%

3.
91

%
0.

28
%

P
S

 1
10

12
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

P
S

 1
12

32
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
68

.0
0

63
4.

75
1.

06
%

29
.6

9%
0.

31
%

0%

P
S

 1
14

24
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

P
S

 1
15

 -
 M

M
T

C
-N

L
24

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

P
S

 1
51

22
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
44

3.
53

4,
43

3.
98

6.
89

%
35

.3
5%

3.
13

%
0.

22
%

P
S

 1
53

 -
 C

N
C

 L
A

B
12

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

P
S

 1
54

 (
R

E
S

O
U

R
C

E
 R

O
O

M
)

6
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

P
S

 1
55

24
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
54

9.
03

4,
77

8.
37

8.
53

%
29

.9
2%

3.
09

%
0.

26
%

P
S

 1
57

 -
 T

E
C

H
 L

A
B

96
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
15

3.
57

0.
00

2.
38

%
0%

0%
0%

P
S

 1
57

A
16

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

68
0.

87
6,

49
2.

40
10

.5
7%

56
.2

5%
6.

3%
0.

67
%

P
S

 1
57

B
16

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

P
S

 1
57

C
7

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

P
S

 1
59

0
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
19

3.
65

0.
00

3.
01

%
0%

0%
0%

P
S

 1
S

T
 F

LO
O

R
 C

O
M

M
O

N
S

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

P
S

 2
01

24
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
10

.0
8

0.
00

0.
16

%
0%

0%
0%

240



Lo
ca

tio
n 

U
til

iz
at

io
n 

S
um

m
ar

y

F
ile

 N
am

e:
 S

pU
til

iz
at

io
nS

um
m

ar
y.

xs
l

R
ep

or
t P

rin
te

d 
on

 A
ug

 1
9 

20
21

 a
t 2

:3
9 

P
.M

.
P

ag
e 

9 
of

 1
4

E
ve

nt
 S

ea
rc

h:
 A

ll 
A

ca
de

m
ic

 C
la

ss
es

, L
oc

at
io

n 
S

ea
rc

h:
 A

LL
 S

P
A

C
E

S
 (

in
cl

ud
in

g 
D

en
no

s/
H

ag
er

ty
)

(A
)

M
ax

C
ap

ac
it

y

(B
)

F
ill

R
at

io

(C
)

B
la

ck
o

u
t

H
o

u
rs

(D
)

P
o

ss
ib

le

H
o

u
rs

(E
)

H
o

u
rs

U
se

d

(F
)

C
o

n
ta

ct

H
o

u
rs

(G
)

T
im

e

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(H
)

C
la

ss
 S

ea
t

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(I
)

S
ta

ti
o

n

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(J
)

N
et

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

P
S

 2
03

24
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
49

3.
57

5,
67

0.
77

7.
67

%
47

.6
9%

3.
67

%
0.

28
%

P
S

 2
04

19
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
12

0.
75

1,
14

7.
25

1.
88

%
50

%
0.

94
%

0.
02

%

P
S

 2
04

 B
 -

 R
E

S
O

U
R

C
E

 R
O

O
M

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

P
S

 2
05

24
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
12

4.
52

2,
45

4.
18

1.
93

%
70

.8
3%

1.
59

%
0.

03
%

P
S

 2
06

20
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

P
S

 2
06

A
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

P
S

 2
16

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

P
S

 2
17

/2
19

20
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
46

0.
88

4,
64

7.
85

7.
16

%
48

%
3.

61
%

0.
26

%

P
S

 2
18

16
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
16

5.
80

50
1.

33
2.

57
%

15
.6

2%
0.

49
%

0.
01

%

P
S

 2
20

30
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
45

.2
5

31
6.

75
0.

7%
23

.3
3%

0.
16

%
0%

P
S

 2
22

24
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
67

.7
8

1,
29

5.
88

1.
05

%
47

.9
2%

0.
84

%
0.

01
%

P
S

 2
22

/2
24

56
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
21

7.
38

3,
60

9.
72

3.
38

%
24

.7
4%

1%
0.

03
%

P
S

 2
24

24
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

P
S

 2
25

24
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
12

4.
93

69
6.

97
1.

94
%

26
.3

9%
0.

45
%

0.
01

%

P
S

 2
26

24
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
30

4.
60

1,
84

4.
43

4.
73

%
22

.5
%

1.
19

%
0.

06
%

P
S

 2
27

14
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

P
S

 2
N

D
 F

LO
O

R
 C

O
M

M
O

N
S

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

P
S

 A
IR

P
O

R
T

 S
ID

E
 P

A
T

IO
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

P
S

 B
LD

G
 (

N
O

 S
P

A
C

E
S

)
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

P
S

 B
U

IL
D

IN
G

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

P
S

 E
A

S
T

 O
F

F
IC

E
 W

IN
G

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

P
S

 N
O

R
T

H
 O

F
F

IC
E

 W
IN

G
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

P
S

 R
E

C
E

P
T

IO
N

 L
O

B
B

Y
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

P
S

 S
O

LA
R

 T
R

A
IL

E
R

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

S
B

H
S

 S
B

H
S

20
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

S
H

 F
IR

S
T

 L
E

V
E

L 
W

E
S

T
 L

O
B

B
Y

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

S
H

 0
9

24
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

S
H

 1
01

40
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
45

.5
0

1,
00

1.
00

0.
71

%
55

%
0.

39
%

0%

S
H

 1
02

40
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
20

.1
3

20
8.

95
0.

31
%

30
.6

2%
0.

08
%

0%

S
H

 1
03

24
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

S
H

 1
03

/1
05

64
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
15

1.
57

1,
88

8.
27

2.
35

%
22

.7
9%

0.
46

%
0.

01
%

S
H

 1
04

32
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

S
H

 1
05

40
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

S
H

 1
06

32
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
60

.5
0

1,
27

0.
50

0.
94

%
65

.6
2%

0.
62

%
0.

01
%

241



Lo
ca

tio
n 

U
til

iz
at

io
n 

S
um

m
ar

y

F
ile

 N
am

e:
 S

pU
til

iz
at

io
nS

um
m

ar
y.

xs
l

R
ep

or
t P

rin
te

d 
on

 A
ug

 1
9 

20
21

 a
t 2

:3
9 

P
.M

.
P

ag
e 

10
 o

f 1
4

E
ve

nt
 S

ea
rc

h:
 A

ll 
A

ca
de

m
ic

 C
la

ss
es

, L
oc

at
io

n 
S

ea
rc

h:
 A

LL
 S

P
A

C
E

S
 (

in
cl

ud
in

g 
D

en
no

s/
H

ag
er

ty
)

(A
)

M
ax

C
ap

ac
it

y

(B
)

F
ill

R
at

io

(C
)

B
la

ck
o

u
t

H
o

u
rs

(D
)

P
o

ss
ib

le

H
o

u
rs

(E
)

H
o

u
rs

U
se

d

(F
)

C
o

n
ta

ct

H
o

u
rs

(G
)

T
im

e

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(H
)

C
la

ss
 S

ea
t

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(I
)

S
ta

ti
o

n

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(J
)

N
et

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

S
H

 1
07

 -
 F

A
C

U
LT

Y
 &

 S
T

A
F

F
 B

R
E

A
K

R
O

O
M

10
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

S
H

 1
09

12
0

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

2.
77

56
4.

43
0.

04
%

34
.1

7%
0.

07
%

0%

S
H

 1
13

40
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

S
H

 1
5

24
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

S
H

 1
9

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

S
H

 2
0

24
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

S
H

 2
0/

22
60

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

41
5.

52
4,

60
5.

17
6.

45
%

16
.6

7%
1.

19
%

0.
08

%

S
H

 2
02

40
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
6.

08
10

3.
42

0.
09

%
42

.5
%

0.
04

%
0%

S
H

 2
04

28
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
12

3.
02

2,
09

1.
28

1.
91

%
60

.7
1%

1.
16

%
0.

02
%

S
H

 2
05

24
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

S
H

 2
06

 A
LI

C
E

 1
25

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

3.
02

0.
00

0.
05

%
0%

0%
0%

S
H

 2
07

32
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
60

.5
0

1,
33

1.
00

0.
94

%
68

.7
5%

0.
65

%
0.

01
%

S
H

 2
09

32
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

S
H

 2
15

 -
 F

A
C

U
LT

Y
 &

 S
T

A
F

F
 B

R
E

A
K

 R
O

O
M

10
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

S
H

 2
17

77
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

S
H

 2
18

 A
LI

C
E

 2
23

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

S
H

 2
2

32
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

S
H

 2
21

 -
 W

R
IT

IN
G

 &
 R

E
A

D
IN

G
 C

N
T

R
 S

D
 1

0
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

S
H

 2
3 

- 
W

H
IT

E
 P

IN
E

 P
R

E
S

S
 O

F
F

IC
E

10
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

S
H

 2
8 

- 
N

M
C

 M
A

G
A

Z
IN

E
5

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

S
H

 3
0

32
0.

00
6,

43
9.

00
35

.2
3

35
2.

33
0.

55
%

31
.2

5%
0.

17
%

0%

S
H

 3
2

32
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

S
H

 B
LD

G
 (

N
O

 S
P

A
C

E
S

)
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

S
H

 F
IR

S
T

 L
E

V
E

L 
E

A
S

T
 L

O
B

B
Y

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

S
H

 S
E

C
O

N
D

 L
E

V
E

L 
LO

B
B

Y
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

S
T

U
D

E
N

T
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
S

 C
O

N
F

E
R

E
N

C
E

R
O

O
M

10
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

T
 5

1 
- 

T
E

C
H

 H
E

LP
 D

E
S

K
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

T
 5

3 
- 

M
A

T
H

 L
A

B
7

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

T
A

N
IS

 B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 (
N

O
 S

P
A

C
E

S
)

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

T
C

 G
O

LF
 A

N
D

 C
O

U
N

T
R

Y
 C

LU
B

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

T
C

 O
P

E
R

A
 H

O
U

S
E

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

T
C

A
P

S
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

T
C

C
H

S
 R

O
O

M
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

242



Lo
ca

tio
n 

U
til

iz
at

io
n 

S
um

m
ar

y

F
ile

 N
am

e:
 S

pU
til

iz
at

io
nS

um
m

ar
y.

xs
l

R
ep

or
t P

rin
te

d 
on

 A
ug

 1
9 

20
21

 a
t 2

:3
9 

P
.M

.
P

ag
e 

11
 o

f 1
4

E
ve

nt
 S

ea
rc

h:
 A

ll 
A

ca
de

m
ic

 C
la

ss
es

, L
oc

at
io

n 
S

ea
rc

h:
 A

LL
 S

P
A

C
E

S
 (

in
cl

ud
in

g 
D

en
no

s/
H

ag
er

ty
)

(A
)

M
ax

C
ap

ac
it

y

(B
)

F
ill

R
at

io

(C
)

B
la

ck
o

u
t

H
o

u
rs

(D
)

P
o

ss
ib

le

H
o

u
rs

(E
)

H
o

u
rs

U
se

d

(F
)

C
o

n
ta

ct

H
o

u
rs

(G
)

T
im

e

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(H
)

C
la

ss
 S

ea
t

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(I
)

S
ta

ti
o

n

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(J
)

N
et

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

T
C

W
S

H
 R

O
O

M
30

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

T
E

C
H

N
O

LO
G

Y
 H

E
LP

 D
E

S
K

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

U
C

 0
1

24
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

U
C

 0
5

42
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

U
C

 0
6

22
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

U
C

 0
7

44
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

U
C

 0
8

13
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

U
C

 0
9

24
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

U
C

 1
03

 (
Z

O
N

T
A

)
8

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

U
C

 1
05

 (
Z

O
N

T
A

)
8

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

U
C

 1
06

16
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

U
C

 1
1

14
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

U
C

 1
2

24
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

U
C

 1
4

28
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

U
C

 1
4/

16
48

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

U
C

 1
6

28
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

U
C

 1
7

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

U
C

 1
8

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

U
C

 2
02

-F
 (

G
R

A
Y

)
15

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

U
C

 2
04

36
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

U
C

 2
05

24
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

U
C

 2
06

9
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

U
C

 2
07

40
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

U
C

 2
08

20
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

U
C

 2
09

32
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

U
C

 2
11

12
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

U
C

 2
12

32
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

U
C

 2
13

24
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

U
C

 2
14

24
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

U
C

 2
15

24
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

U
C

 2
15

/2
17

48
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

U
C

 2
16

24
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

U
C

 2
17

24
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

U
C

 2
18

24
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

243



Lo
ca

tio
n 

U
til

iz
at

io
n 

S
um

m
ar

y

F
ile

 N
am

e:
 S

pU
til

iz
at

io
nS

um
m

ar
y.

xs
l

R
ep

or
t P

rin
te

d 
on

 A
ug

 1
9 

20
21

 a
t 2

:3
9 

P
.M

.
P

ag
e 

12
 o

f 1
4

E
ve

nt
 S

ea
rc

h:
 A

ll 
A

ca
de

m
ic

 C
la

ss
es

, L
oc

at
io

n 
S

ea
rc

h:
 A

LL
 S

P
A

C
E

S
 (

in
cl

ud
in

g 
D

en
no

s/
H

ag
er

ty
)

(A
)

M
ax

C
ap

ac
it

y

(B
)

F
ill

R
at

io

(C
)

B
la

ck
o

u
t

H
o

u
rs

(D
)

P
o

ss
ib

le

H
o

u
rs

(E
)

H
o

u
rs

U
se

d

(F
)

C
o

n
ta

ct

H
o

u
rs

(G
)

T
im

e

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(H
)

C
la

ss
 S

ea
t

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(I
)

S
ta

ti
o

n

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(J
)

N
et

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

U
C

 2
19

24
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

U
C

 B
LD

G
 (

N
O

 S
P

A
C

E
S

)
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

U
C

 C
A

F
E

14
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

U
C

 F
IR

S
T

 L
E

V
E

L 
S

O
U

T
H

 L
O

B
B

Y
6

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

U
C

 L
O

W
E

R
 L

E
V

E
L 

S
O

U
T

H
 L

O
B

B
Y

19
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

U
C

 O
F

F
 C

A
M

P
U

S
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

U
C

 P
A

R
T

N
E

R
 O

F
F

IC
E

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

U
C

 P
A

T
IO

35
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

V
IR

T
U

A
L 

M
E

E
T

IN
G

99
99

99
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

W
H

 -
 K

IT
C

H
E

N
 B

A
C

K
 D

O
O

R
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

W
H

 -
 L

O
W

E
R

 L
E

V
E

L 
S

T
U

D
E

N
T

 C
E

N
T

E
R

55
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

W
H

 -
 N

O
R

T
H

W
E

S
T

 G
R

IN
D

 C
-S

T
O

R
E

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

W
H

 -
 S

T
U

D
E

N
T

 L
O

U
N

G
E

/S
T

U
D

Y
 A

R
E

A
10

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

W
H

 0
1

6
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

W
H

 0
2

6
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

W
H

 0
3

4
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

W
H

 0
4

4
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

W
H

 0
8

14
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

W
H

 0
9

3
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

W
H

 1
04

24
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

W
H

 1
04

/1
05

48
0

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

20
5.

97
3,

85
7.

03
3.

2%
36

.2
1%

1.
25

%
0.

04
%

W
H

 1
05

24
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

W
H

 1
06

36
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

W
H

 1
06

/1
07

76
0

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

26
8.

10
11

,5
28

.8
5

4.
16

%
30

.6
7%

2.
36

%
0.

1%

W
H

 1
07

40
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

W
H

 1
16

4
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

W
H

 1
17

4
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

W
H

 1
18

4
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

W
H

 1
23

12
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

W
H

 1
4

30
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

W
H

 1
5

30
0

0.
00

6,
43

9.
00

60
.5

0
1,

51
2.

50
0.

94
%

83
.3

3%
0.

78
%

0.
01

%

W
H

 2
03

0
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

W
H

 2
07

4
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

W
H

 2
08

2
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

244



Lo
ca

tio
n 

U
til

iz
at

io
n 

S
um

m
ar

y

F
ile

 N
am

e:
 S

pU
til

iz
at

io
nS

um
m

ar
y.

xs
l

R
ep

or
t P

rin
te

d 
on

 A
ug

 1
9 

20
21

 a
t 2

:3
9 

P
.M

.
P

ag
e 

13
 o

f 1
4

E
ve

nt
 S

ea
rc

h:
 A

ll 
A

ca
de

m
ic

 C
la

ss
es

, L
oc

at
io

n 
S

ea
rc

h:
 A

LL
 S

P
A

C
E

S
 (

in
cl

ud
in

g 
D

en
no

s/
H

ag
er

ty
)

(A
)

M
ax

C
ap

ac
it

y

(B
)

F
ill

R
at

io

(C
)

B
la

ck
o

u
t

H
o

u
rs

(D
)

P
o

ss
ib

le

H
o

u
rs

(E
)

H
o

u
rs

U
se

d

(F
)

C
o

n
ta

ct

H
o

u
rs

(G
)

T
im

e

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(H
)

C
la

ss
 S

ea
t

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(I
)

S
ta

ti
o

n

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

(J
)

N
et

U
ti

liz
at

io
n

W
H

 2
09

4
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

W
H

 3
5

10
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

W
H

 B
LD

G
 (

N
O

 S
P

A
C

E
S

)
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

W
H

 L
O

B
B

Y
0

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

W
H

 L
ib

ra
ry

0
0

N
o 

ev
en

ts
 fo

un
d

W
es

t H
al

l C
at

er
in

g
0

0
N

o 
ev

en
ts

 fo
un

d

245



Lo
ca

tio
n 

U
til

iz
at

io
n 

S
um

m
ar

y

F
ile

 N
am

e:
 S

pU
til

iz
at

io
nS

um
m

ar
y.

xs
l

R
ep

or
t P

rin
te

d 
on

 A
ug

 1
9 

20
21

 a
t 2

:3
9 

P
.M

.
P

ag
e 

14
 o

f 1
4

E
ve

nt
 S

ea
rc

h:
 A

ll 
A

ca
de

m
ic

 C
la

ss
es

, L
oc

at
io

n 
S

ea
rc

h:
 A

LL
 S

P
A

C
E

S
 (

in
cl

ud
in

g 
D

en
no

s/
H

ag
er

ty
)

C
o

lu
m

n
 A

 &
 B

C
o

lu
m

n
 G

M
ax

im
um

 C
ap

ac
ity

 a
nd

 F
ill

 R
at

io
 a

re
 v

al
ue

s 
th

at
 m

ay
 b

e 
pr

ov
id

ed
 fo

r 
a 

lo
ca

tio
n.

 T
he

 lo
ca

tio
n 

ut
ili

za
tio

n

co
m

pu
ta

tio
ns

 c
an

no
t b

e 
m

ad
e 

w
he

re
 M

ax
im

um
 C

ap
ac

ity
 h

as
 n

ot
 b

ee
n 

sp
ec

ifi
ed

.

T
im

e 
U

til
iz

at
io

n 
is

 th
e 

pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f h
ou

rs
 a

 lo
ca

tio
n 

is
 u

se
d 

du
rin

g 
th

e 
re

po
rt

 p
er

io
d.

 T
hi

s 
is

 th
e 

qu
ot

ie
nt

 o
f

(c
ol

um
n 

E
),

 H
ou

rs
 U

se
d,

 d
iv

id
ed

 b
y 

(c
ol

um
n 

D
),

 P
os

si
bl

e 
H

ou
rs

. T
hi

s 
va

lu
e 

is
 e

xp
re

ss
ed

 a
s 

a 
pe

rc
en

ta
ge

.

C
o

lu
m

n
 C

C
o

lu
m

n
 H

B
la

ck
ou

t H
ou

rs
 is

 th
e 

to
ta

l h
ou

rs
 o

f a
ll 

bl
ac

ko
ut

 d
at

es
 d

ef
in

ed
 fo

r 
a 

lo
ca

tio
n 

fo
r 

th
is

 r
ep

or
t t

im
e 

pe
rio

d.
C

la
ss

 S
ea

t U
til

iz
at

io
n 

is
 th

e 
av

er
ag

e 
pe

rc
en

ta
ge

 o
f s

ea
ts

 u
se

d 
fo

r 
ea

ch
 r

es
er

va
tio

n 
co

m
pa

re
d 

to
 th

e 
M

ax
im

um

C
ap

ac
ity

 o
f t

he
 lo

ca
tio

n.
 C

la
ss

 S
ea

t U
til

iz
at

io
n 

is
 c

al
cu

la
te

d 
by

 ta
ki

ng
 th

e 
S

el
ec

te
d 

H
ea

d 
C

ou
nt

, d
iv

id
ed

 b
y

(c
ol

um
n 

A
),

 M
ax

im
um

 C
ap

ac
ity

, m
ul

tip
lie

d 
by

 1
00

. T
hi

s 
va

lu
e 

is
 e

xp
re

ss
ed

 a
s 

a 
pe

rc
en

ta
ge

.

C
o

lu
m

n
 D

C
o

lu
m

n
 I

P
os

si
bl

e 
H

ou
rs

 is
 c

al
cu

la
te

d 
by

 ta
ki

ng
 th

e 
to

ta
l p

os
si

bl
e 

ho
ur

s 
fo

r 
th

e 
re

po
rt

 p
er

io
d 

(K
) 

de
fin

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
us

er
 r

ep
or

t

pa
ra

m
et

er
s 

an
d 

su
bt

ra
ct

in
g 

th
e 

to
ta

l b
la

ck
ou

t h
ou

rs
 fo

r 
th

e 
lo

ca
tio

n 
du

rin
g 

th
at

 s
am

e 
tim

e 
pe

rio
d.

S
ta

tio
n 

U
til

iz
at

io
n 

is
 th

e 
pe

rc
en

ta
ge

 o
f t

ot
al

 c
on

ta
ct

 h
ou

rs
 c

om
pa

re
d 

to
 th

e 
to

ta
l p

os
si

bl
e 

co
nt

ac
t h

ou
rs

 fo
r 

th
e

lo
ca

tio
n 

du
rin

g 
th

e 
re

po
rt

 p
er

io
d.

 T
he

 to
ta

l p
os

si
bl

e 
co

nt
ac

t h
ou

rs
 is

 th
e 

(c
ol

um
n 

A
),

 M
ax

im
um

 C
ap

ac
ity

, m
ul

tip
lie

d

by
 (

co
lu

m
n 

D
),

 T
ot

al
 P

os
si

bl
e 

H
ou

rs
. T

hi
s 

va
lu

e 
is

 e
xp

re
ss

ed
 a

s 
a 

pe
rc

en
ta

ge
.

C
o

lu
m

n
 E

C
o

lu
m

n
 J

H
ou

rs
 U

se
d 

is
 th

e 
to

ta
l n

um
be

r 
of

 h
ou

rs
 fo

r 
al

l o
cc

ur
re

nc
es

 a
ss

ig
ne

d 
to

 th
is

 lo
ca

tio
n 

du
rin

g 
th

e 
re

po
rt

 p
er

io
d.

N
et

 U
til

iz
at

io
n 

is
 th

e 
pr

od
uc

t o
f (

co
lu

m
n 

G
),

 T
im

e 
U

til
iz

at
io

n,
 a

nd
 (

co
lu

m
n 

I)
, S

ta
tio

n 
U

til
iz

at
io

n.
 T

hi
s 

va
lu

e 
is

ex
pr

es
se

d 
as

 a
 p

er
ce

nt
ag

e.

C
o

lu
m

n
 F

C
o

lu
m

n
 K

C
on

ta
ct

 H
ou

rs
 is

 th
e 

pr
od

uc
t o

f (
co

lu
m

n 
I)

, T
ot

al
 H

ou
rs

 U
se

d,
 a

nd
 th

e 
S

el
ec

te
d 

H
ea

d 
C

ou
nt

 fo
r 

ea
ch

 r
es

er
va

tio
n

in
 th

e 
re

po
rt

 p
er

io
d.

T
he

 T
ot

al
 H

ou
rs

 p
er

 R
ep

or
t P

er
io

d 
is

 c
om

pu
te

d 
fr

om
 th

e 
da

te
 a

nd
 ti

m
e 

ra
ng

e 
en

te
re

d 
w

he
n 

th
e 

re
po

rt
 w

as

pr
in

te
d.

246



 

Appendix J 

Functionality of Existing 

Structures (Space Allocation) 

  

247



B
u

id
in

gs
20

4
,2

63
,7

0
0

$ 
   

   
 

C
o

n
te

n
ts

1
8

,6
7

5
,0

8
0

$
   

 
B

u
ild

in
g 

+ 
C

o
n

te
n

ts
22

2
,9

38
,7

8
0

$ 
   

 

B
u

id
in

gs
22

2,
86

4,
20

0
$ 

   
   

 
C

o
n

te
n

ts
1

9
,6

1
0

,7
6

6
$

   
 

B
u

ild
in

g 
+ 

C
o

n
te

n
ts

24
2,

47
4,

96
6

$ 
   

 

L
o

c
a

ti
o

n
#

L
o

c
a

ti
o

n
 D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

L
a

s
t 

Y
e

a
r

L
a

s
t 

Y
e

a
r

L
a

s
t 

Y
e

a
r 

L
a

s
t 

Y
e

a
r

 
N

e
w

 
N

e
w

 C
o

n
te

n
ts

N
e

w
N

e
w

 
L

e
a

s
e

d

B
u

il
d

in
g

 V
a

lu
e

C
o

n
te

n
ts

T
o

ta
l 
V

a
lu

e
S

q
u

a
re

 F
t

 
B

u
il
d

in
g

 V
a

lu
e

V
a

lu
e

T
o

ta
l 
V

a
lu

e
S

q
u

a
re

 F
t

(M
a

rk
 "

X
"
)

1
Ta

n
is

/B
ei

d
er

m
an

/I
ST

LC
31

,5
06

,9
00

73
4

,3
88

32
,2

41
,2

88
   

   
   

   
10

5
,5

19
33

,0
82

,4
00

   
   

   
1,

66
8,

79
7

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
34

,7
51

,1
97

   
   

   
10

5
,5

19

2
A

p
ar

tm
en

ts
 A

1,
84

6,
20

0
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

1,
84

6,
20

0
   

   
   

   
   

12
,3

99
1,

93
8,

60
0

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

1,
93

8,
60

0
   

   
   

  
12

,3
99

2B
A

p
ar

tm
en

t 
B

1,
84

6,
20

0
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

1,
84

6,
20

0
   

   
   

   
   

12
,3

99
1,

93
8,

60
0

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

1,
93

8,
60

0
   

   
   

  
12

,3
99

2C
A

p
ar

tm
en

t 
C

1,
84

6,
20

0
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

1,
84

6,
20

0
   

   
   

   
   

12
,3

99
1,

93
8,

60
0

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

1,
93

8,
60

0
   

   
   

  
12

,3
99

3
A

p
p

el
 B

io
lo

gy
15

7
,8

00
2,

99
6

16
0

,7
96

   
   

   
   

   
   

1,
16

0
16

5
,5

00
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

16
5

,5
00

   
   

   
   

   
1,

16
0

5
A

vi
at

io
n

   
   

2,
48

1,
10

0
1,

42
8,

46
5

3,
90

9,
56

5
   

   
   

   
   

20
,9

12
2,

60
5,

20
0

   
   

   
  

81
0,

50
2

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

3,
41

5,
70

2
   

   
   

  
20

,9
12

6
Fo

u
n

d
er

s 
H

al
l

1,
21

2,
00

0
51

,0
16

1,
26

3,
01

6
   

   
   

   
   

4,
95

0
1,

27
3,

50
0

   
   

   
  

56
,2

88
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

1,
32

9,
78

8
   

   
   

  
4,

95
0

7
Ea

st
 R

es
id

en
ce

 H
al

l
12

,3
82

,1
00

79
8

,9
58

13
,1

81
,0

58
   

   
   

   
52

,2
88

13
,0

01
,5

00
   

   
   

1,
80

0,
59

3
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

14
,8

02
,0

93
   

   
   

52
,2

88

8
Fi

n
e 

A
rt

s 
B

u
ild

in
g

4,
99

7,
00

0
53

5
,7

09
5,

53
2,

70
9

   
   

   
   

   
18

,8
00

5,
24

6,
90

0
   

   
   

  
11

6,
19

6
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
5,

36
3,

09
6

   
   

   
  

18
,8

00

10
O

st
er

lin
 L

ib
ra

ry
   

   
   

12
,4

70
,5

00
5,

41
6,

71
5

17
,8

87
,2

15
   

   
   

   
46

,7
34

13
,0

94
,2

00
   

   
   

3,
44

7,
03

3
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

16
,5

41
,2

33
   

   
   

46
,7

34

13
M

u
se

u
m

 -
 A

u
d

it
o

ri
u

m
   

   
17

,8
76

,7
00

42
7

,4
43

18
,3

04
,1

43
   

   
   

   
39

,0
00

18
,7

70
,7

00
   

   
   

26
6,

83
6

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

19
,0

37
,5

36
   

   
   

55
,0

85

14
O

b
se

rv
at

o
ry

41
8

,3
00

72
,7

44
49

1
,0

44
   

   
   

   
   

   
1,

62
4

43
9

,3
00

   
   

   
   

   
67

,4
54

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
50

6
,7

54
   

   
   

   
   

1,
62

4

15
O

le
so

n
 C

en
te

r
2,

59
7,

30
0

28
1

,7
97

2,
87

9,
09

7
   

   
   

   
   

10
,3

98
2,

72
7,

20
0

   
   

   
  

63
,7

23
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

2,
79

0,
92

3
   

   
   

  
10

,3
98

16
P

h
ys

ic
al

 E
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
5,

80
9,

80
0

22
6

,9
27

6,
03

6,
72

7
   

   
   

   
   

25
,6

74
6,

10
0,

50
0

   
   

   
  

71
,2

24
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

6,
17

1,
72

4
   

   
   

  
25

,6
74

17
P

o
w

er
h

o
u

se
2,

19
2,

20
0

26
,5

06
2,

21
8,

70
6

   
   

   
   

   
3,

58
0

2,
30

1,
90

0
   

   
   

  
15

,1
49

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
2,

31
7,

04
9

   
   

   
  

3,
58

0

18
Sc

h
o

la
rs

 H
al

l 
15

,9
83

,8
00

56
2

,1
69

16
,5

45
,9

69
   

   
   

   
62

,8
12

16
,7

82
,8

00
   

   
   

27
,1

88
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

16
,8

09
,9

88
   

   
   

62
,8

12

19
W

es
t 

H
al

l I
n

n
o

va
ti

o
n

 C
en

te
r 

  
9,

88
4,

60
0

86
3

,6
63

10
,7

48
,2

63
   

   
   

   
35

,8
00

18
,7

62
,6

00
   

   
   

2,
81

9,
51

4
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

21
,5

82
,1

14
   

   
   

66
,3

04

20
U

n
iv

er
si

ty
 C

en
te

r 
C

am
p

u
s

13
,9

52
,4

00
14

5
,5

94
14

,0
97

,9
94

   
   

   
   

59
,4

60
14

,6
49

,8
00

   
   

   
33

2,
33

8
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
14

,9
82

,1
38

   
   

   
59

,4
60

22
U

ti
lit

y 
Tu

n
n

el
s

1,
98

1,
70

0
91

,7
62

2,
07

3,
46

2
   

   
   

   
   

6,
92

5
2,

08
0,

80
0

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

2,
08

0,
80

0
   

   
   

  
6,

92
5

23
Ea

st
er

n
 A

ve
n

u
e 

A
p

ar
tm

en
t 

St
o

ra
ge

59
,4

00
14

3
,6

53
20

3
,0

53
   

   
   

   
   

   
1,

34
4

62
,3

00
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
62

,3
00

   
   

   
   

   
  

1,
34

4

26
B

ec
ke

tt
   

   
8,

44
0,

70
0

77
5

,7
97

9,
21

6,
49

7
   

   
   

   
   

34
,2

69
8,

86
2,

90
0

   
   

   
  

43
3,

54
4

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

9,
29

6,
44

4
   

   
   

  
34

,2
69

45
P

ar
se

n
 -

 S
tu

lle
n

 M
-T

EC
 

15
,8

26
,0

00
1,

24
6,

51
6

17
,0

72
,5

16
   

   
   

   
65

,0
00

16
,6

17
,4

00
   

   
   

2,
21

2,
83

3
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

18
,8

30
,2

33
   

   
   

65
,0

00

46
M

ai
n

te
n

an
ce

 
1,

05
3,

00
0

76
1

,8
31

1,
81

4,
83

1
   

   
   

   
   

11
,9

00
1,

10
6,

70
0

   
   

   
  

55
9,

82
4

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

1,
66

6,
52

4
   

   
   

  
11

,9
00

47
La

n
d

sc
ap

e 
B

in
31

,6
00

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
31

,6
00

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
67

5
33

,2
00

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

33
,2

00
   

   
   

   
   

  
67

5

48
A

u
to

m
o

ti
ve

 S
e

rv
ic

e 
Te

ch
3,

38
2,

50
0

52
6

,2
43

3,
90

8,
74

3
   

   
   

   
   

18
,3

28
3,

55
1,

70
0

   
   

   
  

24
2,

58
3

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

3,
79

4,
28

3
   

   
   

  
18

,3
28

49
G

re
at

 L
ak

es
 C

am
p

u
s

22
,6

89
,3

00
1,

94
3,

14
2

24
,6

32
,4

42
   

   
   

   
75

,3
64

23
,8

24
,0

00
   

   
   

2,
99

2,
18

8
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

26
,8

16
,1

88
   

   
   

75
,3

64

50
A

er
o

 P
ar

k 
La

b
4,

26
8,

70
0

1,
27

6,
62

3
5,

54
5,

32
3

   
   

   
   

   
29

,6
00

4,
48

2,
20

0
   

   
   

  
1,

53
0,

29
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
6,

01
2,

49
0

   
   

   
  

29
,6

00

51
N

o
rt

h
 H

al
l

7,
06

9,
70

0
   

   
   

  
33

4
,4

23
   

   
   

   
   

7,
40

4,
12

3
   

   
   

   
   

46
,7

30
7,

42
3,

20
0

   
   

   
  

76
,6

70
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

7,
49

9,
87

0
   

   
   

  
46

,7
30

T
o

ta
ls

:
2

0
4

,2
6

3
,7

0
0

$
  
  

1
8

,6
7

5
,0

8
0

$
  
  
  

2
2

2
,9

3
8

,7
8

0
$

  
  
  
 

8
1

6
,0

4
3

2
2

2
,8

6
4

,2
0

0
$

  
  

1
9

,6
1

0
,7

6
6

$
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

2
4

2
,4

7
4

,9
6

6
$

  
  

8
6

2
,6

3
2

in
cl

u
d

e
d

 in
 c

o
n

te
n

ts
 g

ra
n

d
 t

o
ta

l*
*

*

M
is

c
e

ll
a

n
e

o
u

s
 I
te

m
s

 T
h

ro
u

g
h

o
u

t 
C

a
m

p
u

s
La

st
 Y

ea
r 

V
al

u
e

Th
is

 Y
ea

r 
V

al
u

e

M
o

n
it
o

ri
n

g
 E

q
u

ip
m

e
n

t 
(M

te
c
)

2
4

,9
0

0
2

4
,9

0
0

C
o

ll
e

g
e

 V
a

lu
e

C
e

ll 
D

e
m

o
 S

y
s
te

m
 (

M
te

c
)

6
,9

7
6

6
,9

7
6

C
o

ll
e

g
e

 V
a

lu
e

B
io

D
ie

s
e

l 
P

ro
je

c
t 
(M

te
c
)

5
,3

9
7

5
,3

9
7

C
o

ll
e

g
e

 V
a

lu
e

S
o

la
r 

T
h

e
rm

a
l 
S

y
s
te

m
 (

M
te

c
)

5
8

,6
4

6
5

8
,6

4
6

C
o

ll
e

g
e

 V
a

lu
e

S
o

la
r 

P
V

 (
M

te
c
)

5
7

,2
7

4
5

7
,2

7
4

C
o

ll
e

g
e

 V
a

lu
e

W
in

d
 P

o
w

e
r 

G
e

n
e

ra
to

r 
(U

.C
.)

6
8

,5
6

8
6

8
,5

6
8

C
o

ll
e

g
e

 V
a

lu
e

O
u

td
o

o
r 

Eq
u

ip
m

en
t

5
,5

9
2

5
,5

9
2

C
o

ll
e

g
e

 V
a

lu
e

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
at

io
n

s 
Eq

u
ip

m
en

t
9

0
,0

0
0

9
0

,0
0

0
C

o
ll
e

g
e

 V
a

lu
e

Sa
fe

ty
/C

P
R

/F
ir

st
 A

id
 E

q
u

ip
m

en
t

2
4

,2
0

0
2

4
,2

0
0

C
o

ll
e

g
e

 V
a

lu
e

B
o

o
ks

 a
n

d
 M

u
lt

i-
m

ed
ia

 M
at

er
ia

l
1

8
,5

7
1

1
8

,5
7

1
C

o
ll
e

g
e

 V
a

lu
e

M
ac

h
in

er
y 

&
 T

o
o

ls
1

2
,8

5
2

1
2

,8
5

2
C

o
ll
e

g
e

 V
a

lu
e

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 T

o
ta

ls
:

37
2

,9
76

$ 
   

   
   

  
37

2,
97

6
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

 L
as

t 
Y

e
ar

 T
o

ta
ls

:

C
u

rr
e

n
t 

Y
e

ar
 T

o
ta

ls
:

SC
H

ED
U

LE
 O

F 
B

U
IL

D
IN

G
S 

&
 C

O
N

TE
N

TS
(P

e
ri

o
d

: 7
/1

/2
02

0 
th

ro
u

gh
 7

/1
/2

02
1)

N
o

rt
h

w
e

st
e

rn
 M

ic
h

ig
an

 C
o

lle
ge

248



249



250



251



252



253



254



255



256



257



258



259



260



261



262



263



264



265



266



267



268



269



270



271



272



273



274



275



276



277



278



279



280



281



282



283



284



285



286



287



288



289



290



291



292



293



294



295



296



297



298



299



 

Appendix L 

Map of Parking and Roads 

  

300



301



302



 

Appendix M  

Energy Audit Report 

  

303



304



305



306



307



308



309



310



311



312



313



314



315



316



317



318



319



320



321



322



323



324



325



326



327



328



329



330



331



332



333



334



335



336



337



338



339



340



 

Appendix N  

Land Inventory 

  

341



   
N

or
th

w
es

te
rn

 M
ic

hi
ga

n 
C

ol
le

ge
 

 
Pr

op
er

ty
 In

ve
nt

or
y 

an
d 

V
al

ue
s 

           
O

ct
ob

er
 1

, 2
02

1 
 

342



N
M

C
 P

ro
pe

rt
y 

In
ve

nt
or

y 
– 

L
is

t o
f P

ro
pe

rt
y 

V
al

ue
s 

 

 
N

o.
 

Pa
rc

el
 

Si
ze

 
L

oc
at

io
n/

C
am

pu
s 

R
es

tr
ic

tio
ns

/S
ta

tu
s 

V
al

ue
 / 

So
ld

 
 M

ai
n 

C
am

pu
s P

ro
pe

rt
y 

O
w

ne
d 

 - 
 T

ot
al

 V
al

ue
 B

ui
ld

in
g 

an
d 

L
an

d 
 

$ 
 9

0,
00

0,
00

0 

 
U

-5
 

Be
er

y 
Pr

op
er

ty
  

 3.
0 

A
cr

es
 

 M
ai

n 
C

ol
le

ge
 C

am
pu

s 
N

on
e 

/ A
ct

iv
e 

  

 
U

-4
 

C
ity

 o
f T

ra
ve

rs
e 

C
ity

  
 0.

2 
A

cr
es

 
 M

ai
n 

C
ol

le
ge

 C
am

pu
s 

N
on

e 
/ A

ct
iv

e 
  

 
U

-6
 

D
eB

ru
yn

 P
ro

pe
rty

 
 2.

8 
A

cr
es

 
 M

ai
n 

C
ol

le
ge

 C
am

pu
s 

N
on

e 
/ A

ct
iv

e 
 

 
U

-1
3 

Ea
st

er
n 

A
ve

. O
rc

ha
rd

 
54

.4
2 

A
cr

es
 

M
ai

n 
C

ol
le

ge
 C

am
pu

s 
N

on
e 

/ A
ct

iv
e 

 

 
U

-1
2a

 
Fr

an
ci

s H
ot

el
 

 3.
1 

A
cr

es
 

 M
ai

n 
C

ol
le

ge
 C

am
pu

s 
N

on
e 

/ A
ct

iv
e 

  

 
U

-1
5 

H
ul

et
 P

ro
pe

rty
  

 3.
5 

A
cr

es
 

 M
ai

n 
C

ol
le

ge
 C

am
pu

s 
N

on
e 

/ A
ct

iv
e 

  

 
U

-1
2b

 
In

di
an

 W
oo

ds
   

 C
ity

 L
ot

s 4
7,

 4
8,

 
62

-6
5,

 8
3,

 8
4 

 M
ai

n 
C

ol
le

ge
 C

am
pu

s 
N

on
e 

/ A
ct

iv
e 

  

 
U

-9
 

Ju
dg

e 
Pr

op
er

ty
  

 0.
7 

A
cr

es
 

 M
ai

n 
C

ol
le

ge
 C

am
pu

s 
N

on
e 

/ A
ct

iv
e 

  

 
U

-7
 

Le
ve

qu
e 

Pr
op

er
ty

  
 52

.9
 A

cr
es

 
 M

ai
n 

C
ol

le
ge

 C
am

pu
s 

N
on

e 
/ A

ct
iv

e 
  

 
U

-1
0 

Ph
ar

o 
Pr

op
er

ty
  

 0.
3 

A
cr

es
 

 M
ai

n 
C

ol
le

ge
 C

am
pu

s 
N

on
e 

/ A
ct

iv
e 

  

 
U

-2
 

Po
rte

r-M
ul

de
r  

 4.
9 

A
cr

es
 

 M
ai

n 
C

ol
le

ge
 C

am
pu

s 
N

on
e 

/ A
ct

iv
e 

  

 
U

-1
1 

R
om

an
 P

ro
pe

rty
  

 5.
9 

A
cr

es
 

 M
ai

n 
C

ol
le

ge
 C

am
pu

s 
N

on
e 

/ A
ct

iv
e 

  

 
U

-8
 

Sa
rri

s P
ro

pe
rty

  
 3.

0 
A

cr
es

 
 M

ai
n 

C
ol

le
ge

 C
am

pu
s 

N
on

e 
/ A

ct
iv

e 
  

 
U

-1
7 

Sh
ad

ow
la

nd
 P

ro
pe

rty
 

 0.
4 

A
cr

es
 

 M
ai

n 
C

ol
le

ge
 C

am
pu

s 
N

on
e 

/ A
ct

iv
e 

  

 
U

-1
 

Tr
av

er
se

 C
ity

 S
ch

oo
ls

  
 14

.6
 A

cr
es

 
 M

ai
n 

C
ol

le
ge

 C
am

pu
s 

Y
es

 / 
A

ct
iv

e 
  

 
U

-3
 

Tr
av

er
se

 C
ity

 S
ch

oo
ls

  
 1.

2 
A

cr
es

 
 M

ai
n 

C
ol

le
ge

 C
am

pu
s 

N
on

e 
/ A

ct
iv

e 
  

 
 

M
D

O
T 

Pa
rc

el
 a

t F
ro

nt
 S

t/ 
M

un
so

n 
A

ve
 In

te
rs

ec
tio

n 
13

5 
sq

. f
t. 

M
ai

n 
C

ol
le

ge
 C

am
pu

s 
N

on
e 

/ A
ct

iv
e 

 

343



 
N

o.
 

Pa
rc

el
 

Si
ze

 
L

oc
at

io
n/

C
am

pu
s 

R
es

tr
ic

tio
ns

/S
ta

tu
s 

V
al

ue
 / 

So
ld

 
 M

ai
n 

C
am

pu
s, 

E
as

te
rn

 A
ve

nu
e 

Pr
op

er
ty

 O
w

ne
d 

 - 
 T

ot
al

 V
al

ue
 B

ui
ld

in
gs

 a
nd

 L
an

d 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
   

$ 
 3

,4
70

,0
00

 

 
U

-1
4 

C
ity

 o
f T

ra
ve

rs
e 

C
ity

 
 56

.7
 A

cr
es

 
 M

ai
n 

C
ol

le
ge

 C
am

pu
s  

R
es

id
en

tia
l /

 In
ac

tiv
e 

 

 A
vi

at
io

n 
C

am
pu

s P
ro

pe
rt

y 
O

w
ne

d 
 - 

 T
ot

al
 V

al
ue

 B
ui

ld
in

gs
 a

nd
 L

an
d 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

 
$1

3,
27

5,
00

0 

 
U

-1
8 

A
irp

or
t I

nd
us

tri
al

 P
ar

k 
 

 C
ity

 L
ot

 1
3 

 A
vi

at
io

n 
C

am
pu

s 
 

In
du

st
ria

l /
 A

ct
iv

e 
 

 
U

-1
9 

Si
te

 o
f M

-T
EC

 
 C

ity
 L

ot
s 1

4,
15

 
 A

irp
or

t I
nd

us
tri

al
 P

ar
k 

 
In

du
st

ria
l /

 A
ct

iv
e 

 

 
U

-2
0 

FE
D

 E
X

  
 C

ity
 L

ot
 4

 
 A

irp
or

t I
nd

us
tri

al
 P

ar
k 

 
In

du
st

ria
l /

 A
ct

iv
e 

TT
L 

7.
04

 a
cr

es
 

 
 

A
er

o 
Pa

rk
 L

ab
or

at
or

ie
s  

  
 A

irp
or

t I
nd

us
tri

al
 P

ar
k 

 
In

du
st

ria
l /

 A
ct

iv
e 

   
   

   
   

   
  5

.1
6 

ac
re

s 

 U
ni

ve
rs

ity
 C

en
te

r 
C

am
pu

s P
ro

pe
rt

y 
O

w
ne

d 
 - 

 T
ot

al
 V

al
ue

 B
ui

ld
in

gs
 a

nd
 L

an
d 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
$ 

 6
,0

00
,0

00
 

 
 

Bo
ar

dm
an

 L
ak

e 
 31

.0
3 

A
cr

es
 

 U
ni

ve
rs

ity
 C

en
te

r C
am

pu
s 

 
In

du
st

ria
l /

 A
ct

iv
e 

 

 G
re

at
 L

ak
es

 C
am

pu
s P

ro
pe

rt
y 

O
w

ne
d 

 - 
 T

ot
al

 V
al

ue
 B

ui
ld

in
gs

 a
nd

 L
an

d 
 

 
   

$ 
 1

8,
25

0,
00

0 

 
U

-1
6 

M
ar

iti
m

e/
Te

ch
  

 8.
27

 A
cr

es
 

 G
re

at
 L

ak
es

 C
am

pu
s 

 
C

om
m

er
ci

al
 / 

A
ct

iv
e 

   

 O
bs

er
va

to
ry

 C
am

pu
s P

ro
pe

rt
y 

O
w

ne
d 

 - 
 T

ot
al

 V
al

ue
 B

ui
ld

in
gs

 a
nd

 L
an

d 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
$ 

 2
06

,0
00

 

 
A

-8
 

La
ut

ne
r-T

ez
ak

 G
ift

  
 5 

A
cr

es
 

 O
bs

er
va

to
ry

 
 

R
es

id
en

tia
l /

 A
ct

iv
e 

   
O

th
er

 C
ol

le
ge

 O
w

ne
d 

Pr
op

er
tie

s  
$ 

 1
57

,0
00

 

 
A

-5
 

A
pp

el
 G

ift
  

 38
 A

cr
es

 
 Bl

ai
r T

w
p,

 G
ra

nd
 T

ra
ve

rs
e 

C
o 

 
R

es
id

en
tia

l /
 A

ct
iv

e 
   

 
A

-4
 

V
al

le
au

 G
ift

  
 60

 A
cr

es
 

 M
ay

fie
ld

 T
w

p,
 G

ra
nd

 T
ra

ve
rs

e 
C

o 
 Ti

tle
 d

is
pu

te
 w

/S
ta

te
 o

f  
M

I 
   

 
A

-1
1 

Te
za

k 
G

ift
  

 81
.9

4 
A

cr
es

 
 In

la
nd

 T
w

p,
 B

en
zi

e 
C

o 
 C

an
no

t s
el

l u
nt

il 
ye

ar
 2

01
7 

   
 

344



 
 

Appendix O 

FCAP Schedule 

 

345



346



347



348



           
 

 
MEMO 
Systems & LAN Management 

 
 

To:  Dr. Nick Nissley, President 
From:  Todd Neibauer, Vice President for Student Services and Technologies 
Date:  October 25, 2021 
Subject: Copier/Printer replacement 

 
 

Board Authorization Requested 
Authorize the administration to enter into a contract with Applied Imaging for the replacement of 11 
copier/printer systems at a cost of $73,543. 
 
Background 
NMC operates a pool of over 60 copier/printer systems across all campuses.  We evaluate the systems 
annually to determine which are in need of replacement due to a higher level of service calls or the 
discontinuation of specific models and spare parts availability.  We did not make any significant changes 
or replacements with the systems during the last 2 years due to Covid 19.   
 
Cost Summary 
The cost of the systems needing replacement is within the annual budgeted amount in the Technology 
Plant Fund for FY22. 
 
Funding Source 
This purchase will be funded by the Technology Plant fund.  
 
 

349



 

 
 
 
 
To: Chris M. Bott, Chair 

Board of Trustees 
 

From: Nick Nissley, President 
 

Date: October 6, 2021 
 

Subject: Closed Session Request 

 
 
ME MO  
President’s Office 

 
 
 
Pursuant to the provisions of the Michigan Open Meetings Act (ACT 267, 15.268, Subsection 
8[a]), I am hereby requesting that the 2021 Board’s evaluation of my performance be 
conducted in closed session. 

350


	102521 Board Agenda
	E.1.53110 Northwestern Michigan College - 06210- AU260 - Final
	E.2.53110 Northwestern Michigan College - 0621 - AUD - Final
	E.3. 2021 Board Presentation
	{Northwestern Michigan College}
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Northwestern Michigan College�Expenditures (all funds)
	Northwestern Michigan College�Assets (All Funds)
	Northwestern Michigan College�Liabilities and Net Position (All Funds)
	{Thank you}

	F. Commitment Scholars
	F.2. Commitment Scholarship Program -- Board of Trustees notes (Oct. 2021)
	G. Faculty Report Form
	G.2. BOT Faculty Presentation (2)
	H. Enrollment Report
	Spring 2022
	Current Statistics
	Last Year Final Statistics

	I. Scholarship and Financial Aid Board Report 2021
	J. Financial Report
	03_Sep_2021_Comparison.pdf
	YTD Comparison
	MoM Comparison


	K. PRMC BOT Report 10-2021
	L. 100421 Board Audit Committee Minutes
	M. 101821 Board Building & Site Committee Minutes
	M.2. Signage Option_Selected
	O.1. Strategic planning update_October
	O.2. SP timeline update_October
	O.3. NMC Strategic Planning Process Flow Chart_July 2021
	P. Foundation Report
	Q. Legislative Update Memo
	S. January 2022 Board Retreat Memo
	T. 092721 Board Meeting Minutes
	Monday, September 27, 2021
	Timothy J. Nelson Innovation Center, Room 106/107

	V. FY23 Capital Outlay FINAL DRAFT ALL submission to BOT
	W. Copier-Printer replacement - 2021
	X. Pres Request for Closed Session 100621



